SPRINGER BRIEFS IN ANTHROPOLOGY ANTHROPOLOGY AND ETHICS

Treena Orchard

Remembering the Body Ethical Issues in Body Mapping Research



SpringerBriefs in Anthropology

Anthropology and Ethics

Series editor

Richard J. Chacon, Rock Hill, USA

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11497

Treena Orchard

Remembering the Body

Ethical Issues in Body Mapping Research



Treena Orchard School of Health Studies Western University London, ON Canada

 ISSN 2195-0806
 ISSN 2195-0814 (electronic)

 SpringerBriefs in Anthropology
 ISSN 2195-0822
 ISSN 2195-0830 (electronic)

 SpringerBriefs in Anthropology and Ethics
 ISBN 978-3-319-49860-7
 ISBN 978-3-319-49861-4 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49861-4
 ISBN 978-3-319-49861-4
 ISBN 978-3-319-49861-4

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016958712

© The Author(s) 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland This book is dedicated to the women and men whose lives and artful creations are featured in these pages.

We'd talk Or sit silently And listen to our thoughts Illusions of someday Casting a golden light No dress rehearsal This is our life.

The Tragically Hip- Ahead by a Century (1992).

Acknowledgements

Writing this book has been a labour of love and trepidation, which in the original Latin context refers to both fear and 'trembling movement.' Throughout the process I have been concerned about capturing lives of the women and men, whose experiences and artful expressions constitute the data upon which this book is based, fully and with sufficient 'truth' or clarity. These feelings run through most creative endeavours and in this instance they kept me thinking, albeit somewhat 'trembly' at times, and actively remembering the powerful things they shared with myself and the other team members during the research. I am deeply grateful to the six women in Vancouver, British Columbia, and five men in London, Ontario, who engaged in this intense experience with courage, dedication, good humour, and astonishing strength. Their body maps are moving testaments to the systemic and everyday challenges they have encountered, and often continue to face, and they also capture the beauty, love, and hope that colour their lives.

I also want to thank the other members of the research team for their hard work and collaboration, beginning with Robert Hogg, who helped facilitate and guide the study and offered a great deal of support along the way. Kate Salters, your research expertise and assistance as well as your steadfast encouragement and willingness to contribute throughout the process have been essential—thank you! I am grateful to Alexis Palmer for her help with operationalizing the study and for making the critical connections with Tricia Smith, who facilitated the body mapping workshops and undertook many other important tasks. Warren Michelow, without your superior grantsmanship this study may not have received funding and I am very grateful for the time and energy you put into the study, attendant publications, and for keeping in touch. I want to also thank Kathy Lepik, who provided unique insights and consistent support throughout the project and was lovely to work with.

Special thanks also to Deborah Thompson, master transcriptionist and staunch supporter of this project, and the two photographers who gave their time freely to capture the women and men's body maps: Cate Cameron and Don Taylor. Big thank yous to Brian Lester, Richard MacDonagh, and Edwin Scherer at the Regional HIV/AIDS Connection in London, who were key partners in the study and helped organize the men's body mapping workshop. The administration of research projects is complicated and these many tasks were made manageable by the calm and ever-supportive contributions of Svetlana Draskovic in Vancouver and Emericks Rivas in London. The staff at the Potluck Cafe, the Women's-Only Pharmacy, and the Oaktree Clinic in Vancouver also deserve mention, for hosting the art show with the women and for providing permanent homes for the reproductions of their body maps. Without research funding, this project would not have seen the light of day and I am both grateful for and encouraged by the support we received from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Thank you also to the staff at Springer Press for seeing the relevance of this work and special thanks to Dr. Susan Dewey for her special support throughout the writing process.

The encouragement of family, friends, and colleagues was instrumental in the crafting of this book and even though many of them do not know exactly what body mapping is, their observation that I "light up" whenever talking about this work was a powerful reminder of its importance. Special thanks to Matthew Strang for telling me about the AIDS Art project, as we strolled through the Warhol Museum in Pittsburgh. The helpful insights of Roddy Williams, Director of Operations of the NAMES Project | AIDS Memorial Quilt, are also gratefully acknowledged. Gail Atkinson-Ireland deserves special mention as a mentor and guide, helping me make my way through this thorny and revelatory universe. To Tricia Smith, you have been by my side throughout this journey and taught me so very much. These things are difficult to express in words, but they are at the heart of what makes body mapping so special and so you are there too, at the heart of it. Your kindness, patience, and deep commitment to body mapping and honouring the lives of the people we worked with are exemplary. I have carried these lessons close to me throughout the writing of this book, through its various movements and trembles, and I thank you for being present in every page. Lastly, I thank the little souls who are always there for me rain and shine, in my good moods and moments of anxiety, through it all-my dear cats Shiva, Mr. Marbles, and little Rama-who had to leave us too soon.

Contents

IntroductionArtful Research and Ways of Being: Opening the SpaceBody MappingEthical Issues in Arts-Based ResearchChapter Overview and FormatReferences	1 1 3 5 7 9
Project Overview and Insights About Body Mapping	23
The Anatomy of Adherence Project	23
Adherence, Gender, and the Body: An Overview	
of the Literature	24
	25
	28
	29
	30
	31
	31
	33
	35
	36
References	38
The Forest and the Trees: Pushing the Analytical Envelope	41
Analytical Issues in Arts-Based Research	41
Ethnographic Insights: The "Axial Embodiment"	
Approach and Key Findings	44
The Enumerated Findings: A Gendered Analysis	48
Content Analysis	49
	Artful Research and Ways of Being: Opening the Space Body Mapping Ethical Issues in Arts-Based Research. Chapter Overview and Format References. Project Overview and Insights About Body Mapping The Anatomy of Adherence Project Adherence, Gender, and the Body: An Overview of the Literature Methodology. Analysis Knowledge Translation Locating Our Participants Participants' Perspectives on Body Mapping. Women Men Locating Myself Discussion References. The Forest and the Trees: Pushing the Analytical Envelope Analytical Issues in Arts-Based Research Ethnographic Insights: The "Axial Embodiment" Approach and Key Findings The Enumerated Findings: A Gendered Analysis

	On Map	50
	On Body	51
	On Support Figure	51
	Interpretive Insights of the Participants	51
	Women	51
	Men	53
	Key Study Themes: HIV and HIV Medications	54
	HIV/AIDS	54
	HIV Medications.	56
	Women	56
	Men	58
	Discussion	59
	References.	61
4	To Change and Be Changed: Transformative Research	
	Experiences	65
	Exploring the Embodied, Political, and Aesthetic Dimensions	
	of Transformative Research.	65
	Ethnographic Insights: Transformation Through the Eyes of Our	
	Participants	68
	Therapeutic	68
	Self-transformative	70
	Socially Transformative.	73
	Transforming Therapeutic Relationships and the Politics	
	of HIV/AIDS Research	74
	Transformation Through the Eyes of the Researcher	76
	Discussion	79
	References	81
5	Between a Method and a Hard Place: Cultural Appropriation	
•	and Body Mapping	85
	Cultural Appropriation in Body Mapping Research.	85
	Ethnographic Insights: Staying Close to the Source	88
	Culture	89
	Sexuality	91
	Addictions.	91
	Trauma	93
	'Real' Time and Space: Insights to Consider When Doing Body	10
	Mapping Work	94
	Preparatory Considerations	94
	In Situ Considerations	95
	Compassionate, Patient Facilitators Who Work Well Together	- 95 - 96
	Compassionale, I allent l'actitators who work wen Togetiter	90

Recognizing How Much It Takes for Participants to Show	
up and to Finish	96
Follow the Therapeutic Format	97
Innovative Approaches to Knowledge Translation	99
Discussion	100
References.	102
Index	105

About the Author

Treena Orchard is Associate Professor in the School of Health Studies and Affiliate in Women's Studies and Feminist Research at Western University in London, Ontario, Canada. An anthropologist with cultural and medical expertise, she has conducted ethnographic research with women in sex work, people with HIV/AIDS, Indigenous populations, and those of sexual minority status across Canada and in India. Her areas of special research interest include sexuality and sex work, gender, marginalization, and the politics of health and her work has been published in academic journals such as Social Science & Medicine, Culture, Health & Sexuality, Critical Public Health, and Anthropologica. She has delivered over 75 conference papers, is regularly consulted by international journals and funding bodies for her expertise as a peer reviewer. She is also involved in local and national activism related to the rights of women and other marginalized populations and had her first poem published in 2014 in a collection by the Poetry Institute of Canada, From the Cerulean Sea (National Library of Canada, Ottawa). Treena lives in London, Ontario with her two cats Shiva and Mr. Marbles, who provide much love and grounded support in the navigation of the everyday.

List of Maps

Abby's map	12
Tarah's map	13
Georgia's map	14
Sue's map	15
Rayna's map	16
Isabel's map	17
Ted's map	18
Andrew's map	19
Evan's map	20
Luke's map	21
Nolan's map	22
	Georgia's map Sue's map Rayna's map Isabel's map Ted's map Andrew's map Evan's map Luke's map

List of Tables

Table 2.1	Total data collected	26
Table 3.1	Numerical distribution of textual and symbolic images	
	on the body maps	46
Table 3.2	Content analysis of primary textual and symbolic	
	items on maps	49
Table 3.3	Overview of primary body mapping data	
	and communication patterns	50

Abstract

This book explores body mapping, an arts-based methodology that originated in the Global South as a means of community mobilization and advocacy regarding women's reproductive health and HIV-related care needs. Increasingly popular with qualitative researchers, health practitioners, and community agencies, the unique challenges and benefits of employing body mapping in diverse research and cultural settings have not yet been examined. Using data from an ethnographic study with HIV-positive women and men who struggle with addictions, HIV stigma, and historical traumas stemming from colonialism in two Canadian cities, the author analyzes three key issues that shaped the body mapping research experience for the participants and herself as a researcher. Chapter 1 discusses the emergence of the approach and its operationalization in different research settings. Chapter 2 provides an overview of the research project upon which this book is based and participants' perspectives on body mapping. Chapter 3 focuses uses on the problems associated with the lack of a systematic framework to analyze body mapping data. Chapter 4 explores the powerful effects of this research approach on study participants and herself as a researcher and seeks to make theoretical sense of this transformative experience. Chapter 5 examines the cultural appropriation of body mapping by different researchers and community practitioners and its implications for participants' well-being and the integrity of the methodology. The author offers unique and useful insights to address these important ethical issues, with an eye to further refining the approach, ensuring the safety of those taking part, and contributing to research that is culturally respectful.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Nothing is materially hidden and the creative process is fully available, yet the whole is not perceived at any one time. These paintings rely on a process of looking and remembering. Tiffany Bell (2015: 27)

Artful Research and Ways of Being: Opening the Space

The growing interest in arts-based methodologies in research, therapeutic practice, and community settings signals a shift in how we approach the elicitation of human experience, knowledge generation, and use the arts to infuse these facets of life with uniquely powerful meaning and purpose. Arts-based methods include poetry, narratives, music, dramatic performance, dance, and a range of visual arts (i.e., photography, film, drawing, painting) that are employed in various academic and applied fields, including health, psychology, anthropology, education, talk and cognitive therapy, as well as community mobilization and activism (Boydell et al. 2012; Fraser and al Sayah 2011; Futch and Fine 2014; Guillemin 2004; Ingold 2011; Knowles and Cole 2008; Kontos and Poland 2009; Leavy 2009; Pink 2001). The rising popularity of these approaches coincides with increased scholarly interest in the interiority of human experience and subjectivity (Hogan and Pink 2010), embodied forms of expression, sensory research (Pink 2009; Rice 2013), and our increasingly 'visual' global culture (Rose 2014; Spencer 2011). With a focus on small-scale, intimate interactions that open up new creative spaces within which to understand the experience of being in the world, arts-based methods can be used to challenge the boundaries imposed by traditional research paradigms, especially quantitative projects that depend on large samples and multiperson/site teams. They can also disrupt the unequal power relations that structure many research studies given the focus on participant-generated data, versus researcher-driven methods; thus producing research experiences that can be emancipatory and more closely represent participants' lives.

As the field of arts-based research takes shape certain approaches have risen to prominence, especially those involving art practices that are well-defined methodologically and more easily accessible to participants (i.e., telling a story or painting a picture). Photography, in particular the method of Photovoice,¹ is the most commonly used arts-based approach and studies employing this technique dominate the research literature (Guillemin and Drew 2010; Hartman et al. 2011; Wang and Redwood-Jones 2001). An exciting approach with potentially empowering outcomes, the insights gleaned from Photovoice projects are somewhat unique to this methodology and may not be applicable to researchers or others interested in using different arts-based methods. This is particularly true in projects that involve the body, as the primary and most complex medium through which we express human experience, and mapping, a multivalent technique that helps to situate, guide, and visually plot our journeys past and present.

This book is about body mapping, a unique approach that combines visual arts and therapeutic practice to guide participants in the artful communication about their embodied life experiences in ways that are safe and supportive. I used this methodology in an ethnographic study that explored how women and men living with HIV navigate their struggles with addictions, health, sexuality, gender-based violence, and historical trauma in aftermath of colonialism. This was my first time using an arts-based approach and I encountered numerous challenges as I sought to probe the depth, range, and kinds of data featured on the maps (i.e., textual, symbolic, temporal), which receive somewhat limited attention in the thematic analyses that dominate the literature. I also grappled with how to make theoretical and methodological sense of the research experience itself, which was deeply transformative for participants and myself. Questions about cultural appropriation also surfaced as I wondered about the implications of using body mapping, which was developed in the context of HIV with women from the Global South, in Canada with women and men whose lives and gendered identities differed substantially from the original participants.

I did not find answers to these questions in the body mapping or attendant arts-based literature and this book is a meditation on analysis, research experience, and cultural appropriation. These issues highlight important ethical tensions related to body mapping, which may be useful to other researchers or community groups who are interested in refining or tailoring their own artful praxis. Before turning to additional details about body mapping, ethical issues within arts-based literature, and an overview of the book I want to touch upon the act of remembering. The first part of this book is entitled 'Remembering' and the opening quote of the book mentions remembering. The process of recalling, remaining aware of, and thinking again about certain events, people, and things was central to the creative process the study participants engaged in, and it was integral to the conceptual steps I put

¹An action-oriented processes intended to be directed by participants, who take pictures of various aspects of their lives with the purpose of critically reflecting on them and working towards making positive change (Wang and Burris 1997).

myself through when trying to fully understand this research experience. Remembering can also be political, as a way to commemorate and render real that which has been silenced or oppressed, important considerations given that this book is as much about research and art as it is about HIV/AIDS—perhaps the most painful signifier of inequality of our times.

Body Mapping

Body mapping was first developed by anthropologist MacCormack (1985) in a study about fertility and the body in rural Jamaica, and it was employed to learn how women understand their reproductive systems and internal biologies. These insights shed new light on indigenous systems of embodiment and health, which had been ignored in the rural context western due to the dominance of biomedical knowledge and health practices (MacCormack and Draper 1987). Another early example is from Cornwall (1992), who used body mapping to generate conversations about sexuality, reproductive health, and anatomy with women in southern Zimbabwe, who found the exercise a safe and cathartic way to share their knowledge and raise questions about these sensitive topics. Recognizing the unique attributes of body mapping, as a way to bridge the gaps between biomedical systems, popular knowledge, and lived experience (Cornwall 2002) and provide safe, potentially empowering opportunities for people to share their embodied knowledge, many researchers, advocacy groups, and clinical practitioners have since adopted the method. Although the focus of these projects vary tremendously, they most often involve issues related to the body, health, trauma, and occupational safety among marginalized groups-primarily women (see Jager et al. 2016 for a comprehensive review).

In the context of HIV/AIDS, body mapping first emerged in Uganda in the early 1990s. At this time many women, in particular, were becoming infected with HIV and in the absence of antiretroviral medications and social supports for women and their families, the National Association of Women Living with HIV and AIDS developed an arts-based approach to respond to their needs. Envisioned as a way for women to share personal histories, memories and discuss the issues of death and succession planning with their children, they began with an outline of their bodies that served as the starting point for the women's storytelling. This arts-based approach served a vital role in the transmission of cultural and familial knowledge between women and their children, who might never otherwise learn these important things given that so many parents were taken by the virus (Ward 2006).

In 2002 South African artist Jane Solomon and psychologist Jonathan Morgan adapted the Ugandan approach and sought to use body mapping to generate stories that focused less on memorializing and more on renewed health and hope for the future. This shift was in response to changes in the HIV treatment landscape in South Africa, specifically the distribution of free antiretrovirals by Médecins San Frontiers to a select number of health clinics in the country (Coetzee et al. 2004).

Driven to celebrate this milestone and draw attention to the fact that many South Africans were still without access to these life-saving medications, Solomon and Morgan's approach combined healing activities with a political message that reflected local health inequities (MacGregor 2009). Their first body mapping initiative, the 'Long Life' Project, was conducted with 13 women from the Khayelitsha Township in Cape Town and generated significant interest from local and international researchers as well as community groups (Morgan and The Bambanani Women's Group 2003).

In response to the interest generated by their body mapping work Solomon developed a facilitator's guide called 'Living with X' (a subversion of the term 'People Living with HIV/AIDS'), which was made available online in 2007. The guide provides instruction and guidance to those leading the body mapping workshops, whose aim is to ensure that participants feel safe as they explore their lives through drawing/painting life-size pictures of themselves, talking in groups, and engaging in quiet thinking and reflection. This text is the most comprehensive resource available to guide facilitators and participants through the body mapping process and it has been used in studies focusing on HIV/AIDS (Betancourt 2015; Brett-MacLean 2009; Devine 2008; De Lange et al. 2006; Flicker et al. 2007; MacGregor 2009; MacGregor and Mills 2011; Maina et al. 2014; Nostlinger et al. 2015; Smith 2015; Smith and Miller 2015) and a range of other health issues (See Jager et al. 2016). However, 'Living with X' has since been removed from these websites because of its inappropriate use and adaptation by different agencies/researchers, many of whom did not take the time to follow the therapeutic aspect of the process and inadvertently (re)traumatized their participants (Smith, 2016). I discuss this in detail in Chap. 5, which explores the cultural appropriation of body mapping and ways to resist these troubling practices.

But what does body mapping 'looks like'? The following is an overview of what transpires in body mapping workshop using the Solomon and Morgan model. The workshops take place over four consecutive days and participants use artistic materials (i.e., acrylic paints of various colours and shades, markers, crayons, pastels, glitter) to respond to questions introduced by the facilitator. Their responses are placed on a large piece of paper measuring six feet by four feet, which is their body map. Using the 'Living with X' guideline, a trained facilitator walks participants through four or five different exercises per day, and each day begins and concludes with a check-in/out so that they can share their feelings and reflections about the workshop as it progresses. Importantly, the facilitator does not tell participants how to create symbolic images or where to put them on their maps,² but helps them prepare their thoughts and plan their creative expression. This

²This includes a pre-mapping discussion of colour and how it can be used to convey particular events or experiences, which are recorded on a large piece of paper and hung in the mapping space during the workshop. The facilitator also shares insights about the use of symbols to capture complex experiences and provides some examples, which are also hung in the mapping space for the duration of the workshop.

supportive and mindful aspect of the approach is critical given the difficult, often traumatic experiences related to HIV and other issues that often arise.

The mapping begins with participants tracing their body outline on the six feet by four feet sheets of paper and then the outline of another participant is added, which represents a 'support figure'—about which specific questions are asked during the workshop. These two figures, along with the background space, constitute the three distinctive layers within the maps. The next series of items marked on the map 'emplace' their lives within the body outline, and they include: family/place origins, memories of childhood (good and bad), life goals and ambitions, and life journeys from past to present. Participants are then asked to mark where they generate power and strength from and to reflect on emotional difficulties they have encountered, physical scars or marks on the body, and the impact of life's stresses on their internal bodies and organs.

Specific questions regarding HIV are then asked, including what it was like to receive their HIV diagnosis, how it affected them and their loved ones, their experiences with HIV medications, how they take care of themselves, and a symbol that represents HIV. In the final stage the facilitator and attendant helpers arrange the maps within the workshop space as though it was an art gallery, and participants sit in front of their maps and receive supportive insights and comments from the others in attendance about their maps and often themselves. These comments are recorded on pieces of paper, which are then given to participants as a keepsake. During the follow-up interviews held two or three weeks after the workshops, participants create a one-page story that captures their body mapping experience and what they hope viewers 'see' in their maps.

Ethical Issues in Arts-Based Research

The ethical issues encountered in arts-based research are shaped by the contexts in which the projects are based (i.e., health, social work, therapeutic, community) and the kinds of art produced, and most discussions are based on projects that use photography, drawings, narratives or writing, the performative arts (i.e., plays, dance), and to a lesser degree body mapping (Fraser and al Sayah 2011). A predominant theme explored is the challenge that arts-based researchers face when trying to get their projects approved by high-ranking funders and ethics review boards, which are typically dominated by quantitative researchers and 'hard science' approaches to knowledge production, dissemination, and evaluation (Boydell et al. 2012; Clark et al. 2010; Leavy 2009; Wiles et al. 2008). Often faced with questions like 'Yes, but is this research?' (Barone and Eisner 2011: 45) or recommendations to embed the 'artistic part' of the study within more substantiated theoretical or methodological paradigms (Smith 2013), many researchers write about the ethical and emotional struggles they experience when trying to make their research 'fit' institutional parameters without sacrificing their artistic and intellectual integrity. Others have approached these issues by creating guidelines, for researchers and ethic review board members, to assist the former in manoeuvering through the review process more successfully and the latter in having a more concrete understanding of what arts-based research is and the kinds of research it generates (Cox et al. 2014).

A second theme explored pertains to the conditions in which arts-based work is produced. Unlike other qualitative methodologies, like individual interviews performed on a single occasion, many aspects of arts-based research are done collectively and involve different stages of production. In Photovoice, for instance, participants are trained in the basics of photography, camera operation, the interpretation of their images, and how to prepare them for public showings or to be used in presentations (Sutton-Brown 2014; Wang and Burris 1997). While it can be empowering and generate data that closely represents participants' lived realities, this degree of engagement can also be stressful because it adds 'work' to their already full lives (Guillemin and Drew 2010; Packard 2008). Some participants feel added pressure to measure up to the art created by other participants and may be shy or unable to discuss their lives and their work in a group setting. These issues thread through the research process, which means researchers need to check-in with participants in an ongoing way to gauge where they are at and to determine what can be adjusted to help them feel more at ease (Laliberte Rudman et al. 2016).

Ethical considerations regarding consent, confidentiality, anonymity, and ownership of the research process are also raised in arts-based studies, and while there are variations depending upon the kind of art work and populations³ involved the basic principles of autonomy, beneficence, and non-maleficence are integral (Boydell et al. 2012; Jager et al. 2016; Leavy 2009). Operationalizing these principles according to official ethical guidelines, which typically focus on individual activities or relationships between individual participants and researchers (Clark et al. 2010), can be challenging in arts-based research because of its hybrid nature. It is a process and set of activities that involve individual creativity and group work. whereby participants develop their own creations alongside each other, provide feedback on each other's work, and contribute to the project collaboratively. Ensuring anonymity, for instance, can be difficult because while participants can ensure their art does not contain identifying information, their identity is known by others taking part who may share this information accidentally or otherwise. This does not cancel out the need for anonymity, it just means that the conversations about it and attendant issues like confidentiality need to be different. Many in the field advocate for an approach to ethics that is situated within the mutable

³Referring to particular copyright and privacy laws regarding photos of people (Wiles et al. 2008), illegal activities, and especially vulnerable groups like undocumented workers (Gastaldo et al. 2012). Although rarely mentioned in the literature, literacy and the symbolism associated with official paperwork deserve ethical reflection as well given the reliance on written forms in virtually all ethical review processes—which may exclude populations who are not literature and who may associate official documents with government surveillance.

framework of arts-based research and conceived of as a set of reciprocal relations of care and support, which need to be revisited regularly with participants versus the fixed, one-size-fits-all parameters often mandated by institutional ethics review boards (Clark et al. 2010; Guillemin and Gillam 2004; Liamputtong and Rumbold 2008).

The creation of photographs, drawings, stories, and body maps that reflect people's lives and embodied identities is an intensive process that can cause participants considerable emotional strain (Boydell et al. 2012; Guillemin and Drew 2010: Jager et al. 2016: Packard 2008: Sinding et al. 2008). This is true in many kinds of research, however, it takes on special significance in arts-based research because these studies are typically conducted with marginalized populations (i.e., youth and children, those suffering with addictions, mental health, eating disorders, and other health issues). Researchers have a responsibility to know as much as possible about the lives of the people they work with and what kinds of issues can be triggering, and how to respond to these situations safely,⁴ a fine line best traversed in dialogue with participants and other support staff or assistants. These responsibilities extend to the analysis and dissemination phases of a project, when researchers need to engage in discussions with participants about the potential for their work to be interpreted differently than their initial vision and how to be emotionally prepared to deal with having the work displayed publicly (Cox et al. 2014; Guillemin and Drew 2010). Finding a way to prepare audience members about the content of the work, which typically reflects 'hard life stuff' (Sinding et al. 2008: 462), has also been suggested to reduce the potential for the public or others viewing the art to be triggered or caught off-guard by the content (Chilton 2013).

Chapter Overview and Format

Although arts-based approaches are used in an array of research and community settings, the ethical challenges encountered by the researchers, artists or participants, and trainees engaged with body mapping have received very little attention (Hodgins and Boydell 2014: 4). This is important because arts-based research varies tremendously, as do the kinds of ethical issues and research experiences they engender. Taking photographs or constructing a written narrative are not only different from each other, they are quite distinct from a 4-day body mapping workshop that involves the unearthing of difficult, albeit deeply meaningful, embodied experiences and life events. Moving through the project upon which this

⁴Above and beyond dispensing a brochure with locally available psychological services or crisis hotline phone numbers, which Smith (2012: 17) refers to as 'pamphlet knowledge'.

book is based I found myself questioning certain aspects of the body mapping methodological design. I wondered about using this approach with participants whose sexual identities and cultural backgrounds differ substantially from the women among whom the methodology was first designed. Should I ask different or new questions for men? How or should the issues of colonialism and historical trauma be approached among the Indigenous participants? Additional questions emerged during the analysis of the maps, which contain richly layered, complex symbolic and textual meanings that seemed to be largely untapped in the descriptive thematic analyses in other body mapping studies. Is there a way to more fully account for the depth and breadth of these data? The research experience itself proved to be transformative and life-changing for participants, and myself as a researcher, and I wondered how to unpack and account for this without making 'too much' of it or appearing self-aggrandizing.

Exploring these questions and thinking through the different ethical tensions they raise is the focus of this book, which contributes new theoretical and methodological insights with which to further refine body mapping as a distinctive arts-based approach in its own right. Chapter 2 begins with an overview of the research project upon which this book is based, which was a qualitative exploration of how gender and the body shape the medication practices of HIV-positive women and men who struggle with drug addictions, homophobia, racism, and other forms of social exclusion. Following a discussion of the study context, methodologies, and theoretical orientation, an overview of the study participants and their insights about doing body mapping are presented. Chapter 3 explores the analysis of body mapping data and the 'axial embodiment' approach I developed to infuse the interpretation of these data with more depth and analytical rigour.

Chapter 4 examines the transformative nature of the body mapping research process, which the participants identified as therapeutic and as generating meaningful, positive change into their lives. I also discuss how my life was changed by this project, through reference to my fieldnotes that document particularly memorable study moments. Chapter 5 focuses on cultural appropriation, namely how researchers and community agencies selectively borrow certain aspects of the methodology and rarely acknowledge the cultural context within which body mapping emerged. I also explore the topics of culture, sexuality, addictions, and trauma, which are seminal issues in the lives of our participants that impacted their body mapping work and overall research experience. These issues have not yet been addressed in the body mapping literature and I include them not because they need to be worked into the methodology, per se, but because they are important for researchers/practitioners to be mindful of in their efforts to engage in culturally sensitive and responsive work with similarly complex populations. The chapter concludes with a discussion of six particularly important lessons learned during the project, from the planning stage through to dissemination, 'real-life' insights that will be useful to others wishing to incorporate body mapping into their research, clinical, or community-based projects.

This book follows the customary academic format of incorporating research literature and theory with primary data collected in the field, and it includes

suggestions for others who may be interested in doing body mapping. It also features reflexive insights about myself as a researcher and woman, primarily in Chaps. 1 and 3. There is much written about reflexivity in qualitative research, which is used as a measure of study validity and for some it seems to be opportunity to explore how the research changed them (Berger 2013; Bott 2010; Clayton 2013; Lovell 2007). Issues of quality control and self-analysis are of less interest to me than the larger political goal of pushing myself to develop and do research that is ethical, equitable, contributes new knowledge, and can enhance people's lives (Freire 2000). This is a task I was involved in alongside the men and women in this study, as a flesh and blood researcher with my own failings and particular cultural lenses through which I see the world. Instead of writing myself out of this text I adopt what Pillow (2003: 188) calls 'reflexivities of discomfort', which involve wrestling with the unfamiliar, different, and sometimes unknowable in true critical fashion.

See Maps 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.6, 1.7, 1.8, 1.9, 1.10 and 1.11.

References

- Barone, T., and E. Eisner. 2011. Arts Based Research. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE.
- Bell, T. 2015. Happiness is the Goal. In *Agnes Martin*, ed. F. Morris, and T. Bell, 18–53. London, UK: Tate Publishing.
- Berger, R. 2013. Now I See it, now I Don't: Researcher's Position and Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Research* 15(2): 219–234.
- Betancourt, G. 2015. The Use of New Qualitative Methodologies for the Appraisal of Sexual Desires, Pleasures and Passions in the Evaluation of HIV Prevention Interventions: Hand Stories. Paper presented at the 33rd Annual Qualitative Analysis Conference, May 11–13. St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada.
- Bott, E. 2010. Favourites and Others: Reflexivity and the Shaping of Subjectivities and Data in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Research* 10(2): 159–173.
- Boydell, K., Gladstone, B., Volpe, T., Allemang, B., and Stasiulis, E. 2012. The Production and Dissemination of Knowledge: A Scoping Review of Arts-Based Health Research. FORUM: Qualitative Research 13(1): Art. 32.
- Brett-MacLean, P. 2009. Body Mapping: Embodying the Self Living with HIV/AIDS. Canadian Medical Association Journal 180(7): 721–740.
- Chilton, G. 2013. Altered Inquiry: Discovering Arts-Based Research through an Altered Book. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 12: 457–477.
- Clark, A., J. Prosser, and R. Wiles. 2010. Ethical issues in image-based research. Arts & Health 2 (1): 81–93.
- Clayton, K. 2013. Looking beneath the surface: A critical reflection on ethical issues and reflexivity in a practitioner inquiry. *Reflective Practice* 14(4): 506–518.
- Coetzee, D., K. Hildebrand, A. Boulle, G. Maartens, F. Louis, V. Labatala, H. Reuter, N. Ntwana, and E. Goemaere. 2004. Outcomes after two years of providing antiretroviral treatment in Khayelitsha, South Africa. *AIDS* 18(6): 887–895.
- Cornwall, A. 2002. Body Mapping: Bridging the Gap between Biomedical Messages, Popular Knowledge and Lived Experience. In *Realizing Rights: Transforming Approaches to Sexual & Reproductive Health*, ed. A. Cornwall, and A. Welbourn, 219–231. London: Zed Books.
- Cornwall, A. 1992. Body Mapping in RPA/PRA. RPA Notes 16: 69-76.
- Cox, S., S. Drew, M. Guillemin, C. Howell, D. Warr, and J. Waycott. 2014. Guidelines for Ethical Visual Research Methods. Melbourne: The University of Melbourne.

- De Lange, N., C. Mitchell, L. Molestane, J. Stuart, and T. Buthelezi. 2006. Seeing with the body: Educators' representations of HIV and AIDS. *Journal of Education* 38: 44–66.
- Devine, C. 2008. The Moon, The Stars and a Scar: Body Mapping Stories of Women Living with HIV/AIDS. *Border Crossings* (CATIE). www.catie.ca/pdf/bodymaps/BC_105_BodyMapping. pdf.
- Flicker, S., E. Mykhalovskiy, M. Mehes, C. Teolis, D. Taylor, and T. Smith. 2007. The Men's Body Mapping Research Project. https://sites.google.com/site/bodymaps/home.
- Fraser, K., and F. al Sayah. 2011. Arts-based methods in health research: A systematic review of the literature. *Arts & Health* 3(2): 110–145.
- Freire, P. 2000. *Pedagogy of the Oppressed* (20th Anniversary Edition). New York: Continuum Publishing Company.
- Futch, V., and M. Fine. 2014. Mapping as a Method: History and Theoretical Commitments. *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 11: 42–59.
- Gastaldo, D., C. Carrasco, and L. Magalhaes. 2012. Entangled in a Web of Exploitation and Solidarity. Retrieved from http://www.migrationealth.ca/undocumented-workers-ontario/ summary-findings.
- Guillemin, M. 2004. Understanding Illness: Using Drawings as a Research Method. *Qualitative Health Research* 14(2): 272–289.
- Guillemin, M., and S. Drew. 2010. Questions of process in participant-generated visual methodologies. *Visual Studies* 25(2): 175–188.
- Guillemin, M., and L. Gillam. 2004. Ethics, Reflexivity, and "Ethically Important Moments" in Research. *Qualitative Inquiry* 10(2): 261–280.
- Hartman, L., A. Mandich, L. Magalhaes, and T. Orchard. 2011. How Do We 'See' Occupations?: An Examination of Visual Research Methodologies in the Study of Human Occupation. *Journal of Occupational Science* 18(4): 292–305.
- Hodgins, M., and K. Boydell. 2014. Interrogating Ourselves: Reflections on Arts-Based Health Research. FORUM: Qualitative Research 15(1): Art. 10 (January).
- Hogan, S. and Pink, S. 2010. Routes to interiorities: Art Therapy and Knowing in Anthropology, Visual Anthropology, 23: 158–174.
- Ingold, T. (ed.). 2011. *Redrawing Anthropology: Materials, Movements, Lines, Surrey*. UK: Ashgate Publishing Ltd.
- Jager, A., A. Tewson, B. Ludlow, and K. Boydell. 2016. Embodied Ways of Storying the Self: A Systematic Review of Body-Mapping, FORUM: Qualitative Social Research, 17(2), Art. 22.
- Knowles, J., and A. Cole (eds.). 2008. *Handbook of the Arts in Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Kontos, P., and B. Poland. 2009. Mapping new theoretical and methodological terrain for knowledge translation: contributions from critical realism and the arts. *Implementation Science* 4(1) doi:10.1186/1748-5908-4-1.
- Laliberte Rudman, D., C. Richmond, T. Orchard, and A. Isaac (2016). Educational vision quests of Canadian First Nations youth: A photovoice exploration. In 'And a Seed was Planted': Occupation-Based Approaches for Social Inclusion, ed. H. van Bruggen, N. Pollard and S. Kantartzis. London, UK: Whiting and Birch (in press).
- Leavy, P. 2009. Method Meets Art: Arts-Based Research Practice. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Liamputtong, P., and J. Rumbold. 2008. Knowing Differently: Setting the Scene. In Knowing Differently: Arts-Based and Collaborative Research Methods, ed. L. Liamputtong, and J. Rumbold, 1–23. New York: Nova Science Publishers Inc.
- Lovell, A. 2007. When Things Get Personal: Secrecy, Intimacy, and the Production of Experience in Fieldwork. In *The Shadow Side of Fieldwork: Exploring the Blurred Borders between Ethnography and Life*, ed. A. McLean, and A. Liebing, 56–80. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing.
- MacCormack, C. 1985. Lay Perceptions Affecting Utilization of Family Planning Services in Jamaica. Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 88: 281–285.

- MacCormack, C., and A. Draper. 1987. Social and Cognitive aspects of Female Sexuality in Jamaica. In *The Cultural Construction of Sexuality*, ed. P. Caplan, 143–165. London: Routledge.
- MacGregor, H. 2009. Mapping the Body: Tracing the Personal and Political Dimensions of HIV/AIDS in Khayelitsha. South Africa, Anthropology & Medicine 16(1): 85–95.
- MacGregor, H., and E. Mills. 2011. Framing Rights and Responsibilities: Accounts of Women with a History of AIDS Activism. *Bio Med Central International Health & Human Rights* 11 (S7): 1–11.
- Maina, G., L. Sutankayo, R. Chorney, and V. Caine. 2014. Living with and teaching about HIV: Engaging nursing students through body mapping. *Nurse Education Today* 34(4): 347–643.
- Morgan, J., and The Bambanani Women's Group. 2003. *Long Life: Positive HIV Stories*. Sydney, AU: Double Story Books.
- Nostlinger, C., J. Loos, and X. Verhoest. 2015. Coping with HIV in a Culture of Silence: Results of a Body-Mapping Workshop. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses* 31(1): 47–48.
- Packard, J. 2008. 'I'm gonna show you what it's really like out here': The power and limitation of participatory visual methods. *Visual Studies* 23(1): 63–77.
- Pillow, W. 2003. Confession, catharsis, or cure? Rethinking the uses of reflexivity as methodological power in qualitative research. *Qualitative Studies in Education* 16(2): 175– 196.
- Pink, S. 2009. Doing Sensory Ethnography. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Pink, S. 2001. Doing Visual Ethnography. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Rice, T. 2013. *Hearing and the Hospital: Sound, Listening, Knowledge and Experience.* Herefordshire, UK: Sean Kingston Publishing.
- Rose, G. 2014. On The Relation Between 'Visual Research Methods' and Contemporary Visual Culture. *Sociological Review* 62(1): 24–46.
- Sinding, C., R. Gray, and J. Nisker. 2008. Ethical Issues and Issues of Ethics. In Handbook of the Arts in Qualitative Research: Perspectives, Methodologies, Examples and Issues, ed. J. Knowles, and A. Coles, 459–467. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Smith, L. 2012. Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples (2nd Edition), London: Zed Books.
- Smith, P. 2016. Personal Communication, 13 July.
- Smith, P. 2015. 'I am deliberate and afraid of nothing': Using Body Mapping As a Research Tool to Explore HIV Risk Among Youth in Soweto, South Africa. MSc Thesis, School of Kinesiology and Health Studies, Queens University, Kingston, Ontario, Canada.
- Smith, P., and C. Miller. 2015. *Madiba's Children: HIV and Hope for the Future*. Self-Published Book.
- Smith, T. 2013. Shall I Hide An Art-Based Study Within A Recognized Qualitative Framework?: Negotiating The Spaces Between Research Traditions At A Research University. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health* 4(1): 87–95.
- Spencer, S. 2011. Visual Research Methods in the Social Sciences: Awakening Visions. Milton Park, UK: Routledge.
- Sutton-Brown, C. 2014. Photovoice: A Methodological Guide. *Photography and Culture* 7(2): 169–185.
- Wang, C., and M. Burris. 1997. Photovoice: Concept, Methodology, and Use for Participatory Needs Assessment. *Health Education & Behaviour* 24: 369–387.
- Wang, C., and Y. Redwood-Jones. 2001. Photovoice Ethics: Perspectives from Flint photovoice. *Health Education & Behavior* 28: 560–572.
- Ward, N., J. Nabwire, J. Magero, and A. Biryetega. 2006. Memory Work. Learning from the Ugandan Experience. Retrieved from: http://www.kit.nl/net/KIT_Publicaties_output/ ShowFile2.aspx?e=1056.
- Wiles, R., J. Prosser, A. Bagnoli, A. Clark, K. Davies, S. Holland, and E. Renold. 2008. Visual Ethics: Ethical Issues in Visual Research, Southampton, UK: ESRC National Centre for Research Methods Review Paper (43 pgs).



Map 1.1 Abby's map



Map 1.2 Tarah's map



Map 1.3 Georgia's map



Map 1.4 Sue's map



Map 1.5 Rayna's map



Map 1.6 Isabel's map



Map 1.7 Ted's map



Map 1.8 Andrew's map



Map 1.9 Evan's map



Map 1.10 Luke's map


Map 1.11 Nolan's map

Chapter 2 Project Overview and Insights About Body Mapping

As we critically imagine new ways to think and write about visual art, as we make spaces for dialogue across boundaries, we engage in a process of cultural transformation that will ultimately create a revolution in vision.

Bell Hooks (1995: xvi)

The Anatomy of Adherence Project

The conceptual seeds of the Anatomy of Adherence study, the project upon which this book is based, emerged during my postdoctoral work at the British Columbia Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS in Vancouver (c. 2008). Although productive in all facets of clinical and behavioural HIV-related research, Centre researchers had not vet qualitatively explored the medication practices of marginalized groups of people living with HIV/AIDS. Of key interest were 'polysubstance users' or people who use a range of licit and illicit drugs for recreational, medicinal, and psychosocial reasons. In the medical research literature and clinical discourse, these individuals are described as being the least adherent in the management of their medications, which is often explained through reference to high risk lifestyles, disengagement from health care systems, and the crippling effect of addictions on their ability to take medications as prescribed (Binford et al. 2012; Lambers et al. 2011). Such assessments shed little light on the intersecting systemic and everyday factors that shape people's decisions to take, or not to take, their medications and are often internalized as highly stigmatizing. In addition, these medicalized framings of adherence and non-adherence focus on people's behaviour as though it is divorced from the broader political context and forces that shape their lives, particularly those of the disadvantaged whose bodies have often been the site of pharmaceutical exploitation (Biehl 2005; Martin 2006).

I wanted to design a project that would involve marginalized women and men in a more meaningful exploration of these broader forces and the more localized, everyday factors that shape their decisions about HIV medications. I was particularly interested in how their embodied health practices are shaped by gender, issues that remain underexplored among marginalized populations. Before describing the Anatomy of Adherence study in more detail, I provide an overview of the relevant research literature on adherence, gender, and the body.

Adherence, Gender, and the Body: An Overview of the Literature

The successful management of HIV/AIDS is dependent upon near perfect adherence to HIV medications, namely HAART (highly active antiretroviral therapy), which is critical to preventing adverse health outcomes like developing resistance to HIV medications, immune system collapse, and death (Bangsberg et al. 2001; Lima et al. 2009; Wood et al. 2004). Most medical and epidemiological research on adherence examines the degree to which HIV-positive people follow prescribed medical advice (Harrigan et al. 2005; Osterberg and Blaschke 2005). Through this lens, non-adherence among marginalized groups like polysubstance users is often chalked up to chaotic lives, lack of engagement with health systems, addictions, and other individualized behaviours are used to explain why they are unwilling or unlikely to take their medications. Missing from this approach is an understanding of how medical information about adherence is incorporated into these women and men's daily lives and personal health care practices. In particular, relatively little is known about how gender and bodily responses to HIV medications, such as side effects and body image, structure medication practices and decision-making (Puskas et al. 2011). In addition, this decision-making has not yet been contextualized in terms of the meanings patients attribute to HAART (Conrad 1985) and the complex institutional relationships that shape personal health care practices (Bresalier et al. 2002; Orchard et al. 2015b).

This contextualization is important because of the disjuncture between biomedical and lay assessments of adherence, which are both mediated through the body but in very different ways. From a biomedical perspective, health decisions are individualized processes made by rational patients who obey instructions from medical experts (Di Matteo et al. 2012; Shiavo 2013). In the case of HIV, the degree to which people adhere to prescribed medical information can be measured, through pill counts and virus levels in the blood. Making these decisions is not so linear or straightforward for most people living with HIV, who must negotiate taking these medications for the rest of their lives while simultaneously navigating side effects, stigma, and the demands of socially situated, environmentally constrained everyday life (Mykhalovskiy et al. 2004). For the more marginalized, such as those struggling with addictions, this balancing act is further complicated by potential interactions between HAART and illegal drugs and the impact of social determinants like poverty, homelessness, homophobia, and sex trade involvement.

This disjuncture regarding the body exists not only between HIV-positive people and their health and social service providers, but also between different groups of people along the gender continuum. Access to HAART is not universal yet. Eligibility for this expensive treatment is determined by clinical markers based mainly on the bodies and experiences of White men and may not reflect the particular needs of women or other groups (Broyles et al. 2005; Floridia et al. 2008; Mrus et al. 2005; Pinn 2003). Although HIV-infected women and men progress to AIDS at an equal rate, women's CD4 counts—critical indicators of immune function and prime determinants of treatment eligibility—are typically higher than men's are for longer periods of time (Napravnik et al. 2002; Nicastri et al. 2005). This means that women could be living with HIV longer than men by the time they are permitted to access this life-saving treatment.

The Anatomy of Adherence project was designed to generate in-depth insights about how marginalized women and men¹ think about HAART and how gender and the body shape their medication practices. I was also interested in the perspectives of health and social service providers who work with marginalized groups and often face systemic barriers that impede their ability to deliver comprehensive support and treatment for HIV-positive people with addictions. The insights of practitioners are rarely featured alongside those of the people they seek to help, however, because they are critical in the management of HIV medication practices and overall health of the people they work with I included them in this study. It is my hope that our study data can inform the development of gender-sensitive treatment and support programmes for HIV-positive women and men struggling with addictions and adherence, and contribute to the growing body of work that explores the relationships between health and gender more broadly (Johnson et al. 2007).

Methodology

The research team was composed of two lead investigators (myself and Dr. Robert Hogg) and additional researchers who have expertise working with HIV-positive populations and service providers, in Canada and internationally. Given the research connections established between the British Columbia Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS and local community agencies, the project was originally set in Vancouver. However, by the time we received funding for the study I had moved to London, Ontario, which brought about several logistical challenges. Ultimately, most of the study data were collected in Vancouver, with different project coordinators and myself contributing to the data collection. The body mapping with the women took place in Vancouver and the workshop with the men occurred in London, where I had taken a job and made strong connections with a local HIV service organization. The project was approved by the Ethics Boards at Simon Fraser University, Western University, and Providence Health Care (Table 2.1).

¹Which includes men who have sex with men (MSM), the preferred term given that many men who sleep with other men do not necessarily identify as being gay or homosexual.

Participant group	Preliminary interview	Body mapping	Post-mapping interview	Treatment workshop	Total research activities $(N = 45)$
Women	7	6	6	6	25
Men	2	5	5		12
Service providers	8	-	_		8

Table 2.1 Total data collected

Preliminary interviews with HIV positive participants of approximately one hour were conducted with seven women and two men in Vancouver,² who learned about the study through recruitment posters distributed at health and social service agencies with whom the team had fostered strong relationships. These discussions focused on the ways that drug use, gender, and the body impact adherence to HAART and overall health management, and the questions included: Do you have a routine that helps you organize taking your medications? How do your medications impact your body and how you feel? Do you talk about this with service providers? and Does your drug use affect your ability to stay on track with your medications/appointments? These interviews were also used to determine whether participants were interested in the body mapping workshop, which was the case for all but one of the female participants. Participants received a \$25.00 honorarium for taking part in the interviews, each of which were audio-recorded with the participants' written consent and transcribed verbatim for analysis. These interviews were conducted by Kate Salters, who was the primary Vancouver-based study coordinator.

Interviews with service providers were conducted with HIV physicians (n = 3), social service providers (n = 3), and pharmacists (n = 2) on one occasion for approximately one hour. These interviews were designed to ascertain the adherence and addictions-related resources available for their MSM and female clients, and the kind of training they have received to work with these populations. We were also interested in their ideas about how gender and bodily responses to HAART impact their different client groups. Questions for these participants included: How important is a client's adherence to HAART? What kind of approaches do you use to promote adherence? Do you tailor these methods to different client populations? How do you respond to patients who are not adherent? These interviews were conducted by Kate Salters.

Body Mapping was conducted with six women in Vancouver (May 2012) and five men in London (May 2013). During each of the four-day workshops participants created individual body maps on a large piece of heavy paper that measured six feet by four feet, onto which they painted/drew textual and symbolic items in

²Pursuing additional research with male participants in Vancouver was difficult following the loss of a research assistant, who had completed interviews with the women, service providers, and the first two male participants. I decided to continue working with MSM participants in London, Ontario and partnered with an HIV/AIDS agency that has many MSM clients. The five men who took part in the body mapping were selected by this agency and did not complete a preliminary interview.

response to a series of questions. The workshops were facilitated using the body mapping approach developed by Solomon (2007), which was described in Chap. 1. Digital photographs were taken of each map, which the participants all consented to, and each participant received \$50.00 per day as an honorarium and were reimbursed for any travel costs. Tricia Smith facilitated and led all aspects of the body mapping and in the women's workshop she received assistance from myself, Kate Salters, and team member Alexis Palmer. I also helped in the men's workshop, which was attended by two members of the Regional HIV/AIDS Connection—the service agency through which the male participants were recruited.

Post-Mapping Interviews with the women and men who took part in the mapping exercises were held approximately 2 weeks after their respective workshops were completed. These individual interviews ran around one hour in length and participants were asked to describe what they included on their maps, the experiences and ideas that informed the creative process, and their perspectives on the mapping process itself. The participants also created one-page summaries of their mapping experience and what they hope prospective viewers of the maps 'see' in their creations. These interviews were audio-recorded with the participants' written consent, transcribed verbatim,³ and participants received an honorarium of \$25.00 for taking part. Tricia Smith conducted these interviews with the women and I completed this part of the project with the men.

A Treatment Workshop was held with the women participants in August of 2012. This one-day workshop featured information about how HAART and living with HIV/AIDS can impact women's health and bodies. During the body mapping workshop, the women expressed confusion about these health issues and responding to their desire to learn more about them was important. The issues of particular concern to them were lipodystrophy (the redistribution of abdominal, breast, and bum fat, loss of bum fat), diabetes, heart disease, dyslipidemia,⁴ gastrointestinal issues, peripheral neuropathy, and forgetfulness/brain fog. A 'women's treatment guide' was prepared that featured information about these health issues, the most common HAART medications and their side effects, and allopathic and natural medical approaches for dealing with the uncomfortable effects of these toxic medications. The women were very receptive to the workshop and they engaged in productive group discussions and brainstorming sessions, which featured their own ideas and suggestions for how to deal with their everyday health challenges, as women. The workshop was led by Tricia Smith.

Fieldnotes were also recorded during the project, approximately sixty double-spaced pages. Excerpts from these notes are included throughout the book to help to bring the reader into the project setting and provide important, often

³All of the project interviews were transcribed by a professional transcriptionist and editor based in Vancouver, British Columbia.

⁴The elevation of plasma cholesterol, triglycerides (TGs), or both, or a low high-density lipoprotein level that contributes to the development of atherosclerosis or hardening of the arteries.

intimate accounts of certain aspects of the research experience that did not arise during the interviews or workshops.

Analysis

A constant comparative method was used during the analysis of the interview data, and as is often the case with projects that take unfold over time, data collection and analysis occurred simultaneously (Sandelowski 1995). Verbatim transcripts prepared from the interviews were reviewed multiple times and a line-by-line open coding method was employed. This involves looking for common themes that inform the study objectives and grouping them into 'master' categories (i.e., HAART, adherence, HIV, addictions, gender, the body), which are refined through the creation of subcategories that contain insights that flesh out the information in the 'master' categories. The analysis of the interview and other study data was led by myself, in consultation with other team members.

The data analysis has also been shaped by work from scholars who explore HIV/AIDS, drug use, and other health issues among marginalized populations through critical medical anthropology, third-wave feminism, and postcolonial theory. These researchers examine how the lives of disenfranchised groups, including women, Indigenous populations, and men of sexual minority status, are shaped by their unequal access to different socio-economic, cultural, and political resources. Their exclusion from meaningful participation in society can, in complex ways, reinforce the idea that they are to blame for the ill-health and embodied forms of suffering they experience, including poverty, addictions, sexual discrimination, racially motivated and gender-based violence, and intergenerational abuse stemming from colonization (Bourgois and Schonberg 2009; Kelm 1998; Knight 2015; Sterk 2000; Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada 2015). However, marginalized people do not passively accept the role of 'the victim' ascribed to them, as reflected in many studies and arts-related projects that illuminate how members of disenfranchised groups resist oppression with and create meaning in their lives (Barone and Eisner 2011; Conrad and Campbell 2008; Huss 2007, 2011). This includes the move towards self-determination, healing, and social justice among Indigenous groups globally through reclaiming control over the knowledge that is produced about them as sovereign peoples recovering from colonization (Smith 2012).

When talking about their experiences related to HIV/AIDS, addictions, stigma, gender-based violence, and the effects of historical traumas resulting from colonialism, our participants oscillated between self-blame and recognizing how various sociostructural systems limit their meaningful participation in society. They also discussed how they resist the systemic and everyday exclusion they regularly experience, thus revealing their agential potential. These insights align with critically informed studies with similar populations, but the depth to which they are

explored here is unique within the arts-based literature. Additional details regarding the analysis of the body mapping data is the focus of Chap. 3.

Knowledge Translation

The data gleaned from the interviews conducted with service providers revealed that instead of the binary framework through which adherence is typically assessed (i.e., adherent or non-adherent), they used 11 different social typologies to capture the spectrum of medication practices they observed among their clients with addictions (Orchard et al. 2015a). These participants also shed light on how addictions and the structure of the environments where they work impact their adherence-related work with these groups. It was revealed that while addictions complicate adherence to HAART, this is not a universal reality and the kinds of drugs used as well as the individual capacities of patients also impact adherence success. The organization of the HIV care environment, which is highly stratified and provides certain professionals with more resources and structural capabilities than others (i.e., physicians and HIV specialists), also shapes their ability to address the health needs of their clients (Orchard et al. 2015b).

The body mapping data yielded rich insights about how gender, the body, and different social and structural factors shape the medication practices and everyday lives of HIV-positive men and women with addictions issues. In the arts-based literature, knowledge translation is consistently cited as a challenge given the tradition of recording research findings in textual mediums and the tendency for mainstream academic venues (i.e., journals, conferences) to question whether or not arts-based research is indeed research (Barone and Eisner 2011; Liamputtong and Rumbold 2008). Our dissemination strategies unfolded in unique ways in the two sites and were informed with the input of the participants (see Chap. 5 for more details). With the women's group we held an art show and dinner in Vancouver to celebrate the project and made t-shirts, postcards, and booklets, that featured their maps and one-page stories created during the follow-up interviews. Their maps stayed for a week in the host restaurant and yielded a great deal of positive feedback from patrons and staff, one of whom said they made her 'weepy'.⁵ Copies of the women's maps were also installed in Vancouver's women's-only pharmacy and at a women's clinic where many of the participants receive their services, where they still hang today. With the men's group, we also created booklets and their maps were featured at the AIDS Vigil in London, Ontario and the Annual General

⁵She shared these feelings with me when I took down the maps and we chatted about the pride she takes in participating in community projects designed to combat stigma and promote healing among Downtown Eastside residents, most notably the amazing *Hope In Shadows* project (Cran and Jerome 2008).

Meeting held at the Regional HIV/AIDS Connection, our community partner in the men's body mapping group.

Locating Our Participants

The participants in our study are the experts in their own lives and while I am writing this text, as Barone and Eisner (2011: 134) contend, "The voice of the writer should not overpower those of her informants-turned-characters in the text-the people with whom she is collaborating." To that end, throughout the book I use direct quotations from the women and men in our study to ensure that they are 'heard' and I have organized each chapter around their lived experiences. The sociodemographic overview below is included to provide a preliminary sense of the women and men who took part in the project.

Five of six women participants identify as Indigenous⁶ and are originally from communities in British Columbia as well as other Western Canadian provinces. The majority of them have lived or are currently living in the Downtown Eastside area of Vancouver, one of Canada's poorest neighbourhoods. Their experiences with colonialism feature prominently on their maps and in our discussions, including residential schools, intergenerational traumas, and struggles with addictions, street life (including sex work, homelessness), and poor health resulting from the everyday and structural violence they experience.⁷ All of these women have had children, most of whom live with them but some have been given to institutional care systems and three children have passed away. The non-Indigenous woman, Rayna, was born in Hong Kong and moved to Vancouver as a teenager in the 1990s. However, her parents did not move to the city with her and she was left to fend for herself, which she described as contributing to feelings of loneliness, drug use, and other coping behaviours she developed. The women ranged in age from their early 30s to 60 years of age and they have lived with HIV for varied lengths of time living, from almost 30 years to six years. All of the women are on HAART and have taken many kinds of pills over the years, which has led to physical, neurological, and socioemotional side effects stemming from long-term use of these toxic medications.

The five male participants are from London or nearby rural/semirural areas, and with respect to cultural identity three identify as White, one man as Black, and one man is of mixed race. The men range in age from their late 20s to just under 60 years old, and the average age was around 35. Their length of time living with HIV is slightly less than that of the women, ranging from two years to 22 years. Of

⁶Which includes First Nations, Inuit, and Metis peoples in the Canadian context. In our study four of the Indigenous women participants identify as First Nations and one as Metis or of blended racial descent.

⁷See Acoose (2015) for an incredibly powerful first-hand account.

the five men, three were on medication at the time of the study. One of the men in our study has children, two of whom are with him and one passed away. All of the men have experienced addictions, including different kinds of drugs (i.e., pharmaceutical, illicit) and/or alcohol, which emerged as one of their most defining life challenges and ways of coping with struggles related to family, mental health, and HIV/AIDS. At the time of the workshop, most of the men had been in or were actively involved with support/treatment programmes to help ease the pain of their addictions and work through their underlying issues.

Participants' Perspectives on Body Mapping

The data below feature the participants' perspectives on the body mapping experience and how this approach compares to other studies that they have participated in, typically survey-based or individual interviews conducted over a brief period of time. Each section opens with an excerpt from my fieldnotes recorded during the workshops, beginning with the women.

Women

As women trickled in, it was clear from the big "hi's", hugs, and familiarity among them that many of the women knew one another. I sat in the cluster of chairs closest to the doors, across from the supplies table, and adjacent to the neatly plasticked and taped edge of the carpeted floor. It was interesting because many of the women began, like you would, by asking one another how they were doing. This quickly led to discussions of health, specifically, many of them began to speak the language of HIV numbers and procedures: CD4 counts, blood work, appointments, and commenting on what they share with each; with impressive experiential knowledge honed from many years, often decades, of living with the virus.

Four or five out of seventeen total exercises were done today: tracing the support figure, tracing the woman's body, fingering the outline of each woman's own body tracing, painting their outline, creating images relating to "where they are from", creating images relating to "where they are going", creating images that link the roots to the fruits (so to speak!). After these exercises we all regrouped in a circle and each woman's map was put in front of her, and then she discussed what she wanted to about the day, the map, the colours, the symbols, and so forth. Tears were shed by two women and one spoke about the power of finally being able to shed tears that she could feel and understand. All of the women said that they really enjoyed the process so far, complimented one another on how unique and interesting the maps were, and looked forward to the progression of the workshop. One woman said that she felt vulnerable and opened up, and following upon that (or trying to) I mentioned that I thought they were all very courageous because what they are doing is baring their lives in the open. The other team members spoke about being thankful to be a part of the workshop and spending time with the women (Fieldnotes, May 3, 2012).

The women expressed a range of feelings about the body mapping experience and many highlighted how interesting, thoughtful, and supportive it was: "It was a new experience for me and I'm glad I did go...It was quite interesting. I was quite impressed with what we learned and what people think...you know, about each other's maps. It was touching" (Georgia). Sue emphasized how important the process was, which was informed by the quiet and thoughtful environment that gave her time to think about what she wanted to express: "It was very quiet. It was very thoughtful...I really took my time to get what I really wanted to say. Because I knew it might be important. Well, it's important for me to say what I really see, and what I really feel too." Rayna focused on the power of art to inspire and bring people together by tapping into our shared struggles and feelings of loneliness: "This kind of thing is not just piece of art. I think it's inspiration for everybody, you know. I've been through this and I want you to look at this. I don't know how they feel about it, but I hope they know that they are not alone."

Tarah also found the experience positive, such that saying goodbye at the end was hard: "I was sad it was finished! It was like, 'There's gotta be more to this!' Yeah, it was kind of like, it was a good trip! It was a good trip!" Isabel discussed how gentle and feminine⁸ the process was, emphasized through her repeated use of the word 'soft', and offered suggestions for other groups of women who might benefit from the body mapping experience:

I really think this would be good for use with teenage girls who are HIV because it's really pretty! I felt very...it's very soft and very womanly... Because you've got all the colors and it's more of a gentle way of doing it...I can honestly say I felt like... it's really kind of feminine and really, just soft. It brings out the woman-ness in me!

Given the women's extensive involvement with research projects in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside, namely survey-based behavioural questionnaires, I was curious about how they would perceive this arts-based approach. They all indicated that body mapping is very different and more meaningful because of the personal and humanizing experiences it generated. As Georgia shared: "I think it's very different... This is personal, here, you know?...It is quite amazing to see, you know, how people put their own life down there and.... Then look at it again and see." In a similar vein, Isabel said:

You feel like a specimen rather than a person wanting to do a survey. This is not like that. I like surveys like this! Surveys with paint – for four days! How are you supposed to know somebody if you don't get to know them?!...This was more meaningful. It feels like it's going to be used in a good way, in a healthy, safe way.

⁸Given that she referred to herself and some of the other participants as "hard core", these descriptions were particularly powerful. Also telling is how Isabel begins to say, at two points in the excerpt above, "I felt" when providing these descriptors and then switched to "it's very soft" or "it's really kind of feminine", which may reflect her difficulties with ascribing these gentle qualities to herself.

Abby draws attention to the lack of genuine engagement with and understanding of research participants in many Downtown Eastside project, which she did not experience in our study:

It was just the way you taught it...We had those days to get comfortable with each other... I've been to [other research projects]...I find them actually quite snotty. If you can't be around addicts, then you shouldn't be down here doing this...I feel a lot of them just want it for the government grant.

Other women highlighted the unique attributes of the arts-based approach and how it enabled them to see their lives and what they have created, which was described as being emotive, substantial, and real to them. Take the following excerpt from Rayna:

Normally [surveys] go after certain things, like, knowledge about certain things or what you're believing or stuff like that. But this is research – wow! Research for a person who lives with HIV and has to take medication. How do they affect their lives from the beginning to now? And what do you see, how do you feel? On one single piece of paper!

Tarah uses the visual image of 'having her eyes opened' when talking about how different and important this experience was, compared to projects that rely strictly on writing things down:

I'm able to open my eyes and see what I've done!...Better than questions because...if you just put it on paper, I may have just passed it and said 'Ah, maybe!'...I mean, you can write and talk forever, and not really know what you're talking about. But when you actually see it on paper, then it actually becomes a something. I believe we did something. Something important enough that I would do again.

Sue describes how visual research produces a more immediate and 'real' account of peoples' lives compared to standard academic research and dissemination practices of reading and talking about study findings:

I believe it has to be [personal]...I like Visual Research...When somebody talks, or you put it on paper, like written word, it's not as visual as looking at the real thing. And I don't know. I think it opens a lot more people's eyes than just, you know, speaking from a podium and reading documents.

Men

I was excited to begin and we started things around 10 am or so, with introductions, ethical/confidentiality issues and consent forms, an overview of what body mapping is and how the next 4 days will unfold, and when and what to expect in the way of food. Despite the numerous smoke breaks throughout the day the men got a lot done: tracing their image and that of their support figure, outlining their own figure with paint, symbols about where they're from, symbols about what their goals/aims for the future are, their journey from their past to their future aspirations, and colouring in their support figure.

On our way for a smoke, Evan and I ran into the other men and Luke decided to join us. As we walked up the stairs to the room, Luke asked if this building is where the medical students are. I said no, and he told us that a friend of his is in medical school and he doesn't

want to run into her because then she'd know he has HIV. He said he'd be embarrassed not because he has HIV, but because he hasn't told her. We ended before 4 pm, with a profoundly moving and fascinating check-out, where the men each explained the different stages they accomplished and what it all meant to/for them.

I asked Tricia at the end of the day if she observed any differences, thus far, about this group of men compared to the women we worked with in Vancouver. The first thing she commented on was that there is WAY more talk about sex, totally!!! She also said that they moved through the steps quicker too, and I agreed. I said that they seem more intimate/supportive of one another, which might be because we recruited all of them from the same agency. I wondered what other folks in Elborn College (where the workshop was held) thought of the guys and we sure found out what one woman thought about Luke brushing his teeth in the water fountain. She informed him, and I can't imagine why (!!!) that there is a men's bathroom around the corner. I noticed that a few people seem to be rather unimpressed with the fact that the crew of us were smoking by an entrance, fair enough (Fieldnotes May 23, 2013).

While the women spoke about the introspective and healing nature of the body mapping process this was the case among only two of the men, Nolan and Andrew. For Nolan the mapping process enabled him to think about himself in new, positive ways: "It really helped me to take a good look at myself and to see that things aren't as bad as they seem, and it helped me look at myself in a different way. I'm definitely going to put this up on my wall because I need to remind myself that, you know, I am a beautiful person." Andrew went into detail about how meaningful the mapping experience was and initially focused on the process, saying: "Landing there and going through the process, I found it really interesting that I went inward. And it didn't really matter what everybody else was doing, or saying even...The process actually drew me into itself." He then shared a moving reflection about the story his map tells, which is about suffering as well as his movement through pain to the other side towards recovery and healing:

It does tell a story. I think that red blood line is the central story. From that point of feeling isolated and different...through lots of sexual activity and other expressions...The career, the schooling, making mistaken connections to heart. For a long time I lived in that part that goes out into the arm... which is pain, escape and coping. And then on the other side 'Rehab, Recovery, Change'. But I couldn't get to change and recovery without having gone through the pain. My attempts to escape... It is my story.

The other participants used less intense images and language to describe the mapping experience and here Luke says that it had nothing to do with his story or significant life events: "I don't really think it tells a story. It's just kind of like, a map! With stuff on it! It's kind of like 'Here I am! Here's some things that have happened in my life!' The main things." Ted enjoyed the mapping and described it in the following way: "I talk about the overall experience being really cool." Evan framed his account of the workshop through reference to the omnipotent processes of life and death, yet does not provide a tremendous amount of personal insights regarding his individual experiences: "I guess it talks about the Circle of Life and the human journey... from birth to death. And I'm somewhere in between!"

Among the men with previous research experience, like behavioural surveys that document behaviours quantitatively, body mapping enabled them to express themselves and assign meaning to life events/people in ways that were far more personal:

I've done studies for, like 'man on man sex' or 'living with HIV'...And it's, like, "Yes", "No", "Yes", "No", ...It's painstaking! It's just so boring, and it's like 'Fuck, can I speed it up?' Like, you kind of half-read and they don't pay as good. This was great and it was a lot more personal, there was a lot more interaction with people. Other studies aren't so long, but they don't pay as well and they are very boring. They just want answers. This has a little more facets to it... You guys are trying to get more of us out of it" (Luke).

These sentiments were echoed in Ted's account of different research approaches:

My parents, who obviously played a big role in my life...wouldn't necessarily come out in an interview or a Survey Monkey. And being able to add people... and explain, like.... My son is up her, and my daughter is here!...You have to explain that to people. One of the things that I think is cool about it is that you can assign value to different aspects of your life that totally makes sense to you, right? As opposed to 'A, B, C, D'Oh, 'It doesn't fit' you know? Or ranking something. This is just very different (Ted).

While Nolan had not taken part in other studies he made reference to other arts-oriented activities he has participated in and how they align with his interests: "In treatment centres... there was a lot of looking at my past, looking at what I want in the future and stuff like that... For some people, like for me, my personality, I'm more of an artsy kind of person. You know, so I really took to this."

Locating Myself

I am a white (English and Irish descent) anthropologist with cultural and medical expertise and at the time of writing (August 2016), I am 43 years old. I grew up in the city of Saskatoon in the Canadian prairie province of Saskatchewan, which has left many indelible marks on me, as a woman and a researcher. Among the most lasting have been the influence of artists, political figures, and others from the land of the big sky, including Buffy Sainte-Marie (Indigenous singer, songwriter, activist), Tommy Douglas (the father of social medicine in Canada), Joni Mitchell (singer, song writer, painter), Neil Stonechild (an Indigenous man whose 1990 murder helped change racist policing practices in Saskatoon), and countless members of my family from whom I continue to learn. Being encouraged from a young age to stand beside and sometimes for those pushed to the outskirts of society has had a dramatic impact on the kind of work I do as an anthropologist. Since beginning my academic career in the late 1990s I have consistently worked

with people who have been mistreated and deeply misunderstood, mainly rural and urban Indigenous communities, women and transgender people in sex work, gay men and others affected by HIV/AIDS, and youth.

My first foray into body mapping occurred when I was working on a project with women in sex work in Vancouver, while completing my postdoctoral position at the Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS. I wanted to introduce arts-based methodologies into what was predominantly an epidemiological study. I met with approximately ten women who expressed an interest in body mapping and using Solomon's (2007) facilitator's guide I set about purchasing supplies and began structuring the workshop. However, due to unforeseen conditions surrounding the study I was unable to see the workshop through and it was taken over by other team members who were not as committed to or familiar with the therapeutic structure of the process. Interestingly, one of the women featured in this book (Abby) took part in that failed attempt and rightly described it as a 'gong show'.

Thankfully, my second experience with body mapping has been infinitely different than the first. Over years of researching and thinking, I have remarked on numerous occasions that this project has changed my life. This is due to a series of factors that came together in a particular way around the time of this study. The most salient being the beginning of my sobriety and healing journey in 2012, having the opportunity to conduct research that focuses on the connective power art, and meeting the incredible women and men in our study. These issues are discussed in more detail in Chap. 4, which focuses on the transformative nature of this research experience, but I think it is important to 'show' a little bit of who I am at the outset just as I have tried to do with our participants.

Discussion

This chapter opened with a description of the project upon which this book is based, which was designed to examine how gender and the body structure medication practices among HIV-positive women and men who struggle with drug addictions and multiple forms of socio-economic, cultural, and sexual marginalization. A brief overview of the literature on adherence, gender, and the body in the context of HIV/AIDS adherence research was provided, which illuminated some of the limitations of the quantitative methods commonly used to investigate these issues. As discussed, these approaches can determine whether people take their medications, but they provide few insights into the individual conditions or structural factors that shape the ways that people think about HAART or living with HIV (Browne et al. 2012; Penn et al. 2011; Puskas et al. 2011). I designed a different kind of project

that involved marginalized women and men in a more meaningful exploration of these broader forces and everyday factors that shape their decisions about HIV medications. Learning how social and health providers who work with these populations approach addictions and adherence, given their critical role in the management of these health issues, was also of significant interest. To that end, myself and other team members conducted individual interviews with HIV-positive women and men who struggled with addictions as well as adherence, along with HIV providers who care for these populations and seek to improve their uptake of HAART (Orchard et al. 2015a, b; Orchard et al. 2014). Our team used body mapping with the HIV-positive participants, which aligns well with the study aims and generated participant-generated data that is unique within the adherence/addictions research literature.

The second half of the chapter features ethnographic insights from our study, specifically our participants' thoughts about body mapping and how it compares to other research they were familiar with. They saw many unique benefits of the approach, which included providing a creative alternative to understanding the lives and experiences of people with HIV and enriching their lives beyond the frame of the project. The women's insights were remarkably cohesive and they all spoke about the personal nature of this research, which included feeling as though their whole lives were of interest and free to be documented as they saw fit. This is very different than their experiences with surveys or one-time interviews, which often made them feel like 'specimens' or as though only very specific aspects of their lives or behaviours were up for discussion. Two of the men also commented on this, including Luke who said: "They [surveys] just want answers. This has a little more facets to it...You guys are trying to get more of us out of it." From Ted's perspective, one of things that made the experience 'cool' is that "You can assign value to different aspects of your life that totally makes sense to you, right? As opposed to 'A. B. C. D.""

The research environment and process were also identified by participants as unique aspects of the body mapping approach. Several women talked about having quiet time to think and reflect upon their lives while engaging in the artistic process, which becomes more complex with each passing day as more and more of their lives are revealed. While this can make them feel vulnerable our participants spoke about being relieved and thankful for the opportunity, albeit intense and very hard at times, to release certain experiences they had been holding inside for a long time. Releasing these experiences and having them materialized through the creative process helped make them real and dealt with in a therapeutic way. Visualizing these experiences was an essential part of this, as Tarah said: "When you actually see it on paper, then it actually becomes a something." Rayna went into more detail about the collaborative, artful power of what they were producing: "This kind of thing is not just piece of art...It's inspiration for everybody, you know. I've been through this and I want you to look at this...I hope they know that they are not alone."

While most of the men did not speak at length about the uniquely visual or inspirational aspects of the process, Nolan and Andrew did. For Nolan, the body mapping experience allowed him the space and emotional security to be kind to himself and to see that he is a beautiful person. He discussed using his map as a reminder of these personal facts, thus revealing the double powerful of body mapping in this context: map as mirror and map as eyes, through which he can see himself in a new light. Andrew talked about how the process pulled him in and guided him in the creation of the story of his life, which is traumatic, painful, and beginning to be shaped by human connection and self-love/respect.

References

- Acoose, S. 2015. An arrow in my heart: A first Nation Woman's account of survival from the streets to the height of academia. Vernon: JCharlton Publishing Ltd.
- Bangsberg, D., S. Perry, E. Charlebois, M. Robertson, and A. Zolopa. 2001. Non-adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy predicts progression to AIDS. AIDS 15(9): 1181–1183.
- Barone, T., and E. Eisner. 2011. Arts based research. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE.
- Biehl, J. 2005. VITA: Life in a zone of social abandonment. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Binford, M., S. Kahana, and F. Altice. 2012. A systematic review of antiretroviral adherence interventions for HIV-infected people who use drugs. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports* 9: 287–312.
- Bourgois, P., and J. Schonberg. 2009. *Righteous dopefiend*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Bresalier, M., G. Loralee, C. McClure, L. McCoy, E. Mykhalovskiy, D. Taylor, and M. Webber. 2002. Making care visible. Antiretroviral therapy and the health work of people living with HIV/AIDS. Toronto: Making Care Visible Working Group.
- Browne, A., C. Varcoe, S. Wong, V. Smye, J. Lavoie, D. Littlejohn, D. Tu, O. Godwin, M. Krause, K. Khan, A. Fridkin, P. Rodney, J. O'Neil, and S. Lennox. 2012. Closing the health equity gap: Evidence-based strategies for primary health care organizations. *International Journal for Health Equity* 11: 59. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-11-59.
- Broyles, L., A. Colbert, and J. Erlen. 2005. Medication practice and feminist thought: A theoretical and ethical response to adherence in HIV/AIDS. *Bioethics* 19(4): 362–378.
- Conrad, P. 1985. The meaning of medications: Another look at compliance. Social Science and Medicine 20: 29–37.
- Conrad, D., and G. Campbell. 2008. Participatory research—An empowering methodology with marginalized populations. In *Knowing differently: Arts-based and collaborative research methods*, ed. L. Liamputtong, and J. Rumbold, 247–263. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- Cran, B., and G. Jerome. 2008. *Hope in shadows: Stories and photographs of Vancouver's downtown eastside*. Vancouver: Arsenal Pulp Press.
- Di Matteo, M., K. Haskard-Zolnierek, and L. Martin. 2012. Improving patient adherence: A three-factor model to guide practice. *Health Psychology Review* 6(1): 74–91.
- Floridia, M., M. Guiliano, L. Palmisano, and S. Vella. 2008. Gender differences in the treatment of HIV infection. *Pharmacological Research* 58: 173–182.
- Harrigan, P.R., R. Hogg, W. Dong, B. Yip, B. Wynhoven, J. Woodward, C. Brumme, Z. Brumme, T. Mo, C. Alexander, and J. Montaner. 2005. Predictors of HIV drug-resistance mutations in a large antiretroviral-naive cohort initiating triple antiretroviral therapy. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 191: 339–347.
- Hooks, B. 1995. Art on my mind: Visual politics. New York: The New Press.
- Huss, E. 2007. Symbolic spaces: Marginalized Bedouin women's art as self-expression. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology* 47(3): 306–319.

- Huss, E. 2011. A social-critical reading of indigenous women's art: The use of visual data to "show" rather than "tell" of the intersection of different layers of oppression. In Art in action: Expressive arts therapy and social change, ed. E. Levine, and S. Levine, 95–103. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Johnson, J., L. Greaves, and R. Repta. 2007. *Better sciences with sex and gender: A primer for health research.* Vancouver: Women's Health Research Network.
- Kelm, M. 1998. Colonizing bodies: Aboriginal health and healing in British Columbia, 1900-1950. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- Knight, K. 2015. Addicted. pregnant. poor. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Lambers, F., I. Stolte, C. van den Berg, R. Coutinho, and M. Prins. 2011. Harm reduction intensity —Its role in HAART adherence amongst drug users in Amsterdam. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 22: 210–218.
- Liamputtong, P., and J. Rumbold. 2008. Knowing differently: Setting the scene. In *Knowing differently: Arts-based and collaborative research methods*, ed. L. Liamputtong, and J. Rumbold, 1–23. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- Lima, V.D., R. Harrigan, R. Hogg, R. Gross, and B. Yip. 2009. The combined effect of modern highly active antiretroviral therapy regimens and adherence on mortality over time. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 22(1): 75–82.
- Martin, E. 2006. The pharmaceutical person. BioSocieties 1: 273-287.
- Mrus, J., P. Williams, J. Tsevat, S. Cohn, and A. Wu. 2005. Gender differences in health-related quality of life in patients with HIV/AIDS. *Quality of Life Research* 14: 479–491.
- Mykhalovskiy, E., L. McCoy, and M. Bresalier. 2004. Compliance/Adherence, HIV, and the critique of medical power. *Social Theory & Health* 2(4): 315–340.
- Napravnik, S., C. Poole, J. Thomas, and J. Eron. 2002. Gender difference in HIV RNA levels: A meta-analysis of published studies. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 31: 1119.
- Nicastri, E., C. Angelett, L. Palmisano, L. Sarmati, A. Chiesi, A. Geraci, M. Andreoni, S. Vella, and The Italian Antiretroviral Treatment Group. 2005. Gender differences in clinical progression of HIV-1-infected individuals during long-term highly active antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 19: 577–583.
- Orchard, T., K. Salters, A. Palmer, W. Michelow, K. Lepik, and R. Hogg. 2015a. Vets, denialists, and rememberers: Health care providers perspectives about adherence and non-adherence to HAART among poly-substance users. *AIDS Care* 27(6): 758–761.
- Orchard, T., T. Smith, and W. Michelow. 2014. Imagining adherence: Body mapping research with HIV-positive men and women in Canada. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses* 30(4): 337–338.
- Orchard, T., K. Salters, W. Michelow, K. Lepik, A. Palmer, and R. Hogg. 2015b. "My job is to deal with what I can": HIV care providers' perspectives on adherence to HAART, addictions, and comprehensive care delivery in Vancouver. *British Columbia, Canada, Critical Public Health* 26(5): 542–553.
- Osterberg, L., and T. Blaschke. 2005. Adherence to medication. *New England Journal of Medicine* 353: 487–497.
- Penn, C., J. Watermeyer, and M. Evans. 2011. Why don't patients take their drugs? The role of communication, context and culture in patient adherence and the work of the pharmacist in HIV/AIDS. *Patient Education and Counseling* 83: 310–318.
- Pinn, V. 2003. Sex and gender factors in medical studies: Implications for health and clinical practice. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 289(4): 397–400.
- Puskas, C., J. Forrest, S. Parashar, K. Salters, A. Cescon, A. Kaida, C. Miller, D. Bangsberg, and Hogg, R. 2011. Women and vulnerability to HAART non-adherence: A literature review of treatment adherence by gender from 2000 to 2011. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports* http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s11904-011-0098-0.
- Sandelowski, M. 1995. Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health* 18(2): 179–183.
- Shiavo, R. 2013. Health communication: From theory to practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Smith, L. 2012. *Decolonizing methodologies: Research and indigenous peoples*, 2nd ed. London: Zed Books.
- Solomon, J. 2007. "Living with X": A body mapping journey in the time of AIDS. Johannesburg: REPSSI.
- Sterk, C. 2000. *Tricking and tripping. Prostitution in the era of AIDS.* Putnam Valley: Social Change Press.
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. 2015. *Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future: Summary of the final report of the truth and reconciliation commission of Canada.* Ottawa, Ontario.
- Wood, E., R. Hogg, B. Yip, R. Harrigan, M. O'Shaughnessy, and J. Montaner. 2004. The impact of adherence on CD4 cell count responses among HIV-infected patients. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 35(3): 261–268.

Chapter 3 The Forest and the Trees: Pushing the Analytical Envelope

Invention is mostly this kind of subtle, inevitable thing. People get closer to the beauty of their invention. They get narrower and more particular in it...It's a million choices you make. It's luck in a sense. The thing that's important to know is that you never know. You're always sort of feeling your way.

Diane Arbus (1972: 10, 14)

Analytical Issues in Arts-Based Research

The analysis of arts-based research findings is among the most variable aspect of the field, due to the very diverse range of methodological approaches, artistic activities involved, subjects explored, and uses or purposes of the resulting data. The ways that a theatre performance or a collection of writings, for instance, are interpreted varies tremendously from the analytical approach used to understand a series of photographs or a single painting. The context in which such methods are used also shapes how and the degree to which they are analysed, which may be more important or certainly different in research-based studies compared to a program evaluation or social justice initiative. The divergent values assigned to the particular arts-based activities employed, as an adjunctive or primary method, as a means for community mobilization or therapeutic treatment (Knowles and Cole 2008; Viega 2016), also contributes to rather muddy analytical waters. While this heterogeneity can make data analysis challenging, especially for those working with the more fringe methodologies that have few interpretive frameworks from which to draw, it is also exciting because it pushes researchers to find new ways to make sense of things.

Given that it is the most widely used and adaptable arts-based method, the analytical procedures related to Photovoice are quite well established, particularly in small-scale participatory projects designed to generate critical reflection among participants and sociopolitical change in their lives. In this context the analysis is approached collaboratively and begins with participants selecting images, contextualizing them, codifying them in ways that inform the study objective, and they may also assist with the prioritization and validation of the findings (See Wang and Burris 1997 for details). The following questions are shared among the group to assist participants and researchers during interpretation: "What do you see here?"; "How does this relate to our lives?"; "Why does this situation, concern, or strength exist?"; and "What can we do about it?" (Wang 1999). When documenting the analytical process and attendant findings, researchers using Photovoice typically focus on individual storytelling as well as group narratives (Sutton-Brown 2014).

In studies that employ drawings, as in the case of Guillemin and Westall's (2008: 125) work with women experiencing post-natal depression, researchers often use a thematic analytical framework guided by questions about image production (colour, composition), the relationship between images, whether they are contradictory (i.e., to other data collected), and the kinds of knowledge that are included or excluded. In some projects, participants are relied upon to direct the analysis (Guillemin and Drew 2010: 183), which may be empowering but also stressful given their already full lives and potential disinterest in this activity (Packard 2008). Different modes of interpretation emerge from visual anthropology, which overlaps with arts-based research but is also quite distinct given the focus in this sub-field on photography, film, material culture, and the history of visual arts within the discipline (Banks and Ruby 2011; Hockings et al. 2014). Leading visual anthropologist Pink (2003: 186) argues that researchers "should attend not only to the internal "meanings" of an image, but also to how the image was produced and how it is made meaningful by its viewers"; a wide-ranging set of principles that highlight content, context, and the relationality of artful production.

Sociologists have also contributed to these discussions and Spencer's (2011) exploration of visual research methods in the social sciences is a noteworthy resource. While most of the studies he examines employ similar kinds of intertextual approaches, namely critical semiotics and discourse analysis, that he discusses how these paradigms can be applied in different projects makes his book unique and useful- particularly for those working with image-based art (i.e., media, photos, archival materials, and cartographic as well as hand drawn maps). Place/space mapping has also been used to generate visual narratives that represent participants' relationships to place, people, time, and themselves; a "mediational method" (Futch and Fine 2014) that produces data which are qualitatively coded and categorized into thematic groups that reflect the research focus. McIntosh (2010: 167) suggests that a more systematic approach to the analysis of arts-based research can be found by paying closer attention to metaphor and dialogue within the given artful creation, thereby producing "a kind of mixed methodology if you please, with the prospect of deepening understanding and developing theory through conjunctions with what is found". Another compelling example comes from artist practitioners who documented their physiological responses to various artistic activities, with an eye to developing a measure of the artistic experience and/or process (Learmonth and Huckvale 2012). Here, they describe their original approach:

Ripples, eddies or whirlpools, inseparable from the currents they arise in. These properties embody what matters about the arts. Reductionist interrogation can be like collecting waves in a bucket and taking them home for a closer look...Our experiment did not capture any waves, but we certainly felt them go by... Our bucket kept coming up full of frogs, slippery amphibians who move between the worlds (106–107).

As a tripartite method that combines research with art and therapeutic process body mapping occupies a complex and somewhat slippery position within arts-based approaches, a kind of "hybrid or third space" (Leavy 2009: 232). The divergent processes and outcomes associated with this method are its key strengths but they can make the systematic analysis of the findings challenging, and of all the arts-based methods body mapping is among the least well-developed in this regard. When first created with women in South Africa as a tool for community mobilization and political advocacy, the maps were documented in ways that highlighted the primary issues or themes in their lives, which included living with HIV, gender, violence, HIV treatment, family, health, and survival (Morgan 2003; Solomon 2007). These expressive elements speak with considerable force about women's everyday realities and the need for sociopolitical change, and the tradition of drawing attention to the most powerful or readily accessible themes in the maps runs through many studies. This is not to say that all body mapping studies merely replicate the practices developed by Morgan and Solomon or that they focus on the same kinds of issues. Indeed, research teams and community agencies from around the world have adapted the original methodology to fit their needs/interests related to wide-ranging issues, including motherhood, sexuality, HIV disclosure (MacGregor and Mills 2011), individual and transactional narratives in pedagogical settings (Maina et al. 2014), post-colonial realities and struggles (Lu and Yuen 2012), exploitation and solidarity among undocumented workers (Gastaldo et al. 2012), and sociocultural constructions of the body that challenge biomedical knowledge and surveillance practices (MacGregor 2009).

The point I wish to make is that while the maps are central to these and other studies, they are framed as vehicles through which different kinds of lived experience are transmitted and are rarely the subject of in-depth analysis in and of themselves. This is an important issue that threads into the ultimate goal of body mapping and ethnography itself-that of understanding participants' lived experiences or 'emic' perspectives. On our participants' maps I saw so much more than insights about the primary themes that informed the study (i.e., HIV, addictions, gender, the body). I saw multifaceted stories within stories in the different layers within each map (i.e., the background, support figure, and main body figure of the participant), different modes of communication across these layers (i.e., symbolic and textual) and between participant groups, and the intense psychosocial and emotional work demanded of our participants as they went through the creative process. This illuminated the complexity of not just the method but the maps themselves, the breadth and depth of which I did not see analysed in the literature. This is particularly true for the men's experiences, which are rarely examined given that body mapping is a largely feminized methodology.

This chapter introduces the approach I developed to more fully account for the multiplicity of art data contained in our participants' maps, a task that was fueled, in part, by a sense of obligation. I felt like I owed it to our participant to push the analytical envelope, given the tremendous effort, time, and expanse of lived experience they poured into their creations, which represent nothing less than-as Georgia said—"Your life on a map. You know...From birth to now!" This task was also undertaken in the spirit of demonstrating the strength of this arts-based approach, alongside more established forms of scholarly inquiry that rely on textual or print-based knowledge. Arts-based ways of knowing are grounded in active, hands-on participation and personal connection that challenge dominant forms of knowledge, which is why they are often ascribed the status of 'subjugated' (Foucault 1980) or 'non-serious' knowledge, or simply ignored (Conquergood 2002). The inequities that structure the hierarchical world of knowledge classification need to be pushed in order to make new spaces for meaning making that can, as Conquergood (2002: 151) eloquently argues, "bridge segregated and differently valued knowledges, drawing together legitimated as well as subjugated modes of inquiry".

Ethnographic Insights: The "Axial Embodiment" Approach and Key Findings

The remainder of this chapter is devoted to unpacking the new approach to interpreting the body mapping findings that I developed, which I refer to as "axial embodiment". Along with a detailed discussion of the different constituent parts of this model, I include the participants' thoughts about how to make sense of body mapping, insights that are rarely seen in the literature. These data are followed by a discussion of the key study themes of HIV and HIV medications, taken from the interviews with participants, which rounds out this discussion.

The axial embodiment approach is influenced by pioneering anthropologist Douglas (1970), who argued that the body is not a natural symbol but our ideas about the body have become naturalized in particular ways depending upon the cultural context in which they are situated. This is due to the symbiotic links between the individual and the social body, which she describes as "a continual exchange of meanings between the two kinds of bodily experience so that each reinforces the categories of the other" (1970: 69). Going beyond the structural–functional theoretical frameworks of her time that generated interesting but somewhat lateral explanations of relationships between individual and social bodies, Douglas asserted that the vertical dimensions of analysis or those that focus on the structural axis of lived experience must be given more serious consideration.¹ To

¹Alongside more 'traditional' horizontal analyses that highlight relational themes within a given pattern, which she identified as different than her "analysis in depth" model (Douglas 1970: 75).

operationalize this approach she developed schematic, grid-like diagrams to capture the degree to which certain groups valued particular cultural phenomena, sometimes in relation to each other and at other times in relation to the social organization of the societies in question; thus bringing visual form to her innovative, in-depth approach to the analysis of symbolic and embodied experience across the social and individual body (see example below; Douglas 1970: 60).



Diagram 4 Grid and group

Reflecting upon the sheer volume² of items contained in each of the body maps and their incredibly diverse content and distribution across the layers of the maps, I was driven to develop an analytical approach that captures and makes sense of these data. In the absence of anything beyond the 'horizontal' or thematic/ relational interpretive focus in the body mapping literature, I developed a more rigorous system that considers the numerical/vertical (i.e., number of symbols and textual references across the different layers of the maps) and content/horizontal analytical axis of the mapping items. To achieve this, I counted each textual and symbolic item within each map layer, for each of the maps, and completed a numerical and content analyses of these data. During the analysis I reflected upon what the participants were communicating about, and how, an iterative process that was informed by feminist, critically oriented inquiries into the body as symbol and vehicle of expression (e.g. Farnell 2011; Martin 1994; Sontag 2001; Treichler 1999; Wolf 1992) as well as the relationship between the body, gender, and HIV/AIDS.

Being attentive to the multiplicity of embodied representations within the maps, including Douglas's individual and social body, as well as the body politic or "third body" was also central to the analysis (Schepher-Hughes and Lock 1987). Related to this is destabilizing the notion that there exists a singularly normative or complete corporeality and that the body is but a bounded, physical phenomenon or

 $^{^{2}}$ A staggering 561 textual and symbolic references on the women's six maps and 325 for the men's five maps, including those related to HIV/AIDS (see Table 3.1).

Name	Text on	Text on	Text on	Text	Images	Images on	Images on	Image
Ivanic	map	body	support	total	on map	body	support	total
Women								
Abby	21 [8]	4 [1]	6 [0]	31	3 [2]	9 [0]	5 [1]	17
Georgia	21 [11]	0 [0]	16 [2]	37	20 [8]	10 [2]	3 [0]	33
Sue	23 [15]	11 [3]	46 [2]	80	14 [4]	6 [0]	3 [0]	23
Tarah	12 [5]	4 [1]	11 [2]	27	15 [4]	9 [2]	3 [0]	27
Isabel	20 [1]	5 [1]	22 [3]	47	10 [1]	12 [0]	1 [0]	23
Rayna	6 [0]	0 [0]	8 [0]	14	10 [1]	5 [1]	3 [0]	18
Women	103	24	109	339	72	51	18	141
total Average	(17)	(4)	(18)	(56)	(12)	(9)	(3)	(24)
HIV/	40	6	9	55	20	5	1	26
AIDS [] Average	(6.7)	(1)	(1.5)	(9.2)	(3.3)	(0.8)	(-)	(4.3)
Men	1	1	1		1		1	
Ted	6 [2]	13 [4]	14 [2]	33	11 [1]	12 [3]	6 [0]	29
Luke	7 [0]	8 [0]	12 [1]	27	10 [1]	8 [0]	3 [0]	21
Andrew	7 [1]	25 [10]	21 [1]	53	25 [5]	8 [2]	4 [0]	37
Nolan	4 [1]	7 [0]	7 [1]	18	6 [3]	12 [1]	1 [0]	19
Evan	7 [2]	3 [2]	6 [0]	16	10 [0]	13 [2]	4 [0]	27
Men	31	56	60	147	62	53	18	133
total Average	(6)	(11)	(12)	(29)	(12)	(11)	(4)	(27)
HIV/	6	16	5	27	10	8	0	18
AIDS [] Average	(1.2)	(3.2)	(1)	(5.4)	(2)	(1.6)	(-)	(3.6)

Table 3.1 Numerical distribution of textual and symbolic images on the body maps

productive system (Martin 1992) that "ends at the skin" (Haraway 1990: 220). The body is created and known through a myriad of socio-economic, political, and sexual practices that are realized through the experience of embodiment, a transformative agential process through which subjectivity emerges both materially and emotionally (Shildrick 2015). Our participants have had to confront many oppressive and deeply stigmatizing experiences, stemming from colonialism, homophobia, poverty, addictions, and the acquisition of HIV/AIDS, and being attentive to how they express, sought to make sense of, and resist them through their art was also important.

I use the term "axial embodiment" to describe this approach because it reflects an attention to the vertical and horizontal analytical levels and because the metaphor of the axis, which denotes movement, relativity, and simultaneous moments of light and shadow, captures the complex embodied experiences our participants documented on their body maps. The philosophical study of axiology has an interesting place within qualitative and arts-based research, which was a discovery I made after developing the term "axial embodiment." It is a branch of inquiry that centres on 'values', specifically ethics and aesthetics, and is variously defined among the researchers who employ it. For some axiology emerges alongside ontology and epistemology as an

additional tool with which to validate arts-based research as 'real', 'true', and as having legitimate meaning within the arts and the sciences (Piantanida et al. 2003; Viega 2016). For other researchers the axiological lens focuses more pointedly on the ethical nature and conditions of relationships that structure research initiatives, particularly those with vulnerable populations (Liamputtong and Rumbold 2008). My particular rendering of axial embodiment is unique because it is intended to capture several axes of experience versus enhancing the status or evaluation of our participants' work. It also aligns with the insights of visual artist and pioneering arts-based scholar McNiff (2013: 3), who assesses the value of artistic inquiry by determining whether it is useful to other people and whether or not it sparks subsequent phases of "creative contagion and professional change".

To operationalize the analytical process, I begin with the textual and symbolic data on the three distinctive story levels contained within each map: the map itself (i.e., the background space); the body (i.e., the participant's body map), and the support figure (i.e., the second body on the maps). The textual and symbolic items on each story level are then counted and organized by content. The same is done for the HIV-specific textual references and symbolic imagery across each map layer. Thus, each map contains 12 locales of analysis: Text on map; Text on body; Text on support; Image on map; Image on body; Image on support; HIV text on map; HIV text on body; HIV text on support; HIV image on map, HIV image on body; and HIV image on support. When tabulating the number of textual and symbolic images on the maps, I counted '1' for each stand-alone word, phrase or sentence that constitutes a single or unified idea/statement/subject. For instance, "Darcy, Stew, Cary, Alexa & Me" count as '5' entries because each person is distinct, whereas the sentence "My son and myself have been undetectable for over 15 years" counts as 1 entry because these words are part of a singular statement. Similarly, a depiction of a house with trees around it or a series of arrows counts as '1', but closely clustered images of a cigarette, crack pipe, a bottle count as '3' because they are each unique items. The image below, which is a portion of the background layer of Sue's map, illustrates these principles:



When discerning the text and images related to HIV/AIDS, I used obvious references like 'HIV', the names of agencies and physicians who are in the HIV field, and red ribbons. I also relied upon the knowledge gleaned in the two workshops, in which some participants marked things that were specific to HIV/AIDS discretely or in highly symbolic format, which would not be immediately discernable (i.e., the white paint on Isabel's map that captures the idea of HIV as a "white man's disease" and Ted's "Desert Storm" reference that refers to a time when several members of his family received HIV diagnoses). These items are counted separately and included in the column totals, where I document the percentage of HIV references out of total textual and image items. When determining how the men and women compared to one another, the average in each category is used and not the raw score because the number of participants was not the same in each workshop.

The Enumerated Findings: A Gendered Analysis

On their maps, women use twice as many textual items compared to images, which is true for non-HIV and the HIV-related items. The most textual images appear on the Support figure, followed by On Map, and On Body. The difference between the number of items on Support and On Map is slim, but the On Body items are fraction of the others in this category. For the Images, the most items appear On Map, followed by On Body and On Support. The numbers in the three image categories are equally distal from one another, which is different than the spread across the Text categories. Among the men, their use of textual and image items was very similar, which is different than the women who had far more textual items than images. In the textual category the men scored highest in the On Support category, followed closely by On Body, and On Map. The distribution across the three textual categories is more even than among the women. In the Image categories, men scored highest in the On Map layer, followed very closely by On Body and then On Support. Compared to the women's spread across the image categories, the men's is a bit more evenly distributed.

In general, the men used more images than women did, not by a large margin but the difference is discernible. They scored higher than women in the two image categories of On Body and On Support. However, men also scored significantly higher than the women in one of the textual categories, that of On Body. The women scored higher than the men in two of the Text categories: On Map and On Support, and they had almost twice the total average of textual items than the men. Among the starkest difference between the men and women's scores was in the Text Category—with women scoring over two times as many Text on Map items as the men and the men scoring over twice as many Text on Body items as the women. Interestingly, the women and men had the same average number of Images on Map (n = 12) and were fairly close in their average in the other two Image categories. Among both groups, the textual and image items related to HIV/AIDS constitute a small fraction of the map items. This makes sense because of the approximately 20 questions in the workshops, only about six are specifically about HIV/AIDS. For both groups, the length of time living with HIV/AIDS is not correlated with the number of HIV-related textual or image items. As with the general trend women scored significantly higher than men for the number of textual items, with the exception of the On Body category, where the men scored higher. For the image items, women and men scored highest for the Images on Map category and lowest for Images on Support.

Content Analysis

Along with the numerical distribution of textual and image entries across the layers of each map, I wanted to analyse what the participants are communicating about and how they are doing this. My aim was to thematically code the contents of the Map, the Body, and the Support layers, using the visual and textual entries as the basis for the interpretation of what the participants are communicating about and how they express their various ideas, feelings, and experiences. Table 3.2 captures the dominant themes within and across the maps, which are organized by gender and by map layer, and Table 3.3 provides a succinct summary of the body mapping contents and communicative patterns across the sample.

	Women	Men
On map	HIV	HIV
-	Healing	Goals
	Addictions and other health conditions	Identity
	Identity	Journey
	Affirmative statements/slogans	Travel
	Journeys	Supports
	Supports	Addictions
	Travel	Affirmative statements
On body	Biological representations of internal body	HIV
•	Other health conditions	Addictions
	HIV	Sexuality/sex
	Marks	Healing and recovery
	Resilience statements/symbols	Marks
		Other health issues
		Cultural identity
		Travel
On support figure	Healing	Places
	Various people/supports	Various people/supports
	Nature	Love/heart
	Love/heart	

Table 3.2 Content analysis of primary textual and symbolic items on maps

Gender	Primary mode of expression	Dominant issues	Life issues featured	Emotive engagement	Data consistency
Women	Textual	Culture, addictions, HIV/AIDS, health, healing, relationships	Comprehensive, contextual	Emotionally reflexive	Coherence in terms of what they say and how
Men	Symbolic	Addictions, HIV/AIDS, sexuality, mental health, self-acceptance	Comprehensive and select issues, sense of immediacy/ongoing struggle	Some are detached, some very introspective	Diversity in terms of what they say and how

Table 3.3 Overview of primary body mapping data and communication patterns

On Map

Women and men feature similar themes on this layer of their maps, including HIV, identity, addictions, affirmative statements, future goals, and meaningful people, places, and animals. A unique feature of the women's themes on this map layer is a focus on healing and other health conditions, which are not seen on this layer of the men's maps. However, the men's maps feature more prominent expressions related to life goals that could be connected with healing and change, and they are concrete examples of future desires (e.g., getting married, going back to school, buying a house, travel, making restorative connections). The women's maps contain more expressions of connectivity and the relationships between different aspects of their healing journeys than the men's. The way the men and women express their experiences with HIV is also very different. The women provide more in-depth accounts of their lived experiences prior to diagnosis, life with HIV, and examples of positive outcomes/transformations associated with HIV, while the men focus more on learning their status, treatment, and stigma.

Many experiences that are specific to being Indigenous are featured on this layer of the women's maps, including symbols related to healing/medicine wheels, connections with family, and being involved in Indigenous-specific HIV/AIDS agencies and programs. More painful aspects of colonization also surface, including Georgia's reference to a residential school (Kuper Island),³ Tarah's white footprints across her map that symbolize being raised in a white family, and Isabel's depictions of the different state institutions she and her family have experienced (i.e., residential schools, incarceration, foster system) that run along the bottom of her map.

³Which was referred to as 'Alcatraz' by those who were forced to go there.

On Body

Both groups of participants feature experiences related to HIV, marks or scars, other health conditions, and resilience/self-care on this map layer. Regarding HIV/AIDS, all of the women mark this experience by highlighting the outlines and boundaries of their body, which have been ruptured by the virus, along with their internal bloodlines, and many document the bodily effects of HIV (e.g., memory loss, kidney failure). Among the men, three out of five signify HIV as being present on/in their bodies and include issues like their diagnosis date/conditions, medications, and infection journeys. A unique feature of this layer of the women's maps is their inclusion of biological representations of their internal bodies, including organs, which is only seen in one of the men's maps. Many of the health conditions identified by the women illuminate the connections between gender and health. such as HPV (human papillomavirus) and menopause, versus conditions like COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease) or OCD (Obsessive Compulsive Disorder) on the men's maps; which are not tied as strongly to gender. This layer of the men's maps features more items than the women's, including several unique issues related to sex, sexuality, and being gay, and it is clear that the men tell the strongest stories through their bodies.

On Support Figure

Most of the items marked on the women and men's support figures refer to family and friends as well as HIV-related providers and agencies. Animals and nature are also featured on both sets of maps, as are indications of love, most often symbolized by whole or broken hearts. While the men include more references to spaces/places, namely friends and community-based agencies, the references on the women's maps relate more strongly to healing and along with the names of family often include the names of certain HIV physicians.

Interpretive Insights of the Participants

Women

Our participants had interesting insights about how the body maps could or should be interpreted, which for the women posed certain challenges because the process is complex and the meaning of the items featured are not always discernable. As Georgia said, "It's hard to describe! Gosh, I'd have to sit down for 10 min and try to explain it to them. I guess it's just your life on a map. You know...From birth to now!" Although very enthusiastic about the mapping process, Isabel also found it difficult to describe:

I've been trying to describe it and I usually just say: 'It's to do with your past... and what's making you take your meds and what's making you want to take your meds!!! It's... looking at'.... I don't know, I can't explain it!...You've just got to look at it and you just got to do it yourself...You know, it's interesting. It's the thrill of doing something different...Plus, I think it's good to get away for four days and just be involved in yourself.

Abby also found it tough to define the maps, but like Isabel she said that with a visual example she could explain it more easily: "I had a hard time with the explaining! But I said, 'When I get the picture I will show you!'" Tarah said she is enjoying telling people about it, however, the links between HIV and body mapping may be something she shares only with people who are already knowledgeable about these issues:

I'm having fun explaining it to people!.. 'You have to start off with – you draw yourself with a picture, an outline of your body on a six- foot poster'. I explained it all to my mom-she's more receptive about [it]... and how it relates to HIV or taking meds.

When discussing these issues with the women we asked them if including the one-page stories they crafted,⁴ which summarize what the body mapping experience was like for them and what they hope the viewers 'see' in their maps, would make interpreting the maps easier. Rayna indicated that this might be helpful and drew parallels between this and the way art is displayed in galleries: "Maybe for other people have...you know, something to explain it. But to me, myself, I can see. I can see so much without explaining...I've been to Art Gallery. They always have a little introduction or something about the painting". Georgia concurred and drew attention to the sociomoral work that the stories could perform, namely reducing the stigma associated with HIV and people living with the virus:

I think that's a good idea....I don't think they'd understand, you know, just looking at that...Then maybe you might have a chance, you know? But if somebody is still closed-minded around HIV and all, they probably wouldn't understand nothing.

Sue oscillates between appreciating the 'magic' of an unmediated presentation of the maps and being uncertain about having an outsider interpret her work lest it collide with her intentions:

I really don't know how people interpret it... I think that that's the whole magic of it, you know? They might see a part of themselves in there. It may help them. It could be interpreted in a whole different way and so sometimes it would be good to hear... I don't know if I really want to hear what they have to say. Because if it isn't what I really meant, but it could be really helpful!

⁴Which were part of the follow-up interviews and designed to summarize, in their own words, what their mapping experience was like and what they hope those who view their maps 'see'.

Men

Most of the men did not talk about trying to define or summarize body mapping and their discussions related to interpretation focused on the positive outcomes of the mapping experience. Ted was an exception in this regard and he indicated that without some kind of explanation or the one-page stories those viewing the maps could be confused or unable to make full sense of them. To address this, he suggested taking people on a 'tour' of the maps, which is something he regularly does when people ask about his map (which is stored in a visible space at his workplace) and what it means:

It would be cool if somebody else could read it and know what it all means. But that just won't happen...You actually need to be taken on a tour of somebody's body map...I think it's important to have some sort of a description or an explanation...So people will know what they're looking at.

The other men provided moving accounts about the transformative effects of the methodology and how it contributed to their healing journeys. Here, Nolan draws attention to the special power of art to reveal different sides of ourselves to each other:

Body mapping was a way to take a good look at myself and to face some of my fears...It helped me.... because I didn't do it alone.... I was able to learn from other people and see sides to them....That sometimes we're afraid to show. And I think it's easier to show other sides of ourselves through art...I think it's a way for the soul.... It's a way to bring the different parts of ourselves together and to sort of vocalize it. But without saying it.

Andrew expressed a deep affinity for the process, which he identified as supportive and unique in making room for considerations of the complex impact of time on lived experience:

It's about getting into yourself in a real, physical space...I would say it's about taking an inventory. A personal inventory over time. It's not a point in time – it spans over time, both past and into also future, in terms of what your goals and aspirations or what your intentions are for your life... So each process was about a time and sometimes, parts of the process link time. And I really love that. I think the process was a brilliant one that facilitated taking that inventory...And...it didn't leave you hanging.

Evan also discussed body mapping in relation to what he was able to receive from the workshop, which emerged as a shining moment in his sometimes difficult life:

The body mapping experience was exceptional, emotional, not-so-time-consuming, fun and an opportunity to meet other people ...For me, HIV is not just a mind-fuck, but a cluster fuck. [But] with the support of my doctors, I know that I have a bright 'glittering' future ahead of me.

Key Study Themes: HIV and HIV Medications

I do not have the space to include all of our findings related to HIV and HAART (highly active antiretroviral therapy), however, this section includes some of the most salient themes related to these important issues that emerged in the interviews and my fieldnotes.⁵ Along with the axial embodiment analysis of the body maps discussed above, these data add considerable richness to our already layered understandings of how the virus and HAART configure, shape, and complicate the everyday lives of our study participants.

HIV/AIDS

Women

When Tricia went through the steps for today [day three of the workshop]and said that HIV is the focus, there was an immediate change in the women's mood. Sue turned her chair around so that her back was to the group, looked down, looked sad mixed with anxiety and resolve, and I think she may have shed a few tears. The first exercise was to put what it was like when the women received their positive HIV test results. They all paused for some time on their chairs before beginning and a couple of them commented about this being hard, and that they didn't know what to put down or how to put down what was in their heads. As Tricia noted, the air felt sort of tense today. She also said that the women didn't talk too much about why it was tense (Fieldnotes, May 5, 2012).

Living with HIV is a life-changing process that is realized within a shifting set of experiences and realities that change over time according to the unique contours of people's lives. While most of the women have been HIV positive for many years, even decades, they spoke about this aspect of life in very charged ways that resurrected the trauma associated with their status, the conditions surrounding their infection, and the lingering moral stain that is cast upon those with HIV. As Rayna said:

Your life it's attached to a lot of things, like how you get HIV... It's so bloody...Like on the street, it's so bloody. You're working on the street...It took me six, seven years to basically accept that I'm a HIV Positive. Didn't even tell my family until I got in hospital last year. Not even my mom and dad.

Isabel described a host of competing and interwoven feelings related to learning her HIV status, including anger, self-pity, and using it to repel people:

⁵Which come primarily from our interactions with the women participants who we were, as discussed in Chap. 2, able to maintain a longer and more extensive connections with compared to the men.

I used to feel really, really sorry for myself. Like, 'poor me, I have this disease...'cause you go through that when you find out that you have HIV...I wanted to be sick and I wanted to be angry! It was just really bizarre! It was just, you know, wanting to attack people. I told everybody, 'I don't give a shit who you are! Yeah, I've got HIV!'

Abby focused less on the visceral outcomes of her HIV positive status and more about how it is linked with feelings of owning her status and knowing who she is: "I see it as, this is how I live with HIV. Not any woman in particular, but me, just me." Another woman, Georgia, reflected on how the body maps illustrate the temporal journey people travel when living with the virus, including how they contracted it, its effects, and using this information to further people's knowledge of HIV:

You get to see how people got the virus, and how they coped with it, and how they're dealing with it. And you get to put that on statistics, whatever, and you know, for the future. I think it's a good idea, to see what went on with the time going by as, you know, age with the Virus, the HIV and how it affects somebody."

Sue's insights reflect her biological knowledge about HIV, which has been demonstrated to 'live' for long periods of time in spinal fluid and what could be termed folk understandings of the virus's behaviour- referring to how it 'hides' in certain parts of the body.⁶ Speaking about the large splotches of paint in the upper portions of her body on the map, she said: "The HIV Virus, the heart and in the head, because I think that's where it's hitting me more. They say it lives in the spinal fluid, so that's why it's chunky up there 'cause that's where I think it's really hiding."

Men

The men's discussions of HIV focused less on traumatic experiences and more on coming to terms with being positive and finding ways to resist dominant discourses and testing practices related to HIV. When talking about disclosure Andrew drew attention to its multiplicity, and how it includes the ways that he tells others about his HIV status as well as the processes through which he is learning to self-identify as being HIV positive. In the following excerpt he engages with these issues reflexively and asks questions of himself, HIV, and his body map, each of which is integral to his evolving journey:

This [his map] is a disclosure to myself. It brings up issues around disclosure and these are things that I face at work....The reason HIV is a connection... How does this live, now that I have this Map in my possession?It's something that I own?...It goes back to my... that I am HIV Positive. I see disclosure as a process. As a journey, it's not a destination. So this is part of the journey and I'm glad I have it.

Disrupting certain symbols and terms used in mainstream HIV discourse are important in Ted's personal life and work in the field of HIV/AIDS service

⁶Which brings to mind Sontag's discussion, early on in the AIDS epidemic (as it was called), of how the virus was often described as "lurking" in certain parts of the body (2001: 107–108).

provision. The traditional looped "red ribbon" that denotes HIV/AIDS appears on his map as a straggly, undone cord laid atop the phrase "STIGMA SUX", which was done purposively: "I entitled my Map: 'Stigma Sucks' because...My son lives with a great amount of stigma. You know, internalized stigma. So to me, that's why stigma sucks". He also critiques a keystone phrase developed in the late 1990s that was intended to foster greater inclusiveness of HIV positive peoples in research and activism, that of "living with HIV". He explains why he does not like this term and placed the following statement on his map instead, "I don't live with HIV. HIV lives with me. I am the boss. I am the landlord of my own body":

Many years ago, when I was first diagnosed I learned the term "Living with HIV." I've never liked that term... I was here first and if I live with something, then I live under their rule, whereas if they live with me they live under my rule. That's why if I was ever to get married, we would get a house together rather than have that person live with me, or have me live with that person...That way, 'It's our house.' But in this case, this is my body!...I have more control.

Evan shared interesting insights that reflect how biomedical knowledge of HIV and symbols of popular culture come together in his ideas about the virus. The Pac-man symbol in the middle of his map represents his spleen and is described in the following way: "The Pac Man...They go around and they munch up viruses. I chose this symbol because when I was first tested for HIV and then found out that I was positive, I envisioned many Pac-men chasing the virus throughout my body". The belief that the spleen can play a role in mitigating HIV spread has some medical validity because of this organ's ability (along with other lymphatic tissues) to absorb or slow aspects of the viral replication process (Li et al. 2014). However, Evan may have also selected this symbol because it captures the time of his diagnosis—the early 1990s—when this video game about a little yellow figure eating pellets and avoiding ghosts to save his own life was popular.

HIV Medications

Women

One of the exercises was for the women to draw how they take care of themselves, including their medications. I overheard Tarah, as she stood in front of all the paints, saying "I see all the pills in all the colours." She seemed confused or uncertain as to the colours and kinds of her pills. At one point she poured out the pills she'd brought into her hand and painted those on her map. Most of the women drew the individual pills they take, and several also drew pot leaves because the majority of them smoke weed for pain. Tricia made an interesting point, that the women seem to have limited knowledge about what kinds of medications they are on and maybe also what they do in the body. I wondered how important it was for them to know the complete pharmacology of their medicines. Maybe they know "just enough", as has been demonstrated in other studies, they have their own way of internalizing and using prescribed medical information, or they 'simply' don't know (Fieldnotes, May 4, 2012).

This fieldnote excerpt reveals the women's uncertainty about and incomplete knowledge of their medications, including their effects on the body. Some indicated that although they do not know very much about their medications, they just follow their doctor's prescriptive advice: "I don't know all the side effects from the medications ...and what the medication even does to me. I'm just taking it...'cause the doctor says so! Maybe if I did my own research, I'd think different" (Georgia). Tarah discussed feeling like an experimental subject, referring specifically to the side effects women experience from HIV medications⁷: "We're usually the ones that end up being the guinea pigs and finding out the hard way or watching other people do it the hard way, and then saying, 'you know, maybe I shouldn't do that!"" The women were very interested in taking part in an additional workshop that focused specifically on their medications, which was held a few months after the mapping workshop. Sue, who experiences significant medical problems related to menopause and her HIV treatment, was particularly enthusiastic about this:

I would like that [a treatment workshop] because a lot of times we don't know what we're finding out about ourselves. I've been learning so much more about Menopause now... So why don't we get together and do something about it?!.. Or somebody that will even listen to our symptoms. I had heart palpitations and didn't know that was part of Menopause! I was scared to death, I thought I was having a heart attack...I talked to a few people and Googled heart palpitations and who do I get but Oprah Winfrey!

The women also expressed conflicting feelings about their medications, which help keep them healthy but also make them sick in debilitating, sometimes traumatic ways that bely the temporary discomfort connoted by the term "side effects". Georgia talked about the negative health outcomes associated with her medications and feeling caught between wanting to live and being scared by the medications that help her survive:

I'm only taking five per day....I'm starting to get side effects from, I don't know which one of them, but it's tingling in the feet, and neuropathy. In the mornings, most of the time I have a burning sensation in my stomach...It's affecting my memory big time. Sometimes I can't even remember what I did yesterday...It's just terrifying... I guess if I want to live, I gotta take these medications. Yeah. It's a catch 22.

Sue used the metaphor of a battle to describe the embodied and psychosocial conflict she feels because of the medications which, like Georgia, involve reflections on life and death:

The memory loss. The dreams. That's all pill-activated...What's going on in your body? I really have a battle, like all these chemicals going in my body...Do I really want to continue that? Do I want to go on natural stuff? It's a real conflict...I don't want to risk dying...I stay on the pills because I want to live for [her family]...I'm alive and happy, so let's leave it at that.

⁷Which have, as discussed in Chap. 2, been developed to respond to the [White] male body/physiology.
Isabel also situated taking medications within the realm of living or dying and juxtaposed being sick from HIV meds with being sick from addictions, revealing another layer of complicated feelings associations with HAART: "You know, the meds are hard to do...But what's a little pain or a little discomfort for half a day, or a day, or I mean you got diarrhea for a few days? It's better than being dope-sick or hung over... or sick in the hospital and dying". Rayna drew attention to the importance that people place on pills and how much they know about them, along with the role that emotions, fears, and addictions have in shaping whether or not medications are taken:

One of the things really important is not only how do we feel about the pills; how important we think the pill is... A lot of people don't really care!...They don't want to talk about it... They're so nervous. They tell their friends, you know their friends gonna run away... They're too busy doing drugs. They don't have time to go to the clinic to pick up the pills or forgetting all together.

Men

Three of the five men in our study are on HIV medications, some for short periods and others for longer stretches of time. Ted has been on HAART and many other medications in the years that HIV has lived with him, as reflected in the approximately fifty individual pills scattered throughout the centre of his body map. Being regularly compliant with his treatment regime is not central to the management of his HIV and he chose to represent medications as a basic lived reality, nothing more: "Those are all my meds. I've been on many meds over the years. So I just had to acknowledge them. There's no rhyme or reason to them, because I've never been very compliant!"

The other two participants discussed medication in terms of taking care of themselves and as part of their identities as HIV positive men. As Nolan said, "Something that is important in my self-care routine is taking my medication, seeing my doctors and discussing with my counsellors how I honestly feel about being HIV positive." Medications figure prominently on Andrew's map, within a triangular symbol that has information about CD4 counts, Viral Loads, their pharmacological contents, and a huge silver 'check mark' in the centre. His relationship with these medications is thick with competing, powerful meanings and, like learning to live with HIV, he has transitioned through different stages as he gets used to taking them. Here he describes his initial fears and how they were assuaged by the trusting relationship he developed with his doctor:

I had lots of preconceived notions of meds and what they do....Without sounding horrible, but terms I heard, like 'The AIDS look'... The wizened... atrophying of the muscles and then the fat distortions...I would see people like that I would think...Like, not 'Eeeuw', but 'I don't want that'... Luckily I have a really good Physician...I chose to stay with her because when I met her I disclosed my addiction and said: 'I want you to keep track of this with me ...I'm becoming accountable to you.'

In this next excerpt Andrew takes us through, in intimate and emotive detail, what it was like to take his first round of HIV medications—a touchstone moment when many feelings and new realities collided:

I remember the first day I took meds...Rationally, I could get the prescription. I could pick it up and I could put it on the table... but to take that first.... I cried! It wasn't because of the fear, it was the whole recognition of where I am today and I have to do this for life. Part of it might have been a pity party. It was painful. Today, I take my meds... I'm not perfect at it but I always come back to - it's part of taking care of myself.

Discussion

I developed the axial embodiment approach at the heart of this chapter to document the wealth of information contained in our participants' maps and make sense of them in a way that goes deeper than the analyses featured in most body mapping studies, which focus on macro level themes like HIV, medications, health, family, personal journeys, and future aspirations. This approach allowed me to identify the array of issues/events that matter in the participants' lives, where and when within their layered lives they occurred and acquired significance, and also how their modes of communicating are shaped by gender. To operationalize this quasi-mixed methods approach, I looked very closely at what the maps are made of in terms of their symbolic and textual references and then proceeded to: (1) Enumerate these items by type and mapping layer (i.e., background, support figure, body layer); (2) Organize them visually (i.e., Maps 1.2, 1.3, and 1.4) to illuminate the unique characteristics and content of each layer; (3) Conduct a content analysis of the different map layers, based on their symbolic and textual content; and (4) Employ a gendered lens throughout this process.

The two sets of maps reveal similar kinds of information on the support figure/layer: people and places, love/heart, and for the women nature is also important, while for the men particular agencies emerge as important. However, the background and personal body layers reveal differences in the number of textual and symbolic references and their content. For the women, the background layer features far more items than the body layer, whereas for the men the number of items are distributed more equally. In terms of content, for the women issues related to the body, health, life before their HIV diagnosis figure prominently on the background layer and HIV is present but not immediately front and centre. Whereas among the men, their body layer contains emotive references to struggles with addictions, sexuality, cultural identity, and HIV is prominent; represented by specific references (i.e., diagnosis dates, infection journeys, stigma). Interestingly, the issues the men marked on their body layer align very closely with those that the women mapped onto the background layer, which may signal that among the men these difficult issues are more immediate and are having a particularly significant impact on their bodies—as the chosen layer/embodied medium through which they are expressed. These 'enumerated' findings correspond to patterns in the interview data, namely how the men discuss addictions and mental health issues more often than the women, as facets of life they are more directly engaged in. In contrast, most women do not raise these issues as often as immediate or pressing life issues, likely due to the fact that most are no longer using drugs and are engaged in therapeutic counselling and Indigenous health practices as part of their healing journeys.

The difference in communication patterns between the participants, namely that women use textual references twice as often as men and men use symbolic references far more often, is another unique finding. Determining what this might mean is challenging given the small sample size and the fact that examples of how gender shapes non-verbal forms of communication are nonexistent in the arts-based literature. However, one could infer that the use of text is a specific or precise mode of expression, whereas the use of symbols may be a less exacting or more indirect form of communication. That women use more textual items may signal their desire for more accurate or specific messaging. Men's use of symbols could be connected with their attempts to capture different experiences that are still raw or not yet dealt with. This corresponds with insights in the content analysis and interview data, which demonstrate that for the men certain issues (i.e., addictions, sexual identity, HIV) are more immediate and troubling compared to the women. What is particularly compelling about these findings is that they are diametrically opposed to those featured in gender communication studies, where men are framed as using textual references, which are thought to convey precision and agential power, far more often than women (Kimbrough et al. 2013; Siegman and Feldstein 2009). Further exploration of how gender structures communication patterns in projects that rely on enacted creativity, versus strictly verbal or textual approaches, could confirm (or contest) these study findings and represents an exciting area of research.

Another strength of the axial embodiment approach is that it is firmly rooted in participants' lived experience. By this, I mean that counting and organizing of the mapping contents relies on no external model, quantitative, text-based, or qualitative for that matter, and is quite strictly a counting of what the maps 'say'. The same is true of the content analysis of these data, which is also guided by what the maps 'say'. That I was present during the creation of the maps increases the likelihood that my interpretation of what the symbols and textual references mean are correct. These aspects of the approach can go a long way to reduce researcher-driven interpretations and strengthen data validity and credibility, issues that are often deemed to be lacking in arts-based research and one of the reasons it is assigned labels like 'non-scientific' (Conquergood 2002; Liamputtong and Rumbold 2008; McNiff 2013). Including the participants' perspectives about the ways in which body mapping can be explained or interpreted, and the kinds of experiences it can produce or enables individuals to experience, are additional participant-generated insights that are unique within the body mapping and arts-based literature.

Analysis is one aspect of arts-based research that is open to endless possibilities because of the diverse nature of this field and the lack of systematic analysis, an exception being Photovoice. I found the process of developing the axial embodiment approach challenging, but also very exciting because it enabled me to get more out of the maps—something that one of the participants, Luke, commented on when describing how body mapping is unique compared to other research approaches: "I think this has more facets to it...I mean it has more, you guys are trying to get more of us out of it". This was a particularly important part of the overall project, which hopefully helps to refine the method and fully account for the tremendous work and life experiences the women and men put into their maps. Suggestions by others in the arts-based field may also be helpful for practitioners or arts-based enthusiasts who wish to enhance the analysis of their art data. Issues to consider, particularly during the planning stage, include determining the role that art can and should play in the research: "What is it we want it to do?" (Viega 2016: 34); "Are we searching for what is symbolic through the visual or what is intersubjective in relation to its social action?" (McIntosh 2010: 167). These decisions need not constrain or standardize the uniquely expressive, beautiful nature of arts-based research, which remains open to a great deal of interpretation. However, further exploration is important so that we can follow and understand the patterns in the images, rather than just viewing them in the hope that something will emerge (McIntosh 2010: 168).

References

- Arbus, D. 1972. Diane Arbus: An aperture monograph. New York: Distributed Art Publishers.
- Banks, M., and J. Ruby (eds.). 2011. *Made to be seen: Perspectives on the history of visual anthropology*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Conquergood, D. 2002. Performance studies: Interventions and radical research. *The Drama Review* 46(2): 145–156.
- Douglas, M. 1970. Natural symbols: Exploration in cosmology. London: Barrie & Rockliff.
- Farnell, B. 2011. Theorizing "the body". In Visual culture, made to be seen: Perspectives on the history of visual anthropology, ed. M. Banks, and J. Ruby, 136–158. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Foucault, M. 1980. *Power/knowledge*. Edited by C. Gordon. Translated by C. Gordon, L. Marshall, J. Mepham, and K. Soper. New York: Pantheon.
- Futch, V., and M. Fine. 2014. Mapping as a method: History and theoretical commitments. *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 11: 42–59.
- Gastaldo, D., C. Carrasco, and Magalhaes, L. 2012. Entangled in a web of exploitation and solidarity. Retrieved from http://www.migrationealth.ca/undocumented-workers-ontario/ summary-findings.
- Guillemin, M., and C. Westall. 2008. Gaining insight into women's knowing of postnatal depression using drawings. In *Knowing differently: Arts-based and collaborative research methods*, edited by P. Liamputtong and J. Rumbold, 121–139. NYC: Nova Science Publishers.
- Guillemin, M., and S. Drew. 2010. Questions of process in participant-generated visual methodologies. *Visual Studies* 25(2): 175–188.
- Haraway, D. 1990. A cyborg manifesto: Science, technology, and socialist-feminism in the 1980s. In *Feminism/postmodernism*, ed. L. Nicholson, 291–324. New York: Routledge.
- Hockings, P., K. Tomaselli, J. Ruby, D. MacDougall, D. Williams, A. Piette, M. Schwarz, and S. Carta. 2014. Discussion: Where is the theory in visual anthropology. *Visual Anthropology* 27: 436–456.

- Kimbrough, A., R. Guadagno, N. Muscanell, and J. Dill. 2013. Gender differences in mediated communication: Women connect more than do men. *Computers in Human Behavior* 29: 896–900.
- Knowles, J., and A. Cole (eds.). 2008. *Handbook of the arts in qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Learmonth, M., and K. Huckvale. 2012. The feeling of what happens: A reciprocal investigation of inductive and deductive processes in art experiment. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health* 3(2): 97–108.
- Leavy, P. 2009. Method meets art: Arts-based research practice. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Li, G., M. Cheng, J. Nunoya, L. Cheng, H. Guo, H. Yu, Y. Liu, L. Su, and L. Zhang. 2014. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells suppress HIV-1 replication but contribute to HIV-1 induced immunopathogenesis in humanized mice. *PLOS Pathogens*. 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004291. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/.
- Liamputtong, P., and J. Rumbold. 2008. Knowing differently: Setting the scene. In *Knowing differently: Arts-based and collaborative research*, ed. P. Liamputtong, and J. Rumbold, 1–23. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- Lu, L., and F. Yuen. 2012. Journey women: Art therapy in a decolonizing framework of practice. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 39: 192–200.
- MacGregor, H. 2009. Mapping the body: Tracing the personal and political dimensions of HIV/AIDS in Khayelitsha. South Africa, Anthropology & Medicine 16(1): 85–95.
- MacGregor, H., and E. Mills. 2011. Framing rights and responsibilities: Accounts of women with a history of AIDS activism. *Bio Med Central International Health & Human Rights* 11(S7): 1–11.
- Maina, G., L. Sutankayo, R. Chorney, and V. Caine. 2014. Living with and teaching about HIV: Engaging nursing students through body mapping. *Nurse Education Today* 34(4): 643–647.
- Martin, E. 1992. The end of the body? American Ethnologist 19(1): 121-140.
- Martin, E. 1994. Flexible bodies: The role of immunity in American culture from the days of polio to the age of AIDS. Boston: Beacon Press.
- McIntosh, P. 2010. The puzzle of metaphor and voice in arts-based social research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 13(2): 157–169.
- McNiff, S. 2013. Opportunities and challenges in art-based research. In Art as research: *Opportunities and challenges*, ed. S. McNiff, 1–4. Bristol UK/Chicago, USA: Intellect Ltd.
- Morgan, J., and The Bambanani Women's Group. 2003. *Long life: Positive HIV stories*. Sydney, AU: Double Story Books.
- Packard, J. 2008. 'I'm gonna show you what it's really like out here': The power and limitation of participatory visual methods. *Visual Studies* 23(1): 63–77.
- Piantanida, M., P. McMahon, and N. Garman. 2003. Sculpting the contours of arts-based educational research within a discourse community. *Qualitative Inquiry* 9(2): 182–191.
- Pink, S. 2003. Interdisciplinary agendas in visual research: Re-situating visual anthropology. Visual Studies 18(2): 179–192.
- Schepher-Hughes, N., and M. Lock. 1987. The mindful body: A prolegomenon to future work in medical anthropology. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 1(1): 6–41.
- Shildrick, M. 2015. "Why should our bodies end at the skin?": Embodiment, boundaries, and somatechnics. *Hypatia* 30(1): 13–29.
- Siegman, A., and S. Feldstein, ed. 2009. Non-Verbal Behavior and Communication, 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Solomon, J. 2007. "Living with X": A body mapping journey in the time of AIDS. Johannesburg: REPSSI.
- Sontag, S. 2001. *Illness as metaphor and AIDS and its metaphors*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Spencer, S. 2011. Visual Research Methods in the Social Sciences, Oxon, OX: Routledge.
- Sutton-Brown, C. 2014. Photovoice: A methodological guide. *Photography and Culture* 7(2): 169–185.

- Treichler, P. 1999. *How to have theory in an epidemic: Cultural chronicles of AIDS*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Viega, M. 2016. Science as art: Axiology as a central component in methodology and evaluation of arts-based research (ABR). *Music Therapy Perspectives* 34(1): 4–13.
- Wang, C., and Burris, M. 1997. Photovoice: Concept, methodology, and use for participatory needs assessment. *Health Education & Behaviour*, 24: 369–387.
- Wang, C. 1999. Photovoice: A participatory action research strategy applied to women's health. Journal of Women's Health 8(2): 185–192.
- Wolf, M. 1992. A thrice-told tale: Feminism, postmodernism & ethnographic responsibility. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Chapter 4 To Change and Be Changed: Transformative Research Experiences

Art is the concrete representation of our most subtle feelings. Agnes Martin (1996: 12) Vulnerability is the shared condition of becoming. Schildrick (2002: 133)

Exploring the Embodied, Political, and Aesthetic Dimensions of Transformative Research

During my twenty years of community-based ethnographic research I have worked with diverse groups of people in Canadian Indigenous reserve communities, women in sex work in rural south India, and men and women living in poor urban neighbourhoods, and each of these experiences has been deeply meaningful personally and professionally. During the present project I was struck by how transformative the research experience seemed to be for the participants, and myself. The meanings the women and men attributed to the body maps are rich and multi-layered, and it was as though they were re-fashioning themselves through their creation. I observed them taking emotional and creative control over the bumpy terrains of time, space, and the embodied contours of their lives as they confronted their pasts, made certain events explode with colour, and charted future goals. During the follow-up interviews they discussed how taking part in the workshops set in motion the participation in new kinds of employment, volunteer and research opportunities, and how it reminded them of their self-importance as well as the need to take care of themselves. Thus, the body maps emerged as embodied compasses and socio-emotional and material records of their lives, and by using them and the overall research experience to reformulate their relationship with themselves they are interactive tools of transformation.

The theme of transformation emerged strongly across both sets of participants and it captures the profound impact this project had on me personally and as a researcher. This chapter explores these issues, with a focus on the participants' insights about the therapeutic nature of the body mapping process and how the research experience sparked changes in them individually and socially, as a shared

T. Orchard, *Remembering the Body*, SpringerBriefs in Anthropology and Ethics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49861-4 4

experience that bound them together and restructured particular relationships. I also discuss how this project was cathartic in my life, which is not meant to be an indulgent self-confessional exercise (Bowtell et al. 2013; Pillow 2003) but a celebration of the meaningful human connections that can be fostered during research that is life-changing (See also Hodgins 2014; Learmonth and Huckvale 2012; Levine 2011). To contextualize these data, I begin by tracing some of the constituent methodological and experiential factors that make arts-based work, including that which relates to HIV/AIDS activism, uniquely transformative.

One of the most significant aspects of arts-based research is its empowering and emancipatory potential. This stems in part from the transfer of creative license and power from researchers to participants, whose work not only captures their lived experiences but is considered of equal value alongside other kinds of data (Barone and Eisner 2011; Leavy 2009; Packard 2008; Pink 2001). Given the special power of art to both generate and assuage certain experiences this kind of work allows people to channel events and memories, including those that have been silenced due to trauma or structural oppression, and release them in ways that are therapeutic and constructive (Bagnoli 2009; Barone and Eisner 2011; Chilton 2013; Crawford 2010; Huss 2007; Lu and Yuen 2012). Although this is sometimes referred to as 'giving voice' to participants (Guillemin and Drew 2010: 177; Mand 2012), this term is somewhat problematic because it implies that participants possess agential power and the ability to express themselves only when these things are given to them or directed by researchers. Against this idea are studies that explore how encouraging participants to tell their own stories through photography, drawing, or body mapping is an empowering experience, as exemplified in the South African Long Life Project (Morgan 2003) and Gastaldo et al. (2012) study with Latin American undocumented workers in Canada.

Additional examples of the transformative nature of arts-based research are found in work that combines the arts with on-going sociopolitical struggles and therapeutic practice. As discussed in the Introduction, the HIV-specific model of body mapping emerged as a tool of collective healing, of memorializing, and a way to make visible the experiences of people whose lives were devastated by the epidemic. Women were using their own bodies and those created through body mapping to speak out politically for better health care services, access to HIV medications, and for the healing of their communities, families, and their own selves (Devine 2008; MacGregor 2009). This politicization through the arts did not occur in a bubble, however, and without the dedicated community therapists, artists and researchers who guided the women through this process it might not have been as powerful an experience. Indeed, many arts-based researchers note that the inter-subjective nature of these methodologies, which induce deep personal connections as well as vulnerability for participants and researchers, is part of their transformative power (Hogan and Pink 2010; Levine 2011; Potash 2013). As art critic and historian Amelia Jones (1998: 34) says about the link between environment and the actualization of the body-subject, the body is not self-contained in its meaningfulness and the ways it is received plays a critical role in the transformation from body into subject.

Activism is another vital context that contributes to subject and meaning-making in the world of art, and it is one of the most important tools used by those living with HIV and their allies to fight for sociopolitical and legislative change and human rights. The AIDS Memorial Quilt, which is the world's largest community art project, is one of the most evocative and politically important examples. Recognizing the need to publicly document and remember the gay men and others who were dying early in the epidemic, often alone in shame and fear, American LGBT activist Cleve Jones began making quilt panels¹ with the names, photos, and symbolic elements reflective of those lost (Jones and Dawson 2000; Shilts 1987). In 1987 he founded the NAMES Project Foundation² and organized one of the landmark rallies and showings of the quilt in the Washington Mall, near the Lincoln Memorial and within close proximity to both the White House and the Vietnam Veterans Memorial (Hawkins 1993). As a collective shroud, community fabric, and shared cry in the face of the national tragedy of AIDS and political apathy shown to its victims, on that day the quilt and its creators made history.

A tremendous amount has been written about the complex role of the quilt³ and other memorial arts projects within the HIV/AIDS movement, as tools of consciousness-building, as ways to raise private funds in times of austerity and sociopolitical 'fatigue' with the epidemic, and as contested symbols that mark the transition from more radical forms of protest to those governed through mainstream or corporatized interests (Blair and Michel 2007; Catungal and McCann 2010; Capozzola 2002; Carocci 2010; Morris 2011). However, the quilt and other forms of arts-based production (Francis and Hemson 2012; Nabulime and McEwan 2010), including the tremendously important Visual AIDS foundation,⁴ continue to be mediums through which to address the sociopolitical challenges facing those with HIV/AIDS. Securing support for HIV/AIDS-related artistic work is among those challenges given its 'third rail' status within funding and gallery/space showing contexts (Pence 2015), thus reminding us of how intertwined art is within the on-going struggles for that which not only reflects life but is an integral part of it (Watney 1987: 4).

¹Which, rather chillingly, measure "the size of a grave" or six feet by three feet (Hawkins 1993: 757). These remain the measurements that those wishing to contribute panels to the quilt must adhere to.

²The organizational home of the quilt, which was initially called the "NAMES Project quilt." Over time it came to be known as the "AIDS memorial quilt".

³Which at the time of writing (August 2016) contains over 49,000 individual panels remembering almost 100,000 names, and it weighs over 54.5 tons. Over the past 5–10 years, the Names Project/Memorial Quilt organizers receive an average of one new panel every day of the year (Williams 2016).

⁴Whose mission is to utilize "art to fight AIDS by provoking dialogue, supporting HIV + artists, and preserving a legacy, because AIDS is not over" (https://www.visualaids.org/).

Ethnographic Insights: Transformation Through the Eyes of Our Participants

The body mapping literature contains many powerful stories about living with HIV/AIDS and how these experiences are expressed in embodied form, alongside issues of health, relationships, and violence. Comparatively less has been written about how the body mapping methodology itself is perceived by participants and how the socio-emotional and transformative experiences gained from doing this kind of research can help support aspirations related to self-care, healing, and set in motion future or life goals. The data presented here is unique in its focus on the therapeutic, individual, and social changes our participants associated with the body mapping method and their participation in the project. Each of these themes is discussed below and is broken down by gender, beginning with the women.

Therapeutic

Women

When discussing the effects of the body mapping experience the women often highlighted how it opened up opportunities to reflect on their lives, good things and bad, and reconnect with their personal histories in ways that were healing or restorative. As Sue said: "The women are really, like.... It's a great thing to help with their healing process and to acknowledge what's going on inside themselves." Several used visual metaphors to describe how the mapping enabled them to 'see' their lives in a different way or 'opened their eyes' to different interpretations of life events, as Tarah does:

It forced me to see what I could remember from when I was really zoned out...When I hadn't done anything for myself.... I was happy being unhappy, I guess!...It forced me to use my brain 'cause I know current things are what's keeping me together, but it's all about what happened over the years that made me want to get better, so yeah, it was a good way to reminisce and remember.

Isabel talked about being woken up and having her eyes opened when reflecting on how the mapping impacted the way she views her body: "A lot of stuff came up for me.... I guess thinking back to how my life was before and how I wasn't paying attention to my body.... So I kind of woke up a little bit, because my body is important.... It looks at the inside.... That really opened up my eyes." Georgia also used a visual reference when discussing how looking at her map ushered in new realizations about her life and HIV/AIDS journey: "It helped me realize how I went through life and the reason I'm still here, you know? What I did and am doing. I just look at it and different things come to my mind as I see it again and—it makes you think. It's one person's journey from 24 years... being Positive." For several women the materialization of their lived experiences, embodied in the act of getting them 'down' on paper, helped ameliorate the pain associated with certain events or times in their lives. Isabel shares these insights when she discusses her initial embarrassment about recording 'dirty' parts of her life on her map and how she came to own them as part of her story:

You see all the city and the hotels and all that kind of stuff? That really is a dirty part of my life...It was all about the drugs and about not taking care of myself, not caring if I died of HIV...I never thought I would really share that with anybody...But, you know, I have to. It's my story. I can't hide that...It's embarrassing, but you know, I overcame it.

Sue also talked about the healing effects of letting some of life's hardships go by putting them 'down' on her map, which involved taking a visual stock of her life:

It's my journey. It comes from my heart, it comes from my soul. Sometimes it's hard to bear, to put it out there, but it's the only way you can actually heal. When you stand back and look at it, it's like that is my life, some of it...It's like the hurt isn't there anymore... I've taken it from here and put it there. A lot...of the negativity is gone.

Rayna echoes these sentiments, saying: "It's an emotional release, you know? You walk out of the room, you know, you don't take it home. Like, leave the work on the paper. They say you can't take your work home." Similarly, Abby mentions how helpful it was to be able to express and share her experiences on paper, versus 'just' talking about them or keeping them inside:

When I go to things like this, it's like 'don't talk about it'...It just stays, everything stays in...I was so honored to be able to take this. I know I got a lot out of it. You open up and then you've got to be able to share it by, like, putting everything down on the paper, rather than talking about it, right?

Men

"If people look closer, they'll see... someone who dreams of becoming." This moving account from Nolan captures his desire to transform, which was partially realized through the mapping workshop when he had the chance to document and dream about what this might look like. He went on to describe the heart he painted on his body map, which is a record of suffering and a symbol of the love and change he wants for himself:

When I did the heart in the centre, originally I did it as a broken heart. But then I thought about it. What I'm trying to do with my life today is to mend my heart and to heal my heart, you know? And like, allowing others to love me ...I'm learning to love myself and accept who I am.

These aspirations were shared by other participants who made connections between the mapping experience and taking care of themselves, including Andrew: One of the most powerful things for me.... Where I talked about, 'What does it look like today, in terms of taking care of yourself?' That's a positive thing and it has brought some positives in my life in terms of my lifestyle and how I take care of myself.

Evan shared similar perspectives and identified the workshop as a turning point that helped him identify and come to terms with some of his most pressing life challenges, while generating hope about overcoming these issues in a supported way:

The body mapping made me realize. It made me realise that I'm at a cross roads...It was so overwhelming. I felt like I really had no future, I was stuck. The mapping made me feel like I do have a future...And I'm getting help and with the help I'll be able to overcome a lot of this.

For Ted the therapeutic outcomes associated with the mapping workshop are linked to the ways that it enabled him to take stock of his life and reaffirmed where he is at, along with where he wants to go:

It really made me feel better... Not that I felt bad about myself, but it put things in perspective. It made me think that I'm on a good trajectory forward, you know? It made me kind of look at where I've been, where I am and where I'm going, and for me that was all good.

Luke talked about how the mapping workshop helped him organize and cope with some of his most painful experiences, by marking them physically on his map and in the process feeling as though he can be done with them: "So it's sort of like saying 'Move On', like 'This happened', 'The drugs happened, 'The HIV happened.' All this shit happened and now.... Move on! Next! Sounds kind of bitchy! 'Next!!'"

Self-transformative

Women

The body mapping experience generated a multitude of self-transformative outcomes among the women, which were framed in terms of enabling them to learn about themselves and feel good about who they are. As Georgia said, primarily in reference to living with HIV: "It's like an eternity. It doesn't seem real, I mean, I've lived this long with this disease and how I got through it. You know, I amaze myself." Abby's newfound confidence allowed her to open up more in relation to her own thoughts and feelings and with different people:

I think a lot. I keep a lot within myself... But it was like, ever since I did this I'm starting to talk more about things, like with other people and other women too...I can't explain it. Just knowing that makes me feel better about myself, because I learned more about myself through a Body Map.

Rayna also learned about herself, including her thought processes, new coping strategies, and finding a way to come to terms with relationships that have been jeopardized because of difficulties associated with her past:

It's tell me a lot about myself too, you know, a lot of things that I don't really realize. It sort of gives me an idea what it is going on in my head. What I have been going through...How I deal with it, you know? How am I finding a better way to deal with it...What can I do with the people that I love that I can't even talk to because of a lot of reasons, because of you know, like, my past.

She went on to describe her map as a kind of record that can be read to tell her things about herself and her life, which was unique among the women. Here Rayna ascribes additional attributes to her map, which emerges as not only a reminder but also a reflection of herself that she envisions interacting with as she seeks to take care of herself:

Just like the hand – it's almost like: 'I'm gonna grab you!'... It's so powerful, to me, to look at it. It's almost like, I can jump out of it anytime for a fight or something!...It's almost, like, it's tell me what is wrong with me. You know what I mean? It tells me which part of me need work done because they always, like, tied to the other.

For some the mapping workshop was less about opening up new sides of themselves and more about providing a chance to reconnect with who they are, as Sue shared:

Personal growth. Just reflecting on this stuff and this [body mapping] has got me through it...And my roots. I'm doing a lot of smudging, a lot of natural medicines...I'm getting back to being me and I'm really enjoying it.

Several women discussed their self-transformative experiences in relation to healing, remembrance, and the sense of achievement they felt upon completing the workshop. Here Sue introduces the multivalent symbol of the butterfly, which is used figuratively to describe her healing journey and it may become marked on her body as a permanent testament to these changes and the exciting new direction she is heading in:

That is emerging from where I've been, coming out of the cocoon of where I was and really letting myself be me...The butterfly has been my symbol. It's in all my work... And I'm getting the tattoo done of that too. Yeah, that's my emergence...Not to where I ever was, but to my new direction and just going there. Continue to fly!

With introspective reflection Tarah talked about how some of the negative events recorded on her map have 'changed positive' and that she is no longer in the sex trade, two pivotal experiences that she frames through reference to looking out the window and its protective curtain:

I look out my window...I'm not trying to advertise myself as I was looking for things before. It helps to have my curtain on my window because it allows me to remember that I don't want to be out there...A lot of things are negative on here that changed positive. It helps to know what I was doing then to what I'm doing now, or what I translate as being what's important to me or not.

Isabel talked a great deal about the positive outcomes stemming from the completion of the workshop, which include overcoming obstacles, doing new and inspiring things, and entering into meaningful relationships with the team members and other participants:

I get inspired by what I'm doing right now. It's taking my life to a different level. I've never done this before...I can see how far I've come and that other stuff...the obstacles. They were just obstacles...Thank you so much for allowing me to do it and for allowing me to come into your guys' life and you guys coming into my life.

Men

The men in our study identified various personal changes associated with the mapping workshop, however, for Luke they are only touched upon briefly: "It did help me learn some things about me." Like Luke, Evan did not go into detail about self-transformative outcomes linked with the workshop but the message he hopes that his map conveys evokes a sense of profound, even cosmic, change: "I guess it talks about the Circle of Life and the human journey.... From birth to death, and I'm somewhere in between!" One of the most important aspects of the experience for Ted was the cultural currency and power associated with the maps, specifically the role he anticipated them playing in the context of his HIV-specific workplace:

I was really excited about being able to show them...Like having them at the Annual General Meeting and having them at the Vigil⁵ and having the guys be okay with that. Which is, you know, that's huge. I'm really looking forward to that. And sharing that with my bosses and having them be excited about it.

Nolan went into more depth when talking about the socio-emotional changes generated by the workshop, including helping to believe in and care about himself:

One thing that I've sort of taken away from it, which I still struggle with is, self-acceptance...When I did the evaluations and I filled out mine, you know, one thing that stood out to me is that it's beautiful...It was like...'Okay, you know what? You're a beautiful person.' And it did sort of help me to see that.

Equally moving is how he described the lasting effect of Tricia's supportive feedback on his body map during the informal art show at the end of the mapping activities, which surfaced as a flicker of hope in the darkness of his drug relapse that followed the workshop:

That struck a chord with me because even when I did relapse, it was almost like her spirit was saying to me 'Nolan, stick with this!'...It really spoke to something inside of me that said this person sees something...'This is something that is really good for you, Nolan! Stick with it!'"

⁵Which is part of the celebration, awareness, and education activities that take place during International HIV/AIDS Day, held annually on December first.

The workshop was also transformative for Andrew, who talked about growing up feeling "terminally unique" or very alone and as though he never fit in. The body mapping experience brought him out of those lonely shadows and into the energy, belonging, and confidence that he is beginning to feel about himself and his life:

It should have all been grays and muted blacks...I think that, in part, is how I see my life... But I'm beginning to see that and as I'm more genuine...There's lots of positive action – there is life and there is energy!...Holy shit, there is a lot of fucking colour on this! And it is real – when I look at it, I actually identify with it. I don't think, 'Oh my God, I want to change that!'"

Andrew also spoke about the importance of balance- of restoring it, of having it returning to his life, and how it is connected to his shaping of the future. On his map he chose to represent these issues via an electro cardiology machine, which is a diagnostic test that measures the electrical activity of the heart:

I chose a heart-beat, like, the EKG machines to transverse me from there [reference to past] ...to there [reference to the present]...To this point where I'm holding my future in balance and I'm shaping it...That's what those hands and that yellow, glowing ball is!...I sit in balance with those things in my life...The balance came back.

Socially Transformative

Women

The women formed strong connections with one another during the mapping and although many of them were familiar with each other prior to the workshop, the bonds they formed as part of that shared experience are very meaningful. As Abby, with typical good humour, described: "We all know a lot about each other now and that's nice. Because it's weird, after that first day, right?" Speaking about the prospect of staying in touch with each other Rayna said: "You know, just once in a while get together with a group who do it together, have light meals. With the same women, whoever can show up, you know, just a little get together thing. It would be very nice!" Sue talked about how authentic their connections are and used examples of how the closeness fostered during the workshop carried over into her relationships with other participants after the body mapping activities were over:

Through this I've made such a connection. One of them, she wanted me to go with her when she went into surgery...I see her quite often and it just seems we're more comfortable with each other now...I think knowing that I had those days together made a big difference. And you know, one of the other women is in one of my support groups right now and it's just... It's a real connection.

Tarah used the visceral image of a scar/wound when explaining the care that needs to be taken when attending to such close relationships and heavy issues that emerged during the workshop: Yeah, for sure! I think that would be good for them! [to meet after the workshop]...'cause you don't open up a scar or a wound and not expect it not to be an open scar after all that time. You have to tend to it, sort of thing, or it keeps opening up. And it's like, who's going to take care of that?!"

This account from Isabel illuminates how the relationships among the participants constitute, from her perspective, a supportive community of women that she hopes will never cease being an important part of her life:

Making us six women get closer, like... I need to hear other women's stories. And they need to hear ours... because they're kind of the same thing, but just in a different way. It's a community. I have a community of us women in the group. And I'll probably never lose touch with each other. Ever. And that's my story! I love you guys. Thank you!

Men

While the men did not assign as much meaning to the connections made during the workshops as the women, they enjoyed getting to know each other better, as Nolan shared: "I connected with some of the other men there, and you know.... It was good." Similarly, Andrew said:

It was interesting.... When went out for a break or whatever and as it went on in time, it was: 'Oh, my opinion of you has changed. You're not as much of a bitch as I thought you were!'...On the last day... It was like, 'Oh, you guys are so familiar now.'

Evan shared similar insights, "It was nice to meet new people.... It was just nice to meet all the guys, now I feel like I know him [another participant] a little bit better." For Luke, the importance of the relationships he formed was linked with their shared vulnerability, which made him feel more at ease: "I got to meet them in a different way, and it was a good way for the most part.... It's nice to be able to see them, you know, in a vulnerable state. It makes it more comfortable for me."

Transforming Therapeutic Relationships and the Politics of HIV/AIDS Research

Towards the end of the workshops many participants discussed wanting to share the mapping experiences with their HIV physicians, other care providers, and community agencies they access regularly for various services. These people/places are marked in prominent spots on their 'Support Figure' and are described as being extremely important, often life-sustaining. That our participants wanted to bring the mapping experience into these relationships is further evidence of how important the workshop activities are to them, and that they envision the maps as having the potential to transform or infuse particular relationships with new meanings. Many discussed having copies of their maps in the therapeutic, supportive, and

work-related spaces they frequent, specifically those related to HIV/AIDS. This was described as helping to illustrate what body mapping is and the vitality, creativity, and hope in the lives of people living with the virus, representations that are rarely featured in clinical and service-related settings. Having the maps in these special spaces is also part of paying respect to the people who have played the most important roles in their HIV journeys, as Sue shared in her follow-up interview:

Those are the people I associate with first, and like anything, you want your friends to see it first. If we were to say, do it at the Shoe Store,⁶ and then Dr. Roze walked in and... I could see where the staff, who have gone through all this with you, would say 'Why are the public seeing this before I do? I've been there since the beginning?...We're the ones that were there when you cried, when, you had this', you know? To me it's just respect.

For Sue, the body mapping experience also provided an opportunity to contest or reshape a different set of relationships, those related to the divisions between 'researchers' and 'participants' within the realm of HIV/AIDS research. While these data could be considered "minor" because reflect the experiences of one participant, they are included because they illustrate the tensions related to the experiences of those with HIV, whose insights about and roles within the stratified power relations in the realm of research are rarely explored.

Early on the workshop Sue seemed incensed when one of the student-researchers expressed a desire to lead a body mapping workshop, asking her "What do you know about this?"-referring to being HIV-positive. This complex question evokes the thorny ethical issues within HIV and other collaborative research fields, in which funders often mandate the participation of people with lived experience but provide little substantive discussion of what that should look like (Aldridge 2014; Carter et al. 2015; Persson et al. 2003). It also aligns with claims made about participatory visual methods being more 'equitable' or emancipatory, which may not always be the case (Packard 2008). Many HIV-positive people, like Sue, want to be more meaningfully involved with research beyond the token positions offered to those with 'lived experience' (i.e., members of community advisory boards). However, within the hierarchically structured arena of HIV research the more substantial roles are usually allotted to those with formal research training and education, which can make those living with HIV feel used and as though their 'glass ceiling' within the HIV research world is quite low. The notes below illuminate some of these tensions, including the fact that Sue knows she plays an essential role within research, yet possesses somewhat limited power to make a place for herself at the table:

At some point Julie said she wants to learn how to lead a body mapping workshop. Sue retorted, saying something like "what do you know about this [HIV/AIDS]?" It's so complicated when and how meaningful participation of people living with HIV/AIDS is

⁶Initial ideas about a venue to display the maps included a trendy shoe store that has a beautiful shop layout and with whom one of the team members is associated. This option was not popular among all of the participants, who were more interested in the art show-dinner event we ended up organizing.

taken up by real people, not researchers who have no idea what it's like. Sue's somewhat forceful insistence upon inclusion reflects the experiences of "HIV work" of a whole generation of researchers and researchees, of which she sees herself a part. I'm speaking of the time when people realized they can't just use these people's disease and farm out their experiences in the form of \$, drugs, and publications but actually have to involve them. The critique of the inclusion of "peers" that stems from this period (c. early 2000s) often focuses on how the experiential partners' lack of knowledge about research means that they're doomed to be no more than token representatives. Obviously things have shifted since this time and Sue is reminding us that the fact that I don't know what it's like to be HIV positive means something, and it can be harnessed by "them" to try and ensure that research is more equitable. Just like the 1000s of people without HIV or AIDS who have HIV and AIDS to "thank" for their careers, people like Sue can claim a certain slice of the HIV empire/business/work/industry (Fieldnotes May 5, 2012).

Since completing the workshop Sue has gone on to be a major player within the HIV research field in Vancouver and nationally, and as a 'peer researcher' and 'research associate' she has presented at various national and international conferences and is an author on several academic publications. She has also received training in how to facilitate body mapping, a desire that she expressed during the project.

Transformation Through the Eyes of the Researcher

In the years between the workshops and the writing of this book, I found myself pouring over our participants' maps⁷ and recalling certain words and phrases from the transcripts. 'Remember when Sue asked us to paint our hands on her map?'; 'I cry every time I read Nolan saying that he is learning to love himself'; 'The seemingly smallest things can mean so much, like when Isabel said going to a 'cool' restaurant boosted her self-confidence and made her feel 'normal.' Research, particularly that which is collaborative and participant driven, is about more than collecting facts; it is fundamentally about connection and striving to make a difference in people's lives. This is especially true when working with people who are socio-economically, sexually, and racially marginalized and for whom opportunities to connect, without strings and in supportive ways, are infrequent (Stein and Mankowski 2004). While my feelings as a researcher are secondary to the success of the project they emerged during interactions with our participants, not in a placid or detached analytical space, and as such they are social facts (Kelly 2008) and relational ways of knowing (Spencer 2010) that form part of the fabric of the overall research experience. Writing about these things may encourage other researchers to reflect upon their own work in different ways, including how to make sense of

⁷See also Futch and Fine's (2014: 55) discussion of how mapping/visual data allow the participants to enter researchers' minds/memory during analysis in ways that are unique compared to text-based data.

arts-based and visual research that describes human experience and directly manifests it (Briggs 2013; Franklin 2012: 90).

One of the most powerful aspects of this study was being able to witness the changes that participating in this project had in the lives of our participants. When I took Evan out for lunch a few weeks after the men's workshop wrapped up he brought some photos of himself and his dogs, who figured prominently on his map, and a gift for me—a pendant that matched some earrings I wore on one day of the workshop. He and I share the experience of having lived in Vancouver, loving animals and the decorative arts, and knowing many people who survived the early years of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. These things bound us together in a meaningful way. Evan also shared with me (and Tricia) his on-going struggles with alcohol and PTSD, his loneliness, and how much being a part of the workshop meant to him. He discussed these things over lunch, which he thanked me for several times. While this may seem like a 'small' example it stands out in my mind because it reflects Evan's courage, kindness, and desire to connect, and mine too, which is the beating heart of research/human experience that is transformative.

As with other rather discrediting things,⁸ researchers' accounts of their personal struggles with addictions rarely find their way into academic projects or writing. However, sharing these experiences with the women and men in our study felt safe, perhaps because they were also engaged in healing journeys and felt like trusted members of a 'therapeutic community' (McNiff 2011). While I did not divulge this aspect of my life to gain 'street credibility', it generated bonds between myself and certain participants that may not have formed as quickly or strongly had I not shared this with them. It also signalled my vulnerability and opened up meaningful, potentially 'power-leveling' (Packard 2008: 63), interactions between us. The following fieldnote excerpt captures some of these issues, including my initial worries about spending time with Rayna during the art show because she had been drinking and how our embodied interactions through tattoos (and the sharing of a cigarette) dissipated these concerns and made me feel comfortable to share where I was at in my sobriety. Her insight about 'the holiday' was especially touching:

Rayna asked if she had shown me her new tattoos and she pulled up the sleeves of her hoody to show me: "believe" in nice script on the inside of her right forearm and a skull with a melting candle on her left arm. I said that I have a new one and we scuttled off into a corner of the café and I showed her my emerging Frida piece. Tattoos are a medium though which she and I communicate. It's something that not only she and I share (the others have them too), but we seem to feel quite similarly about them. We went outside for a smoke together and had a good chat, and I forgot she might be drunk and forgot my earlier concerns about interacting with her. I mentioned that I'm nine months clean and she congratulated me, but said the holidays are coming, implying that it's a hard time to be sober (Fieldnotes December 18, 2012).

My third example relates to leaving the field, which is always difficult because it means leaving people I care about. Saying goodbye to the women, in particular, left

⁸See Warden (2012) for a similar discussion of PTSD and emotional trauma in ethnographic research.

an indelible mark on me because our last meeting with them (the art show) coincided with the release of the inquiry into the police mishandling of the Robert Pickton case.⁹ Given the powerful impact the case had on the city of Vancouver and the issue of murdered and missing women internationally, all forms of media were flooded with stories about the case, the women's family members, and agencies involved in the fight for judicial reform and healing. Being in Vancouver at that moment, working with women whose lives are similar to those who fell prey to Pickton, and knowing I had to leave after making powerful connections with them was a heavy swirl of feelings to navigate. Reflecting on this cluster of issues in my fieldnotes after the art show was a way of trying to ground myself, as was marking these transformative events more permanently:

I tell myself that writing these notes are a book-end to the body mapping project, a way to wrap up data collection. In reality, they are being written to contain, savour, and keep sacred all that has happened over the past five days and the 200 days in between the time I first met the women and had the first workshop. Talk about "revolution" Rayna, that's what this has been. A jarring, unexpectedly transformative series of pages and chapters of change in the lives of the six women, in my life, and in Trish's life. I had to turn the radio off because I can't hear any more about yesterday, when the report was finally released, all 1,450 pages...I can't handle it any more right now...I got a tattoo yesterday to commemorate the day and the place. It had to be done yesterday and it had to be done in Vancouver. I got the words: "FOR ALL THE WOMEN" in capital letters and 'old school' script beside the Mariner's Cross- a multivalent symbol of being anchored in the world, the loss of human moorings, and the ever-present, complicated role of hope, salvation, freedom in our lives (Fieldnotes December 18, 2012).

I include Tricia's insights as well because she also found the experience transformative and is in an excellent position to reflect on these issues given her expertise with body mapping.¹⁰ In our discussions about how special this project has been, she often talked about the psycho-social challenges of being a facilitator and her relationship with one woman in particular, Tarah. These notes are from an email:

It is not easy to be everything to everyone in a workshop, and leading a Body Mapping workshop demands stamina, self-love, and focus. For a facilitator, there is always the reminder that the workshop is for and about the others in the room and not the opportunity for you to tell your story or to let your emotions rise to the surface. It is a fine balance to be present, empathetic, and to provide an environment that fosters creativity and emotional, physical and psychological safety.

I remember first meeting Tarah and recall appreciating, but being slightly intimidated by, her candour and honesty. I remember thinking that I might need to spend a bit more time explaining the exercises to her, as it seemed her ability to focus and sit quietly was often

⁹Who murdered forty-nine women from the Downtown Eastside neighbourhood in the late 1980s– 1990s, most of whom were poor women struggling with addictions, racism, and various forms of socio-economic, sexual, and historical trauma (Cameron 2010). I lived in Vancouver during the Pickton trial of 2007, which was a deeply disturbing experience that can only be described as emotionally surreal (See Baldwin and Orchard 2009).

¹⁰She has led over twenty-five body mapping workshops all over the world.

interrupted by her knee-jerk responses to the artistic prompts. Her quick responses and somewhat antagonistic retorts to some of the exercises led me to worry that she would not enjoy the experience as much as the others or that she would not return on day two. But Tarah showed up every day and with each passing day became more engaged, more sociable and more enthusiastic. I watched her map take shape, with light brush strokes that revealed her beautiful, cherished cat, a grand piano; suggesting that she had lived a life I never expected to learn about. She was a so many things- an accomplished classical pianist, an animal lover, a sister, a former sex worker, an Indigenous woman "raised white."

After the art show, Tarah invited us to her home, to see her pictures from a recent family vacation. I 'oohed' over her pictures, met her beautiful cat, and a friend of hers (Geoff) who offered to work with me to create website for the maps. One day after the project wrapped up, I received an email from Geoff saying; "It shouldn't take long to get the site running... No fees for this project. It's an opportunity to spread awareness about what I call, "The Russian Roulette of Disease"(You really don't know [what] you're actually going to die from). Information like this may prevent another victim. Will say hi to Tarah for you." Geoff's email reminded me of the power of this work – how it often does not start and stop with the participant. For those who know and love individuals living with HIV, there's a desire to learn more about HIV, to save others from its pain, and to spread the word about the disease and the body mapping process itself.

Just before leaving Tarah's home, she handed me a Christmas card. The white envelope was a bit crinkly around the edges, as if it had been carried in a bag for some time. Alone in my hotel room, I opened the card to see that it read: "Thanks for helping me with my life. Merry Christmas. Love, Tarah." This card sits in a special place in my home today. I have kept it because I do not "do" the Body Mapping work in search of accolades or appreciation. I do it because it means something to me and I hope it means something to those I have the privilege of sharing the experience with. I could not have asked for a more precious gift from Tarah. I treasure my memories of her and every once in a while, when I am looking through my keepsakes, I take out the little Santa Claus card and read it over again.

Discussion

The arts-based research literature is replete with examples of the unique, deeply moving findings associated with approaches like Photovoice, drawings, performance-based studies, and body mapping. However, less attention has been paid to the ways in which these approaches and attendant research experiences, in and of themselves, can generate personally and socially relevant outcomes for those taking part. This chapter illustrates how our participants were regenerating, across time and the embodied spaces on their maps, their accumulated life experiences and making room for future or imagined desires and ways of being. This re-charting of how they inhabit the world and the spaces within themselves illustrates how body mapping can offer participants opportunities to cope with past events and open new doors of pride, self-discovery, and knowing that are empowering. These insights about the connection between body mapping and the production of multiple embodied subjectivities (Braidotti 2011) are a unique contribution to the arts-based literature, and they align with studies that demonstrate how participant-generated

forms of art and reflexivity can improve people's lives and their ability to create a place for themselves in the world (Biehl 2005: 23; Garber 2004).

The women discussed how the body mapping experience enabled them to reflect upon their lives and reconnect with difficult times or events in ways that were restorative. They often used visual metaphors like "it opened my eyes" (Isabel), "it forced me to see" (Tarah), and "as I see it again" (Georgia) to capture the reformulation of their lives that unfolded during the body mapping and the importance of seeing or visually witnessing these processes. Some of the men employed similar metaphors, including Nolan who highlights the visual for others to see that he is a person worth looking at and as a therapeutic talisman for himself:

It really just helped me to take a good look at myself...It helped me look at myself in a different way.... I'm definitely going to put this up on my wall because I need to remind myself that, you know, I am a beautiful person...If people look closer, they'll see that there is someone who has been through some stuff, and struggled with some things, and someone who is embracing a sense of community with being HIV Positive.

The ability to get difficult or deeply buried experiences 'out' and 'down' on the map was raised by several participants, particularly the women, as helping them heal from these experiences. Several men also discussed the mapping workshop as a turning point in their lives, which served to remind them to take care of themselves (or to keep on doing this) and allowed them to take stock of their lives. As Evan said: "The body mapping made me realize I'm at a crossroads in my life, suffering from PTSD-it was so overwhelming.... I felt like I really had no future, I was stuck. And the body mapping made me feel like I do have a future."

Along with the therapeutic outcomes our participants identified personal transformations that occurred as a result of doing the body mapping, many of which continued to shape their lives after the workshops were over. The women frequently talked about learning who they are and feeling good about themselves, and Abby discussed being able to open up more to people after the workshop: "Ever since I did this I'm starting to talk more about things, like with other people and other women too.... I can't explain it. Just knowing that makes me feel better about myself." Isabel said that the workshop enabled a new way of living for her, which includes knowing that she can overcome life's hurdles: "It's taking my life to a different level. I've never done this before.... I can see how far I've come and that other stuff... the obstacles. They were just obstacles." The men identified individual changes less often, however Nolan's insights about how this experience helped him accept himself and showed him that others care about him (especially during his relapse following the workshop) are deeply moving. For Andrew the body mapping was also transformative, helping him restore balance in his life and realize that heand not only his map-is full of vibrant, complex colour: "And it is real. When I look at it, I actually identify with it."

Socially transformative outcomes connected with the workshop were also identified, mainly by the women who cherished the bonds fostered between each other. As Sue said, "Through this I've made such a connection.... It's a real connection." Isabel drew attention to way in which sharing each other's experiences transformed them into a special community of six women: "Making us six women get closer.... I need to hear other women's stories. And they need to hear ours.... I have a community of us women in the group." Tarah highlighted the care and work that such special relationships need to be maintained, likening it to a wound that needs tending to: "You have to tend to it, sort of thing, or it keeps opening up." Another instance of how the body maps functioned to sustain social relationships emerged when participants discussed where they wanted their maps to be placed following the workshop. They identified HIV-specific spaces and health care contexts where they have developed strong relationships with particular providers. and where others living with HIV might see the maps. In this way, the maps were envisioned as symbols of health-related accomplishments and functioned as powerful, therapeutic testaments to the beauty and vitality in the lives of those living with HIV/AIDS. The final ethnographic example in this chapter involved Sue, whose questioning of a team member who wanted to lead a body mapping workshop revealed some of the ethical and political tensions that shape the field of HIV/ AIDS research. In particular, the differential power assigned to people with 'lived experience', who sometimes feel used in research that depends upon their participation but offers little in the way of substantial contributions or long-term employment opportunities.

This chapter also featured insights about how the project impacted me as a researcher and women deeply engaged in this transformative experience alongside the participants. This work does not happen in an objective bubble removed from experiential meaning for us as researchers (Berger 2013), and it was through deep human connection, the creative power of art, and the special people I was able to meet during this project that made a difference in my life.

References

- Aldridge, J. 2014. Working with vulnerable groups in social research: Dilemmas by default and design. *Qualitative Research* 14(1): 112–130.
- Bagnoli, A. 2009. Beyond the standard interview: The use of graphic elicitation and arts-based methods. *Qualitative Research* 9(5): 547–570.
- Baldwin, D., and T. Orchard. 2009. Working words: Representation and reflection of two former sex trade workers covering the Pickton trial in Vancouver, British Columbia. *Feminist Media Studies* 9(4): 505–509.
- Barone, T., and E. Eisner. 2011. Arts based research. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE.
- Berger, R. 2013. Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research* 15(2): 219–234.
- Biehl, J. 2005. VITA: Life in a zone of social abandonment. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Blair, C., and N. Michel. 2007. The AIDS memorial quilt and the contemporary culture of public commemoration. *Rhetoric & Public Affairs* 10(4): 595–626.
- Bowtell, S., M. Sawyer, R. Aroni, J. Green, and R. Duncan. 2013. "Should I send a condolence card?": Promoting emotional safety in qualitative health research through reflexivity, Ethical Mindfulness. *Qualitative Inquiry* 19(9): 652–663.

- Braidotti, R. 2011. Nomadic subjects: Embodiment and sexual difference in contemporary feminist theory, 2nd ed. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Briggs, D. 2013. Emotions. *Ethnography, and crack cocaine users, emotion, space and society* 7: 1–12.
- Cameron, S. 2010. On the farm: Robert Pickton and the tragic story of Vancouver's missing women. Toronto: Alfred A. Knopf Canada.
- Capozzola, C. 2002. A very American epidemic: Memory politics and identity politics in the AIDS memorial quilt, 1985–1993. *Radical History Review* 82: 91–109.
- Carocci, M. 2010. Textiles of healing: Native American AIDS quilts, *TEXTILE: Cloth and Culture*, 8(1): 68–84.
- Carter, A., Green, S., Nicholson, V., O'Brien, N., Sanchez, M. de Pokomandy, A., Loufty, M., Kaida, A., and CHIWOS Research Team. 2015. Breaking the glass ceiling: Increasing the meaningful involvement of women living with HIV/AIDS in the design and delivery of HIV/AIDS services. *Health Care for Women International* 36(8): 936–964.
- Catungal, J., and E. McCann. 2010. Governing sexuality and park space: Acts of regulation in Vancouver, BC. *Social & Cultural Geography* 11(1): 75–94.
- Chilton, G. 2013. Altered inquiry: Discovering arts-based research through an altered book. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods* 12: 457–477.
- Crawford, A. 2010. If 'the body keeps the score': Mapping the dissociated body in trauma narrative, Intervention, and Theory. *University of Toronto Quarterly* 79(2): 702–719.
- Devine, C. 2008. The moon, the stars and a scar: Body mapping stories of women living with HIV/AIDS. *Border Crossings* (CATIE). www.catie.ca/pdf/bodymaps/BC_105_BodyMapping. pdf.
- Francis, D., and C. Hemson. 2012. "See the hope"—using participatory visual arts methods to challenge HIV related stigma. *Education as Change* 10(2): 53–65.
- Franklin, M. 2012. Know thyself: Awakening self-referential awareness through arts-based research. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health* 3(1): 87–96.
- Futch, V., and M. Fine. 2014. Mapping as a method: history and theoretical comments. *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 11: 42–59.
- Garber, E. 2004. Social justice and art education. Visual Arts Research 30(2): 4-22.
- Gastaldo, D., Carrasco, C. and Magalhaes, L. 2012. Entangled in a web of exploitation and solidarity. Retrieved from http://www.migrationealth.ca/undocumented-workers-ontario/ summary-findings.
- Guillemin, M., and S. Drew. 2010. Questions of process in participant-generated visual methodologies. *Visual Studies* 25(2): 175–188.
- Hawkins, P. 1993. Naming names: The art of memory and the NAMES project AIDS quilt. *Critical Inquiry* 19(4): 752–779.
- Hodgins, M. and Boydell, K. 2014. Interrogating ourselves: Reflections on arts-based health research. FORUM: Qualitative Social Research, 15(1), Art. 10, January.
- Hogan, S., and S. Pink. 2010. Routes to interiorities: Art therapy and knowing in anthropology. *Visual Anthropology* 23: 158–174.
- Huss, E. 2007. Symbolic spaces: Marginalized Bedouin women's art as self-expression. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology* 47(3): 306–319.
- Jones, A. 1998. Body art/performing the subject. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Jones, C., and J. Dawson. 2000. *Stitching a revolution—the making of an activist*. New York: Harperone.
- Kelly, P. 2008. *Lydia's open door: Inside Mexico's most modern brothel*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Learmonth, M., and K. Huckvale. 2012. The feeling of what happens: A reciprocal investigation of inductive and deductive processes in art experiment. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health* 3(2): 97–108.
- Leavy, P. 2009. Method meets art: Arts-based research practice. New York: The Guilford Press.

- Levine, E. 2011. From social change to art therapy and back again: A memoir. In *Art in action: expressive arts therapy and social change*, ed. E. Levine, and S. Levine, 31–41. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Lu, L., and F. Yuen. 2012. Journey women: Art therapy in a decolonizing framework of practice. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 39: 192–200.
- MacGregor, H. and Mills, E. 2009. Mapping change and continuity: living with HIV as a chronic illness in South Africa. Institute of Development Studies. http://www.ids.ac.uk/publication/ mapping-change-and-continuity-living-with-hiv-as-a-chronic-illness-in-south-africa.
- Mand, K. 2012. Giving children a 'voice': Arts-based participatory research activities and representation. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 15(2): 149–160.
- Martin, A. 1996. *Perfection is in the mind: An interview with Agnes Martin*, by J. Simon (12-page document).
- McNiff, S. 2011. From the studio to the world: How expressive arts therapy can help further social change. In Art in action: Expressive arts therapy and social change, ed. E. Levine, and S. Levine, 78–92. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Morgan, J. and The Bambanani Women's Group. 2003. Long life: Positive HIV stories. North Melbourne, Australia: Spinflex Press.
- Morris, C. 2011. Remembering the AIDS quilt. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press, Project MUSE. Ib. 30 Jun. 2016. https://muse.jhu.edu/.
- Nabulime, L., and C. McEwan. 2010. Art as social practice: transforming lives using sculpture in HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention in Uganda. *Cultural Geographies* 18(3): 275–296.
- Packard, J. 2008. 'I'm gonna show you what it's really like out here': The power and limitation of participatory visual methods. *Visual Studies* 23(1): 63–77.
- Pence, E. 2015. Acts of will: Art, AIDS, America, Los Angeles Review of Books (December 23). https://lareviewofbooks.org/article/acts-of-will-art-aids-amLukea/#!.
- Persson, A., K. Race, and E. Wakeford. 2003. HIV health in context: Negotiating medical technology and lived experience. *Health* 7(4): 397–415.
- Pillow, W. 2003. Confession, catharsis, or cure? Rethinking the uses of reflexivity as methodological power in qualitative research. *Qualitative Studies in Education* 16(2): 175– 196.
- Pink, S. 2001. Doing visual ethnography. London: SAGE.
- Potash, J. 2013. A more complete knowing: The subjective objective partnership. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health* 4(1): 49–56.
- Schildrick, M. 2002. Embodying the monster: Encounters with the vulnerable self. London: SAGE.
- Shilts, R. 1987. And the band played on: Politics, people and the AIDS epidemic. New York: St. Andrew's Press.
- Spencer, D. 2010. Introduction: Emotional labour and relational observation in anthropological fieldwork. In Anthropological fieldwork: A relational process, ed. D. Spencer, and J. Davies, 1–47. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Stein, C., and E. Mankowski. 2004. Asking, witnessing, interpreting, knowing: conducting qualitative research in community psychology. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 33(1/2): 21–35.
- Warden, T. 2012. Feet of clay: Confronting emotional challenges in ethnographic experience. Journal of Occupational Ethnography 2(2): 150–172.
- Watney, S. 1987. Policing desire: Pornography, AIDS, and the media. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Williams, R. 2016. Director of operations of the NAMES Project. AIDS Memorial Quilt (Personal Communication, July 5).

Chapter 5 Between a Method and a Hard Place: Cultural Appropriation and Body Mapping

Cultural appropriation can be defined when one person from one culture takes culturally distinct items, the aesthetics or spiritual practices from another culture and mimics it. They adopt it as their own without consent, permission or any cultural relationship to the object or practice, in order to make money or just because they think it's cool

Janet Rogers (2016)

Cultural Appropriation in Body Mapping Research

Recognized for its potential to generate rich, artful data while providing enriching experiences for participants, researchers and practitioners from around the world use body mapping to explore the social and embodied determinants of health among various populations, primarily marginalized women. These studies rely heavily on the South African approach developed by Solomon (2007) and Morgan and The Bambanani Women's Group (2003), specifically the 'Living with X' guideline that lays out the daily exercises and how to respond to questions or emotionally challenging situations that may arise. However, when applied in research projects, particularly those in the Global North that do not explore HIV/AIDS, the therapeutic process¹ is often excluded or significantly downplayed. Discussions about how researchers have adapted the South African methodology to align with the cultural context or aims of their projects are also rarely featured. The adoption of some tenets of the method and disregard for others raises important ethical questions about the cross-cultural use of research methods. Is it permissible to selectively borrow aspects of the method for use in settings that are different politically, culturally, and materially from those in which body mapping was cre-

¹Referring to considerations of time (i.e. a four-day process), check-in and check-out activities (which enable participants share their experiences and be supported in an on-going way), ensuring that a trained facilitator leads the process and that additional support staff/helpers are on hand, and having well thought out ways of responding to any triggering experiences participants and others involved may have.

ated? What are the implications of these borrowing practices, for the integrity of the methodology and experience of participants? How might cultural appropriation in this context be resisted or ameliorated? This chapter explores these questions and situates different examples of the cultural appropriation of body mapping within broader debates about global flows of power and knowledge.

While cultural appropriation is sometimes conceived of as a historical practice involving the theft of Indigenous cultural items and their placement in imperial palaces and state museums, it is very much alive today. Indeed, it is discussed in relation to an array of issues, including clothing and sport (Forsyth 2016), knowledge and natural resources (Batiste 2016; Pert et al. 2015), legislation (Riley and Carpenter 2015), literature (Madsen 2016), design (Tunstall 2013), as well as sexuality and gender (Accose 1995; Pickles and Rutherdale 2005). Although a research methodology is a less 'tangible' example of cultural appropriation compared to stealing a cultural artifact or co-opting ceremonial practices, the case can be made. First, the body mapping approach constitutes an indigenous form of knowledge and aesthetic as well as healing practice that originated within a culturally distinct place and time-that of South Africa, during the early part of the HIV/AIDS epidemic, when women and others were being denied access to life-saving medications. Second, it is being used throughout the world in divergent ways that do not always align with the intentions of the original creators. All body mapping projects need not be about women and/or HIV/AIDS, nor do they have to follow the South African approach in its entirety. My critique here is about the lack of attention, if any, paid to the use of therapeutic principles and practices and the insufficient recognition of the cultural context in which the method originated.

These issues are of significant concern to the creators of the method and those working in the body mapping field,² who have witnessed the dangers of the careless adaptation of the methodology. Shortly after the 'Living with X' facilitator's guide was created and shared among non-profit agencies and practitioners in South Africa, there was tremendous interest in body mapping. In response to this, the facilitators guide was made available online, so that others could learn about and from this special work. However, almost immediately Solomon and others began hearing of individuals and organizations who were using aspects of the guide/methodology but not following through with the therapeutic practices. The South African agency Solomon and others worked with was even called into mediate and work with participants in a regional study, who were traumatized when their facilitator left them mid-way through the workshop because he/she was not equipped to handle the difficult experiences being shared. Reflecting upon this situation and learning of other similarly troubling examples, the facilitators guide was removed from the Internet. Those in key body mapping circles were very

²These insights were provided by teammate Tricia Smith, who was trained in the body mapping methodology by Solomon and Morgan. She remains in close contact with them and uses their approach in the mapping workshops that she leads all over the world, including the two for our project.

concerned about any harms they may have inadvertently caused by making the guidelines freely available and deeply saddened by the misuse of their methodology.

The situation surrounding an invitation I received to take part in a body mapping study reveals another set of issues at play in the cultural appropriation of the body mapping methodology. In the introductory email the team lead, who I had never met, indicated that my experience with body mapping would strengthen the application. While I was cautiously optimistic, these feelings gave way to frustration and dismay during our meeting, which consisted of her sitting across from me-pen poisedwanting to record what I knew about the methodology. She did not seem to have a clear sense of how body mapping works, evidenced by her suggestion that participants have one or two mapping sessions, not even full days and nowhere near the four days recommended. She was also unable to respond to my inquiries about practical issues (i.e. space, materials, number of participants/mapping group, hiring a trained facilitator) and had not given much thought to therapeutic principles and/or practices. The impression I had is that she wanted to try out this new method and needed someone on board who could or would 'do this part of the project'. Although this happens all the time in university and community settings, that she had not taken the time to explore the literature or think carefully about how this method fit with her study aims, and would impact the experiences of prospective participants, made me very uncomfortable. I went through with the submission process out a sense of obligation to the integrity of the method and to infuse a modicum of expertise into the application, and was relieved that it did not get funded.

These examples illuminate some of the troubling practices at work in the cultural appropriation of the body mapping methodology, which remains very popular in various research, clinical, and community circles settings. These instances of cultural appropriation matter because they can harm participants and fuel projects designed with methodological innovation in mind at the expense of methodological integrity. They have also left those who designed the approach feeling as though their ideas and what they helped create was being taken and represented, but not fully valued: "The experience of everywhere being seen but never being heard" (Coombe 1997: 88). But why has it become so popular? Understanding this can shed light on the deeper issues at play in its appropriation, which did not 'just happen' and is connected to broader processes within the disjunctive, overlapping, multiple, and mobile flows that make up our global cultural economy (Appadurai 1990).

One issue is access to information, specifically the Internet where the 'Living with X' guideline and subsequent body mapping studies have been made available. Between 2007^3 and 2016 rates of global Internet usage more than doubled (20.6-43.1%),⁴ which has made information about body mapping more readily available

³The year the 'Living with X' guideline was created and released online.

⁴Source: http://www.internetlivestats.com/internet-users/.

to greater numbers of researchers and community agencies around the world. A second issue is the rising interest in 'alternative' approaches to data collection, particularly among qualitative researchers seeking to explore sensitive issues with marginalized populations using social justice or action-oriented frameworks. As discussed in Chapter One, this is one of the reasons for the explosion of interest in arts-based studies in general, of which body mapping is a key example. The third issue is the body itself which has, over the past twenty years, been 'everywhere' (Rosser 2001) and studied in relation to risk (Lupton 1995), gendered performance (Butler 1990), embodiment (Csordas 1994) and more recently subjectivity (Braidotti 2011) and cultivations of the self-as becoming (Schildrick 2015). Despite these different theoretical treatments, its signification of flexibility (Martin 1994) and anxiety in our modern cultural time is perhaps most enduring, and this may explain the interest in body mapping as a technique through which the body is used to express multiple, competing, and shifting subjectivities across stretches of time and embodied space. I also think that the alienation many people feel as a result of 'device addiction' (i.e. inability to separate from cellular phones/technology), disengagement from traditional modes of production, and the increasingly unfathomable gaps between the rich and everyone else may be fueling a desire to return the body as our first and last site of human connectivity and self-actualization.

Resisting and redressing the cultural appropriation of body mapping begins, as others writing about this issue more broadly have demonstrated, with the respectful acknowledgement of the setting in which it was created. A commitment to mindful, respectful therapeutic principles and practices is also essential, along with an indication of how/if the method will be adapted to meet the study objectives/participants' experiences. Ultimately, it is about context: "Context, particularly as it relates to power relationships, is a key factor in distinguishing borrowing from exploitative cultural appropriation" (Arewa 2016) and 'knowledge democracy'-the recognition of all forms of knowledge or ways of knowing (Openjuru et al. 2015). Additional considerations from the field of art therapy may be helpful to practitioners/researchers who wish to use body mapping, including reflecting on whether arts-based/body mapping approaches are well suited to the project at hand and populations involved (Kapitan 2015), adopting empathetic 'spectatorship' practices (Oliver 2010), and giving careful thought to the role of cross-cultural difference throughout the creative process; including what collaboration 'looks like', artistic ability, and the relationship between participants and Western/Eurocentric powers (Betts 2013).

Ethnographic Insights: Staying Close to the Source

I grappled with these issues during the planning stages of the project and wondered if or how the methodology should be adapted within the context of our study. Ultimately I decided to adhere to the South African model because it was created with the experiences of people living with HIV/AIDS in mind, and is structured in a way that supports participants throughout the intense psycho-social and embodied body mapping experience. The therapeutic principles and practices are the heart of the methodology and what ensures that participants—irrespective of their life experiences or cultural identities—feel welcome, respected for who they are, and most importantly: safe. This is not to say that the methodology cannot be adapted to focus on a particular population or set of issues that diverge from the original focus, it can and has been (see Gastaldo et al. 2012⁵ and Lu and Yuen 2012). The point is that without the therapeutic pieces the transformative, radical, and critical consciousness potential of body mapping is significantly diminished and the cultural context in which the method was created must be acknowledged.

In our project, discussions about the cultural origins and uses of the methodology opened each workshop, and it was made clear to participants that their diverse lived experiences, pleasant and difficult, male and female, straight and gay, were respected and open for creative expression in the maps as they wished. Setting the stage mindfully and with respect helped the participants feel comfortable to share their life experiences and challenges, including those related to *cultural identity, sexuality, addictions*, and trauma. Although these issues are not featured in the 'Living with X' guide, nor are they explored in any depth in the current body mapping literature, they are keystone issues in the lives of our participants and making room for them within the story of this project is important. Following a discussion of these issues, I explore six 'real' or on-the-ground issues to consider when doing body mapping research, which may be of value to researchers and community groups who want to integrate the methodology into their work with similarly vulnerable and complex populations.

Culture

The cultural diversity of our participants is striking for a relatively small group of eleven people, with five women identifying as Indigenous, one woman as Chinese, one man as Black, one man as mixed race, and three men as White. Culture is represented in complex ways on the maps and for a number of participants, it is something they struggle with because they were not encouraged to embrace being unique or 'different' from an early age:

The one part that was kind of revealing for me, which I still sort of struggle with...being mixed race. Choosing that dark brown... was me embracing the fact that I am mixed race... My mother taught me and my sisters from a young age, which has caused some mental anguish and emotional damage, that having darker skin was a bad thing... So it can be a real struggle to push through that (Nolan).

⁵While this is one of the best adaptations of the South African methodology, this team does not cite Solomon (2007), Morgan and The Bambanani Women's Group (2003) work or mention anything about the cultural context in which the approach originated.

The women represented issues related to culture more overtly and more often than the men, especially the Indigenous participants for whom reconnecting with their traditional knowledge, healing practices are integral aspects of life. This is reflected in Sue's description of the symbols on her map, which are intimately connected with the healing journey she is on in partnership with various people and natural forces:

Those hands represent the ocean, the forest and the brown of Mother Earth....The four colours of the Medicine Wheel. So that is my medicine. I couldn't have got anywhere without the help of everyone else, so that's why I want everybody on my Map, because a journey is never taken alone. And that's why I wanted different handprints of everybody. This is the Ocean. Mother Earth. The Forest. The Sky. And the Medicine Wheel.

Several of the cultural references that surfaced during the mapping process were subtle and would not be easily identified without sufficient knowledge of the colonial process. An example of this is the white feet that stretch across Tarah's map that signify her experiences as part of the '60s Scoop', when some sixteen thousand Indigenous children were taken from their families and placed in White foster homes. Similarly, the white splatters of paint on sections of Isabel's map reflect her understanding of HIV/AIDS as a disease associated with colonial contact; a 'white man's disease'. Some of the women's historical experiences and on-going traumas related to the colonial process were not featured on their maps⁶ and emerged during informal discussions in the workshop. This is revealed in an exchange between Sue and Tarah that I recorded in my fieldnotes, which illuminates some of the hidden stories related to the colonization of the body:

Tarah and Sue were talking about their scars from various surgeries and births, and Tarah (who never again or before mentioned anything about children) said that she had a son before she had her tubes tied at the age of nineteen. I wondered about that and thought of one of the horrible legacies relating to the colonization of Indigenous women's bodies, the widespread forced or highly coercive practice of sterilization that took place until far more recently than most of us think.⁷ Why did Tarah have her tubes tied at the age of nineteen? If she was born in the late 60s that would have been in the late 1980s—two decades after the 60s scoop (Fieldnotes, May 3, 2012).

This next fieldnotes excerpt captures the powerful ways that cultural identity and practices were brought into the body mapping process to aid in healing processes between the participants:

It was cool to see Sue bring her sacred container today, which had different kinds of sage (including buffalo sage, which is for women because it's stronger), sweetgrass, and her smudging shell and stand. I inquired yesterday if it was ok for us to smudge because some of them had asked about it. The folks at [the location of the workshop] said it was ok and

⁶Which may be because of the belief that it is inappropriate to associate harmful/negative behaviours with Indigenous symbols, knowledge, and practices. Tarah shared an example of this when she said that she did not want to put up any Indigenous art in her apartment when she was doing 'bad' things (i.e. drug use) because it is disrespectful.

⁷See Stote (2015).

although Sue brought these items with her, we didn't smudge and there wasn't really any discussion about doing it. Around lunch time I saw her show Georgia how to tear off a chunk of the braided sweetgrass, which she then put in a small square of red fabric with some other things, tied it up, and presented it to her. I didn't see her do that with anyone else and I wondered, given how close Georgia's struggles are and how often she sheds tears, if Sue sees that too and is giving her some good medicines (Fieldnotes, May 6, 2012).

Sexuality

Sexuality is something that emerged primarily among the men and was connected to issues that inform who they are as gay men and learning to accept themselves. Nolan shared distressing early life experiences with religion and homophobia and how he is learning to find a new belief system that more closely aligns with who he is:

I had a religious upbringing and I was taught that being gay is wrong, that you're a bad person if you're gay...I was always very conflicted and not really knowing...I was told I was a bad person because I didn't really want to do what other boys were doing... Narcotics Anonymous has been teaching me that I can come up with a new Higher Power, one that loves me and accepts me for me...You know?

Andrew discussed how sexuality was linked with addictions and his search to find validating meaning in life, a painful process that he documented with courage and explosive colour:

The joining parts are the crotch, the heart, which is the "feel" part...I remember going to the first meeting and thinking: 'What the fuck! How do I stop?"...I needed to make a journey from my head, down to my heart. And that's where I'm living now. Mitigating that journey... That crotch! Where there's all that colour and I spent so much time trying to connect that to feeling...I needed to address it and to give it the weight it deserved!

He went on to talk about attending his first Gay Pride celebration and referred to the large red ribbon that he placed in a prime spot on his map, which symbolizes who he is: "I'm going this year for the 1st time...start small!... The red ribbon is not just about my HIV diagnosis. It's about my homosexuality, my lifestyle... it's about saying: "This is who I am', whatever that might be." Evan made reference to his sexuality and identity as a gay man, also featured in a prominent place on his map, describing the symbols he selected in the following way, "On my head is ... the Gay Rainbow...He's a Circle of Life."

Addictions

All of our participants have struggled with addiction issues and while most are getting support or have been in treatment, some still use hard drugs and/or alcohol. Addictions are often understood in the biomedical context as a disease rooted in

family history or as the product of individual behaviours and decisions (Pauly et al. 2015; Reinarman 2005). Developing a deep need for drugs occurs within diverse socio-economic, racial, sexual, and gendered contexts, some of which are similar across marginalized groups and some of which are unique to each individual's life. Bringing this situated understanding of addictions into our workshop (i.e. at the outset when discussing issues related to emotional safety) let our participants know that we did not, *in any way*, judge them because of their past or present experiences with substances and including these life events/periods (or not) on their maps was entirely up to them.

Generally speaking, the men were closer to their addictions, referring to active drug use or having recently gone through drug treatment programs, than the women and that may explain why they discussed this issue more often. Several men spoke about using drugs to deal with traumatic life events and situations beyond their control, and for Nolan thinking about how to represent his addictions was challenging:

My drug addiction... It's been a hard one for me to give up.... It's what I knew and it was my source of comfort and familiarity, you know, for something unknown...I didn't have any tools for dealing with life...I didn't even colour in all the stuff in the corner because it is very one-dimensional. You know? My using.

Luke also talked about using drugs as a way to organize and cope with life, a strategy that sometimes generated its own hardships: "The drugs and the bad things that happened when I was on it... and the stress from it...I became very good at putting the problems out of my head...I could somehow shut it off for the time being." Andrew debated about including addictions on his body map but ultimately decided to because of the important, albeit painful, role they have played in his life and healing journey: "I did hesitate putting that needle in there....But, it's my truth. It's my reality. And it's something that I can't be ashamed of, nor can I forget. It is part of my journey and it's part of what gets me to where I am today."

Some of the women in our study also discussed addictions experiences, which seemed to bring up feelings of regret as well as shame or embarrassment. As Georgia said when talking about some of the more difficult aspects of the body mapping experience, "Our addictions and I guess the scar on the body. That was pretty hard for me." Tarah also identified her past drug use, specifically the marks left on her body from using intravenous needles, as a very challenging aspect of the mapping:

Tarah said to Tricia that she couldn't put drugs on her map, maybe because that was too negative or because she felt that the maps should look only pretty and nice. She chose instead to do a rainbow, but one that was sideways. She explained that she drew it like this not because there wasn't room to do it the "right" way, but because it captured her feelings of being a bit off centered with respect to all the complexities [of her life], which she said are represented in the layers of colours in her rainbow. She repeated that she is complex and the colours represent that (Fieldnotes, May 5, 2012).

During the course of the workshop she was able to move beyond feeling embarrassed, a powerful transition to make: "I was very embarrassed about my skin and how I was going to fill up those marks and stuff like that...I got a chance to get off needles... I'm pretty self-conscious about my body, but not so much anymore because I don't have a reason to be."

Trauma

Trauma is a complex phenomenon that can stem from a singular tragic event or a series of on-going life conditions characterized by neglect, betrayal, and violence at the interpersonal, social, and systemic levels. The ways it is expressed are equally varied and some survivors go through profound memory loss and block experiences out, while others are triggered and pulled back into different disturbing events on a regular basis. This often happens when the initial experiences are not treated and similarly negative or violent events are experienced repeatedly (Freyd 1996). Going through trauma can lead to various outcomes and coping mechanisms, including addictions, homelessness, unemployment, self-doubt, and deep-seated mistrust of people and 'the system'. These issues are present in the lives of the women and men in our study, however, the ways they were represented and expressed are unique. The women talked about trauma regularly and in specific ways, often using the word 'trauma' itself and actively reflecting upon their pasts, whereas the men tended to discuss traumatic issues in a less overt way and often with reference to the different contexts in which it occurred (i.e. addictions, sexuality, culture) versus the events themselves.

Some women drew attention to how the maps reveal and made them revisit their difficult histories, including Tarah who questioned how present she was at certain points: "There's a lot of history in it... I've sort of put the history away as being It's like, 'I know where I come from! I'm the one that was there!' But really, was I? I wasn't really there." Rayna focused on the therapeutic value of revisiting these experiences: "After I did this, like a lot of things come back up, you know? I realize a lot of consequences, a lot of things that we deal with the decision you make... That's how I learn from this....This taught me so much." Others discussed trauma in relation to the body mapping process itself, including Sue who appreciated the supports built into the process: "I liked how the tough one [when HIV is introduced] was the third day in. Because, if we'd done it the first or second day, I think it would have been too traumatic. You didn't have the foundation good enough." Isabel also discussed how difficult the body mapping can be, and stressed the importance of having facilitators that generate trusting relationships with participants: "To allow somebody like myself to do stuff that's really personal and really damaging ... It's really personal...You don't just trust...And if I didn't like you guys, I wouldn't have been there...You guys are very good."

When discussing their experiences with trauma the men, like Evan, mentioned dealing with things like post-traumatic stress disorder and seeking an escape from life's hardships. Referring to the image of the airplane on his map, he said: "Just away... Yeah, it just signifies, I guess, an escape." Andrew provided a richly

detailed account of the life factors that caused him much pain and made him question himself and the familial hand dealt to him:

I think my life was lived in a lot of questioning 'why me'? Basically... why was I born into this Black family? ...Why would God do this to me? ...Why don't people behave the way I want them to?...There's a lot of questions around religion, around emotion. I was putting them out there and I wasn't getting an answer back.

'Real' Time and Space: Insights to Consider When Doing Body Mapping Work

Being a part of the two workshops taught me a great deal about the key issues that informed the project (i.e. HIV, addictions, health, gender, the body), the complex and unique life experiences of the women and men in the study, and how the different groups responded to body mapping. In many ways, these data could be considered a companion piece to the 'Living with X' document developed by Solomon (2007), as it also features insights that span the experiential arc of the methodological process. Although these insights directly relate to our participants' lives and how they went through the process, they may be of significant value to others who wish to incorporate body mapping into their research or community programs.

Preparatory Considerations

When organizing a workshop, one of the most important things to consider is the comfort level of the participants. While it is not possible to anticipate all of the interpersonal and individual factors that impact the experiences of each participant, knowing as much as possible about each person and existing relationships participants may have with one another is helpful. Both sets of participants indicated that knowing some of the other people in the workshop helped considerably, especially when deciding whether or not to take part, and that their familiarity provided support during the process. As Tarah said: "I only went there because Sue thought it was a good idea, and I knew Sue from the Community Class we go to. So I figured, she's very valuable with her resourcing, information and her experience, and she might know what she's talking about."

The inclusion of at least one support staff from an agency with whom participants are familiar is also integral to providing a supportive experience: "Someone who was removed from what we were doing and who was there to just be a support. That was really helpful for me" (Nolan). Having more than one facilitator is also useful, given that each participant may not know or gel with the main facilitator leading the process: "If there is only one person facilitating and right away you don't have a rapport, or you don't like them, who do you go to?" (Sue). The women indicated that they would have liked to know more about body mapping before they arrived at the workshop, as several were a little confused and daunted because it was an arts-based activity. Knowing that preliminary information about the body mapping process could be helpful, on Day One of the men's workshop I showed them the brochures we made of the women's maps. In retrospect, I would not do this again because the men who saw these images compared them to their own maps, which may have unduly influenced their own artistic creation and workshop experience. Discerning how to provide participants with sufficient information prior to the workshops is ultimately up to each researcher/community team, however, from our experiences describing the process versus providing 'actual' examples may be useful.

In Situ Considerations

Many emotional issues can arise for participants during the workshops, including feeling anxious, having difficulties expressing complex or traumatic experiences artistically and, for those with HIV/AIDS, being at different places in their HIV journeys. Given the strong connections between trauma and the body, the potential for body mapping to reanimate certain kinds of painful experiences is important to consider. There is no 'magic' way to address these issues, but acknowledging them before the workshops and in an on-going way reflects a sense of mindfulness and reassures participants that it is 'OK' to get upset. In addition, discussing different decompression or break activities (i.e. taking a time out, going for a walk with participants, talking things out in a safe space away from the workshop), and having on-hand information about crisis services or supports is critical.

Sometimes participants experience anxiety or trauma related to their fears of spending time with a group of people and being accepted by them, as Nolan said: "It was tough for me at times...Being in a closed space with a bunch of people, like my anxiety tends to go up and I get really fearful... I'm always afraid that people won't accept me." Tarah, who was unused to socializing with women, expressed concerns about being able to complete the workshop: "I'm not used to being around women. I didn't know if I would pull through it because ... I've always been around men". Participants who are not confident about using art to express themselves can feel insecure and compare their work to others':

I'm not an artist, I refuse to say that I am!... As soon as you go into an art situation, it's like I can't draw because I know there's people that know how to draw better...I can figure it out...However, there will be something silly in-between that makes me uncomfortable (Tarah).

Other participants struggled with using art to express themselves because the complexity of certain experiences are difficult to represent visually, which can cause them to simplify what ends up on their maps. As Luke said, "I'm not an artist. So

there's a lot of things... I don't know how to paint...So I stuck with mainly things I could draw.....I didn't put every detail because ... I don't want to look at it." Georgia share similar thoughts, "Memories and bringing up the past and regrets...If I wanted to put that down on the Body Map I wouldn't know how to do it."

Where participants are at in their HIV journey is another very important issue that can significantly impact the kinds of experiences participants have and what they include on their maps. For those who are newly diagnosed, just being in a room with other people with HIV can be overwhelming and they may be less connected in terms of support systems and health or social services. It is important to know these things before beginning a workshop, to ensure that the right kinds of support are provided during the process for each person taking part.

Compassionate, Patient Facilitators Who Work Well Together

Having facilitators and other support people on hand who know the logistics of body mapping and have experience working with marginalized populations and/or sensitive issues is critically important. The use of humour can also go a long way to helping people feel comfortable, and it is something the participants appreciated: "They were just outstanding! The help and the encouragement, and their positive influence... They used a lot of humour and they were so compassionate" (Sue). Having facilitators who work well together or complement one another was also raised as a positive aspect of the experience: "I think it's nice... I think you two [myself and Tricia] worked really well together. Because you balance each other out in different ways" (Nolan). Knowing when and how to intervene during workshops is unique to each participant group, team of facilitators, and the issues being explored. From my experience, it is a fine balance between letting participants work and in some cases struggle a bit on their own and being there for them in ways that are respectful of their individual experiences/needs. This nuanced approach is something that Andrew observed as being helpful for him and the other participants:

I close my eyes and I smile, because I think, in terms of facilitation...It was beautiful, yeah? Like, what you guys brought to it was, you gave people space. When I came out of my bubble, I noticed that you were all very aware of each individual, and where they were and what their bubble looked like... And accepting that different people were at different places...I think it was really positive.

Recognizing How Much It Takes for Participants to Show up and to Finish

Completing the workshops is not something highlighted in other body mapping studies, however, it surfaced repeatedly among our participants as something they were proud of. The women and men in our study have had life experiences that predispose them to being and feeling vulnerable because of addictions, HIV stigma, early and on-going trauma, and marginalized sexual identities. Add to these experiences the emotional difficulties associated with body mapping, and it makes sense that our participants cited the completion of the workshops as something very significant: "I've accomplished this!...This is something that I accomplished. Something that I did! And I'm proud of myself for that" (Nolan). For some, the sense of accomplishment is couched in temporal terms and folded into their reflections on how far they have come: "If you'd asked me that maybe two years ago, I probably wouldn't have come, because I was afraid to...I didn't know if I was going to be accepted" (Sue).

Others were proud of themselves because they realized that they can succeed in something new: "I'm just really proud of what I did... I mean, you know, just doing it. I got asked to come and do it, and I said 'Sure, no problem'...and just got in there... Just, raise the bar a little bit!" (Isabel). The fact that doing the body mapping, including the everyday logistics of getting up in the morning, is hard was also acknowledged: "For me, just to finish it, just to finish it got me going so far already..... It was deep. It was hard" (Rayna); "Getting up in the morning was really strange for me...How hard it was!" (Luke). Finding ways to celebrate their courage and commitment during the process is important.

Follow the Therapeutic Format

Morgan and The Bambanani Women's Group (2003) and Solomon's (2007) approach was developed as a tool for community mobilization and healing, and built into the process are several key therapeutic practices, including establishing safety and stability amongst the participants and facilitators, ensuring that each day is not overly full with activities, and that there is ample space allotted for breaks if people need to stop and/or return to a specific set of exercises. As discussed in Chapter One, the workshops take place over four days, each day opens and ends with a 'check-in', the exercises unfold from more general to more specific, the HIV-specific questions emerge on Day Three, and there is an informal art show that concludes the workshop. During the art show, the facilitators hang the maps on a wall and participants sit in front of their map and are provided feedback from the others taking part, which are recorded on pieces of paper that each participant is given to take home. I also purchased small gifts and cards for each participant that reflected their unique characteristics or interests (i.e. favourite animals, colours, sayings), which was greatly appreciated. While adhering to all of these practices may not be possible, for financial or time reasons, staying as close as possible to them is something to aim for because they create a supportive and respectful experience for participants, facilitators, and others involved.

Four days can be a long time to remain engaged in and enthusiastic about body mapping, and some participants questioned the duration of the workshop: "At first I

thought you guys were crazy because, I thought, how much can you do in four days?! But from beginning to end, it needed to be done. Like, it was a good process" (Sue). For many participants this amount of time is needed to foster trust among themselves and with the facilitators: "I was guarded the first day, second day too. Third and fourth... no" (Isabel). The daily check-ins were also valued by participants: "I found it like closure...We got to talk about it, and you know, people cried. The support was there...It was 'Okay, we're finished with it this day...We started as a group, you have to finish as a circle, too (Sue). Sticking to the format of the workshop was identified as helpful to keep them on track, as Isabel shared: "It was very well explained...I can't work without structure, I need structure in my life...I love when it's '1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6'....'cause you know what you're doing!"

At certain points in the workshops, the final 'product' is not always clear and many participants expressed doubt about their work and some questioned the different exercises. One of the ways our team instilled confidence and trust in the process is by using the phrase 'Trust the Process', which Andrew identified found very reassuring:

I think just being really honest, and saying why it is, and what it relates to for me... when I went to Rehab, one of the signs is... it said "Trust the Process." It was a massive painting... If I hadn't gone through that, this would have been different... If somebody says: 'Trust the Process' I get it. It's built on an experience. It's built on something.

The informal art show was described by participants as one of the most enjoyable aspects of the body mapping experience,⁸ and all of the women and most of the men saved the pieces of paper with our comments on their work that were given to them during the event. The meanings attached to and symbolized by these pieces of paper are significant and many participants kept them in important places: "I still have them on my dresser. I look at them every once in a while" (Georgia); "Yeah! I have that on my table still. That was cool!...That was a nice compliment. It was a compliment to everybody" (Tarah). Abby's friend was going to buy a picture frame for her to put them in: "Lloyd is putting them in a frame for me!" When discussing why they saved these souvenirs of the workshop several participants remarked that they were useful to reflect on when they were feeling down, thus revealing their lasting therapeutic effects:

All those pieces of paper, I take them out and read them whenever I'm feeling, like, down, or whenever things just aren't going right, I just pull those out, and I like that. It's because it's somebody else's perspective of you. A lot of time we don't praise ourselves or thank ourselves for things, and that way you can sort of do that by reading them (Sue).

Two of the men expressed similar sentiments about the healing quality of these pieces of paper: "I put them in a place where I can go...when I'm having a rough day, I can pull them out and you know.... 'Okay, this is what other people see in

⁸Although it can be a little nerve wracking for some because they are not used to being the centre of attention or receiving feedback in this way, which is why Ted referred to it as the 'hot seat!'.

me'" (Nolan); "I read them over the phone to [friend] and she thought they were really great and she said, 'If you're ever feeling down or whatever' I should read them!" (Evan).

Innovative Approaches to Knowledge Translation

Determining how to disseminate the body mapping findings can be a challenge given their large size (6 ft. x 4 ft.), deeply personal content, and because arts-based research is not always commensurate with traditional ideas about knowledge translation as a set of practices designed to influence decision-making or policy development (Lafrenière et al. 2012). We approached knowledge translation as part of the process and our participants often started these conversations with questions like: "Where is this going to go?" and "What is this for, again?" During both workshops we indicated that where, when, and how (if at all) the study findings will be shared are decisions that we should make together. When discussing dissemination options, we began with suggesting more formal academic dissemination practices like conference presentations and journal articles, which did not raise any red flags or terribly interesting discussions. Ultimately, our decisions about what to 'do' with these findings emerged many months after the workshops were completed, during which time we let our ideas percolate and kept in touch with many of the participants and agency/project staff involved.

Our knowledge translation activities with the women were enhanced by the treatment workshop they requested during the body mapping, which helped them learn more about the HIV medications they were taking. This gave us additional opportunities to discuss dissemination ideas over a longer period of time than was the case with the men. Along with telephone calls and emails, we arranged lunches and other informal events to meet with them. The following quotation from Isabel captures how powerful something as 'small' as a lunch in a cool spot, versus a soup kitchen or low budget restaurant she may be used to, is to fostering connections between the women as well as her confidence and pride in herself:

You know, going to these little luncheons and all this with them, seeing them – it's really good for us. For me, it does something for my insecurities, you know? As a woman? Like, we all can go to a fancy ball.... A restaurant that's cool! Like it's in the paper! ...And talk like we're doing a business meeting. It's awesome!

Additional strategies with the women included an art show and dinner in the Downtown Eastside area of Vancouver (where many participants live, access services, and spend time), which was attended by most of the women and their family and friends. This was a special way to wrap up the project and we had t-shirts, brochures featuring the maps and one-page stories, and postcards made for the event. We also continued to gather their insights about where they might like the data to go, which led to the installation of smaller copies of their maps at the host restaurant (for a week after the wrap-up event), a women's only pharmacy, and a clinic where many of the women access health care services. While they supported these dissemination approaches, the prospect of having their experiences out there for all to see also made them a little nervous; which is something facilitators need to be mindful of. As Rayna said, it is about "Letting other people know our lives."

The men talked about different places or events to showcase their maps, however, they seemed somewhat less enthusiastic about these discussions than the women. Two or three of the participants were really interested in seeing the maps displayed in their work environment, which focuses on HIV and community-based treatment and advocacy. Along with making brochures like the ones we put together for the women, the men's maps were displayed at a local HIV organization's Annual General Meeting and an event commemorating International AIDS Day. Two of the participants, including Andrew, have their maps hanging in their offices at work he begins his training exercises with a discussion about his map and the transformative mapping experience.

Discussion

This chapter explored the issue of cultural appropriation in relation to the South African methodological approach created by Solomon and Morgan, which is the framework used most often by researchers, practitioners, and community agencies in body mapping research. I began by demonstrating the key processes through which appropriation works in this instance, namely the selective borrowing of certain tenets of the method and the lack of acknowledgement of the cultural context in which the method originated. The tendency for many researchers to disregard or downplay the therapeutic principles and practices, in particular, was identified as problematic because they are integral to the method and ensuring participants' safety during body mapping. As demonstrated in the Southern Africa example, ignoring these practices can have devastating consequences for participants⁹ who may be re-traumatized as a result. Reflecting on this situation and others in which researchers and community groups were taking what they wanted from the methodology, Solomon and others removed the 'Living with X' guideline from the Internet to avoid further appropriation of their method and prevent harm to prospective participants stemming from this misuse. These events were disturbing for the method's creators, whose culturally distinctive knowledge and aesthetic healing practices were markedly transformed through their consumption and

⁹As well as the facilitator, who was not adequately trained to know what kinds of issues to expect or how to cope with them.

objectification in the global cultural economy, all of which are hallmarks of cultural appropriation (Hahn 2008; Haig-Brown 2010; Root 1996; Ziff and Rao 1997).

Another example of the appropriation of body mapping was discussed in relation to a project I was invited to participate in that was designed, ostensibly, with the approach in mind. However, the study lead seemed to have limited knowledge of or interest in the cultural context of body mapping and the attendant therapeutic principles or practices. My role was that of conveyer of condensed or commodified knowledge, as I was called upon to "do that part of the project" and freely give my insights to a person who seemed to have limited knowledge about it. This experience was unsettling because of the disregard for the cultural context and therapeutic principles inherent to the original method, but also because I felt as though I was being co-opted in the selective consumption and misuse of the methodology.

Taken together, these examples reveal the complex and multi-directional flows of knowledge and power that undergird the appropriation process relative to body mapping, which travel not only from 'South' to 'North' but within and across different global regions. These flows are directed by many factors, including increased access to information about body mapping via the Internet, the push for methodological innovation in many research and community settings, and the enduring role of the body as signifier of our uncertain cultural times. Along with understanding how these processes have emerged, it is important to think about how they might be resisted. The key factor in this regard is attentiveness to context, as Ziff and Rao (1997: 13) clearly state: 'Context counts'. This does not mean that each body mapping project need be about HIV and involve women, or that all studies need to follow the 'Living with X' guidelines word-for-word. It means that the setting in which the method originated must be acknowledged, along with how the approach is adapted to meet the study aims and ensure the well-being of the participants and others involved. These principles align with what Openjuru et al. (2015) call 'knowledge democracy', referring to the equitable evaluation and consideration of indigenous knowledge and practices that are taken up 'locally' and internationally through different research, funding, and development agendas.

The second part of this chapter featured an in-depth discussion of four issues that emerged as central to our participants' lives and their body mapping experience itself, those of culture, sexuality, addictions, trauma. Although these issues are not featured in the South African methodology, per se, I chose to explore them it honours the totality of our participants' lived experience; and these insights may be valuable for others who wish to use body mapping with similarly complex populations. I also discussed the most important 'on-the-ground' issues to consider when doing body mapping, which span the experiential arc of the process from the pre-workshop stage through to knowledge translation activities. These sections are threaded with insights that reflect a deep commitment to mindful and therapeutic practice which are, as reflected in the words and creative expressions of the women and men in this study, the most important aspects of the body mapping praxis. To be safe, cared for, and given the time to 'just be' with one's life is among the most powerful gift and experience to share.

References

- Acoose, J. 1995. Iskwewak-Kah'Ki Yaw Ni Wahkomakanak: Neither Indian Princesses Nor Easy Squaws. Toronto: Women's Press.
- Appadurai, A. 1990. Disjuncture and difference in the global political economy. In *Global culture:* nationalism, globalization and modernity, ed. M. Featherstone, 295–310. London: SAGE.
- Arewa, O. 2016. Cultural Appropriation: When 'Borrowing' Becomes Exploitation, World Post (June 21). Retrieved August 4, http://www.huffingtonpost.com/the-conversation-africa/ cultural-appropriation-wh_b_10585184.html.
- Batiste, M. 2016. Research ethics for protecting indigenous knowledge and heritage: institutional and research responsibilities. In *Ethical Futures in qualitative research: decolonizing the politics of knowledge*, ed. N. Denzin, and M. Giardina, 111–132. New York: Routledge.
- Betts, D. 2013. A review of the principles for culturally appropriate art therapy assessment tools. Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association 30(3): 98–106.
- Braidotti, R. 2011. Nomadic subjects: embodiment and sexual difference in contemporary feminist theory, 2nd ed. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Butler, J. 1990. Gender trouble: feminism and the subversion of identity. New York: Routledge.
- Coombe, R. 1997. The properties of culture and the possession of identity: postcolonial struggle and the legal imagination. In *Borrowed power: essays on cultural appropriation*, ed. B. Ziff, and P. Rao, 74–96. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Csordas, T. (ed.). 1994. Embodiment and experience: the existential ground of culture and self. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Forsyth, J. 2016. Team Canada's Olympic Outfits Are A Problem, Huffington Post (April 1). Retrieved August 4, http://www.huffingtonpost.ca/janice-forsyth/team-canada-rio-olympicsoutfit_b_9582570.html.
- Freyd, J. 1996. *Betrayal Trauma: the logic of forgetting childhood abuse*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Gastaldo, D., Carrasco, C., and Magalhaes, L. 2012. Entangled in a Web of Exploitation and Solidarity. Retrieved from http://www.migrationealth.ca/undocumented-workers-ontario/ summary-findings.
- Hahn, H. 2008. Diffusionism, appropriation, and globalization: some remarks on current debates in anthropology. *Anthropos* 103: 191–202.
- Haig-Brown, C. 2010. Indigenous thought, appropriation, and non-aboriginal people. Canadian Journal of Education 33(4): 925–950.
- Kapitan, L. 2015. Social action in practice: shifting the ethnocentric lens in cross-cultural art therapy encounters. Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association 32(2): 104– 111.
- Lafrenière, D., T. Hurlimann, V. Menuz, and B. Godard. 2012. Health research: ethics and the use of arts-based methods in knowledge translation processes. *International Journal of the Creative Arts in Interdisciplinary Practice*, 12 (Winter Supplementary Issue): 26.
- Lu, L., and F. Yuen. 2012. Journey women: art therapy in a decolonizing framework of practice. *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 39: 192–200.
- Lupton, D. 1995. *The imperative of health: public health and the regulated body*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Madsen, L. (ed.). 2016. The Routledge companion to native American literature. New York: Routledge.
- Martin, E. 1994. Flexible bodies: the role of immunity in american culture from the days of polio to the time of AIDS. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Morgan, J., and The Bambanani Women's Group. 2003. *Long life: positive HIV stories*. Sydney, AU: Double Story Books.
- Oliver, S. 2010. Trauma, bodies, and performance art: Towards an embodied ethics of seeing. *Continuum: Journal of Media & Cultural Studies* 24(10): 119–129.

- Openjuru, G., N. Jaitli, R. Tandon, and B. Hall. 2015. Despite knowledge democracy and community-based action research: Voices from the global south and excluded north still missing. *Action Research* 13(3): 219–229.
- Pauly, B., J. McCall, A. Browne, J. Parker, and A. Mollison. 2015. Toward cultural safety. Advances in Nursing Science 38: 121–135.
- Pert, P., E. Ens, J. Locke, P. Clarke, J. Packer, and G. Turpin. 2015. An online spatial database of Australian indigenous biocultural knowledge for contemporary natural and cultural resource management. *Science of the Total Environment* 534(15): 110–121.
- Pickles, K., and M. Rutherdale (eds.). 2005. *Contact zones: aboriginal & settler women in Canada's colonial past*. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- Reinarman, C. 2005. Addiction as accomplishment: the discursive construction of disease. *Addiction Research & Theory* 13: 307–320.
- Riley, A., and K. Carpenter. 2015. Owning red: a theory of Indian (cultural) appropriation. *Texas Law Review* 94: 860–931.
- Rogers, J. 2016. Art, appropriation and the damaging economic effect on Indigenous artists. Interview on Canadian Broadcasting Corporation's Show Unreserved, hosted by Rosanna Deerchild (July 17). http://www.cbc.ca/radio/unreserved/appreciating-culture-treaty-paymentsproblematic-colouring-books-and-getting-back-to-the-land-1.3675693/art-appropriation-andthe-damaging-economic-effect-on-indigenous-artists-1.3677636. Accessed August 4.
- Root, D. 1996. *Cannibal culture: art, appropriation & the commodification of difference.* Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Rosser, S. 2001. Now the body is everywhere. *National Women's Studies Association Journal* 13 (2): 142–148.
- Schildrick, M. 2015. "Why should our bodies end at the skin?": embodiment, boundaries, and somatechnics. *Hypatia* 30(1): 13–28.
- Solomon, J. 2007. "Living with X": a body mapping journey in the time of AIDS. Johannesburg: REPSSI.
- Stote, K. 2015. An act of genocide: colonialism and the sterilization of indigenous women. Halifax: Fernwood Publishing.
- Tunstall, E. 2013. Decolonizing design innovation: design anthropology, critical anthropology and indigenous knowledge. In *Design anthropology: theory and practice*, ed. W. Gunn, T. Otto, and C. Smith, 232–250. London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Ziff, B., and P. Rao. 1997. Introduction to cultural appropriation: a framework for analysis. In *Borrowed power: essays on cultural appropriation*, ed. B. Ziff, and P. Rao, 1–27. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.

Index

A

Activism, 66, 67 Addictions, 89, 91–93, 97, 101 Adherence, 23–25, 28, 29, 36, 37 Analysis, 41–43, 45, 47–49, 54, 59–61 Arts-based research, 2, 5–7

B

Body mapping methodology, 3–5, 8, 25–28, 31–32, 36, 37, 43, 50, 52, 53, 66, 68, 75–76, 78–81, 86–88, 101

С

Communication patterns, 50, 60 Critical theory, 42 Cultural appropriation, 85–88, 100, 101 Culture, 85, 89, 93, 101

Е

Embodiment, 44, 46, 47, 54, 59, 60 Ethical issues, 2, 5, 7

G

Gender, 23–25, 28, 29, 36, 43, 45, 49–51, 59, 60

H

Healing, 66, 68, 69, 71, 77, 78 HIV/AIDS, 3, 4, 45, 46, 48–50, 54, 56 HIV/AIDS research, 74, 75, 81 HIV medications, 23, 24, 37, 44, 54, 56–59

K Knowledge translation, 29

L Lived experience, 30

М

Marginalized populations, 7

Q

Qualitative research, 23

R

Reflexivity, 9 Research experience, 65, 76, 79

S

Self-transformative, 70–72 Sexuality, 86, 89, 91, 93, 101 South Africa, 85, 86, 88, 100, 101

Т

Therapeutic, 65, 66, 68, 70, 74, 77, 80, 81 Therapeutic principles, 86–89, 100, 101 Transformative research, 65 Trauma, 89, 90, 93, 97, 101